



Fakultät für Medizin Institut für Virologie

Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B

Nina Böttinger

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Medizin der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Roland M. Schmid

Betreuerin: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Ulrike Protzer

Prüfer der Dissertation:

- 1. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Markus Gerhard
- 2. apl.Prof. Dr. Bettina Kempkes

Die Dissertation wurde am 24.01.2014 bei der Fakultät für Medizin der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Medizin am 14.05.2014 angenommen.

Table of contents

I ABSTRACT	5
II ABBREVIATIONS	7
1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 The Hepatitis B virus	10
1.1.1 Classification	
1.1.2 Particle structure	10
1.1.3 Genomic organization and structural proteins	12
1.1.4 Replication cycle	
1.1.5 Epidemiology of HBV infection	15
1.1.6 Pathogenesis of HBV infection	
1.2 The impact of the immune response on the course of HBV infection	19
1.2.1 Innate immune response	19
1.2.2 Adaptive immune response	19
1.3 Model systems for HBV infection	21
1.4 Prophylaxis and therapy of HBV infection	23
1.5 New therapeutic approaches	25
1.6 Redirection of cytotoxic T cells	26
1.6.1 Cytotoxic T cells	
1.6.2 T cell redirection with bispecific antibodies	27
1.6.3 T cell redirection by adoptive transfer of antigen-specific T cells	28
1.7 Strategies for T cell engraftment	
1.7.1 Expression of natural T cell receptors	30
1.7.2 Expression of chimeric antigen receptors (CARs)	
1.8 Development of a chimeric antigen receptor targeting HBsAg	33
1.9 Aim of this study	34
2 RESULTS	35
2.1 Cloning and evaluation of chimeric antigen recentors with TCR-like specificity	
2.1.1 Confirmation of specificity of TCR-like antibodies	
2.1.2 Cloning of single-chain variable fragments and chimeric antigen receptors	
2.2 Engraftment of primary human NK cells with the S-CAR and subsequent testing	40
2.3 Construction and evaluation of a stable retrovirus-producing cell line	43

2.4 Long-term survival and phenotypic changes of S-CAR T cells after adoptive transfer	46
2.4.1 S-CAR T cells can survive in the long term in vivo	46
2.4.2 At late time-points, S-CAR T cells fail to induce antiviral effects in vivo	49
2.4.3 Ex vivo restimulation of transferred S-CAR T cells	51
2.4.4 Maintenance of effector potential in spite of upregulation of the exhaustion marker PD-1	53
2.4.5 S-CAR surface expression is unstable in vivo and regulated by different mechanisms	56
2.4.6 S-CAR T cell inactivation in vivo does not occur due to methylation of the transgene	61
2.4.7 S-CAR T cells change their memory phenotype after adoptive transfer	64
2.4.8 Activation-induced cell death as an important mechanism for loss of S-CAR T cells in vivo	66
2.5 Characterization of donor cells derived from HBV-replicating mice	68
2.5.1 S-CAR T cells derived from HBV ⁺ donors do not show suppressed effector functions <i>in vitro</i>	68
2.5.2 In vivo, HBV ⁺ donor cells perform as well as cells derived from HBV ⁻ mice	70
2.6 Exclusion of severe side effects induced by S-CAR T cells upon adoptive transfer	72
2.7 Comparison of effector functions exerted by S-CAR T cells and vaccine-induced S-specific T cells	75
2.8 Summary: Fate of S-CAR T cells in vivo	78
3 DISCUSSION	79
3.1 HBV-specific TCR-like antibodies do not function in the CAR context	79
3.2 S-CAR grafted NK cells are non-applicable for adoptive immunotherapy	81
3.3 Long-term fate and phenotypic characterization of S-CAR T cells in vivo	83
3.3.1 S-CAR T cells can survive over long term <i>in vivo</i>	83
3.3.2 Antiviral effects in vivo are timely limited, although S-CAR T cells retain their effector potential	85
3.3.3 Exhaustion does not play a major role for S-CAR T cell dysfunction in vivo	86
3.3.4 S-CAR surface expression in unstable in vitro and in vivo	89
3.3.5 Transgene methylation is unlikely to occur in S-CAR T cells	91
3.3.6 S-CAR T cells change their memory phenotype in vivo over time	92
3.3.7 Contraction of the S-CAR T cell population due to induction of apoptosis	95
3.3.8 S-CAR T cells derived from HBVtg mice do not show impaired effector functions	96
3.4 S-CAR T cells do not induce severe side effects in HBVtg mice	97
3.5 S-CAR T cell effector functions are superior to those of vaccine-induced HBV-specific T cells	99
3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B	100
3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B	100
 3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B 4 MATERIAL AND METHODS 4.1 Material 	100 102 102
 3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B 4 MATERIAL AND METHODS 4.1 Material	100 102 102 102
 3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B 4 MATERIAL AND METHODS	100 102 102 102 103
 3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B 4 MATERIAL AND METHODS	100 102 102 102 103 104
 3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B 4 MATERIAL AND METHODS. 4.1 Material	100 102 102 103 104 106

4.1.6 Cell lines and bacteria	
4.1.7 Mouse lines	110
4.1.8 Enzymes	
4.1.9 Kits	
4.1.10 Technical equipment	
4.1.11 Plasmids	
4.1.12 Primer	
4.1.13 Software	
4.2 Methods	
4.2.1 Cell culture methods	
4.2.2 Preparation of primary cells for transduction	
4.2.3 Retroviral transduction	
4.2.4 Adoptive transfer experiments	
4.2.5 Flow cytometry	
4.2.6 Molecular biology	
4.2.7 ELISA	
4.2.8 Analysis of methylation patterns	
6 REFERENCES	
7 PUBLICATIONS AND MEETINGS	
7.1 Publications	141
7.2 Meetings	141
8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	

I Abstract

The human hepatitis B virus (HBV) is a small, enveloped, non-cytopathic DNA virus with a strong liver tropism. Infection with HBV can cause acute and chronic necroinflammatory disease, which in turn can lead to liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Approximately 2 billion people have been infected worldwide, and about 240 million are currently chronically infected, representing a major public health problem. The available antiviral therapies can control HBV replication, but do not lead to an elimination of the viral transcription template (covalently closed circular DNA; cccDNA) from infected hepatocytes, which is required for virus clearance. Thus, there is an urgent need for new approaches towards an effective therapy. Since a chronic course of infection is accompanied by a weak and oligoclonal T cell response, a possible immunotherapeutic approach could be the induction of an artificial T cell response by adoptively transferred receptor-modified T cells. The present study therefore dealt with the evaluation of different strategies for treatment of chronic HBV infection using adoptive cell transfer.

In the first part, chimeric antigen receptors derived from T cell receptor-like antibodies were constructed to combine the antigen-binding properties of a natural T cell receptor with the features of a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR). CARs mediate antigen binding via an antibody-derived domain, and can induce activation of the grafted T cell in an MHC- and coreceptor-independent way. However, the newly cloned CAR constructs were found to have lost their antigen specificity, which led to the exclusion of TCR-like CARs from further evaluations.

Our group has already constructed and evaluated a chimeric antigen receptor directed against the HBV surface proteins, named S-CAR, which enables T cells to kill HBV-infected cells. In the second part of this study, natural killer cells were tested for their ability to specifically eliminate HBV-replicating hepatocytes when equipped with the S-CAR. However, S-CAR grafted NK cells exhibited a strong unspecific killing and S-CAR expression did not lead to redirected lysis of HBV+ target cells, rendering NK cells inapplicable for this treatment approach. T cells, on the other hand, even if derived from HBV-transgenic mice worked very efficiently. The latter did not show compromised effector functions when grafted with the S-CAR and compared to HBV-naïve S-CAR T cells upon adoptive transfer, representing an important finding with regard to a future clinical application.

The ability of S-CAR grafted human and murine T cells to exert specific antiviral effector functions provided the rationale for the major part of this study, representing a thorough analysis of S-CAR T cells and their properties upon transfer into HBV-transgenic mice. It could be shown that S-CAR T cells can survive over long term *in vivo*, without the acquisition of a generally exhausted phenotype despite the tolerogenic influence of the hepatic

environment. Reduction of viral load, though, was found to be limited to the first one to two weeks post transfer, and contraction of the S-CAR T cell population due to induction of apoptosis was identified as a major reason. In addition, remaining T cells down-regulated surface-located S-CAR in a partially antigen-dependent way, which further explained the *in vivo* silencing of S-CAR T cells. Importantly, S-CAR T cells could be efficiently re-activated *ex vivo* even at late time points post transfer, demonstrating a possible rescue of effector functions. This and the fact that S-CAR T cells were found to change to a memory phenotype *in vivo* indicates the establishment of a long-lived T cell population that would be able to counteract recurrent viral replication in the setting of chronic infection. In the clinical setting, the dampening of S-CAR T cell responses could even be beneficial for the patient because it limits potential pathogenesis and ensures maintenance of liver integrity.

The direct comparison of S-CAR T cell effector functions with those of vaccine-induced HBVspecific T cells revealed that S-CAR T cells were superior in our model, since they induced hepatocyte killing in addition to the antiviral effects elicited by non-cytopathic mechanisms. Importantly, liver damage in recipient mice was only transient, and treated mice did not exhibit severe side effects upon S-CAR T cell transfer.

In summary, adoptive T cell therapy of chronic hepatitis B using a chimeric antigen receptor was analyzed in detail and important insights into the fate and phenotypic changes of S-CAR T cells *in vivo* were obtained, which represents a crucial step towards the successful clinical application of this approach in the future.

II Abbreviations

μm	Micrometer
μΜ	Micromolar
AA	Amino acid
Ab	Antibody
ALT	Alanine Aminotransferase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
BFA	Brefeldin A
bp	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
cccDNA	Covalently closed circular DNA
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
ctrl	Control
DC	Dendritic cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Desoxyribonucleosidtriphosphates
EBV	Epstein Barr virus
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
EMA	Ethidium monoazide
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FCS	Fetal calf serum
GMP	Good manufacturing practice
HBcAg	Hepatitis B core antigen
HBeAg	Hepatitis B e antigen
HBsAg	Hepatitis B surface antigen
HBV	Hepatitis B virus

HBVtg	Hepatitis B virus transgenic
НСС	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
НЅСТ	Hematopoietic stem cell transplant
ICS	Intracellular cytokine staining
IFN	Interferon
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IPTG	Isopropyl-β-D-thiogalactopyranosid
kb	Kilo base
kD	Kilo Dalton
LAL	Liver associated lymphocytes
LAMP-1	Lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LTR	Long terminal repeat
МСР	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MFI	Mean fluorescence intensity
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MVA	Modified vaccinia virus Ankara
NaPyr	Sodium pyruvate
NEAA	Non-essential amino acids
NK cell	Natural killer cell
nm	Nanometer
nM	Nanomolar
NTCP	Na+-taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide
ORF	Open reading frame
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-1	Programmed Death-1
Pen/Strep	Penicillin / Streptamycin
pgRNA	pregenomic RNA

polyA	Polyadenylation
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
qPCR	Quantitative PCR
rcDNA	Relaxed circular DNA
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
scFv	single chain variable fragment
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
ТАА	Tumor associated antigen
TCR	T cell receptor
tEGFR	Truncated epidermal growth factor receptor
Tim-3	T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-3
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
w/o	Without
WHV	Woodchuck hepatitis virus
WMHBV	Woolly monkey hepatitis B virus

1 Introduction

1.1 The Hepatitis B virus

1.1.1 Classification

The hepatitis B virus (HBV) was first described in 1970 (Dane et al., 1970) and is the prototype member of the hepadnavirus family. *Hepadnaviridae* are enveloped, double-stranded DNA viruses that can cause liver infections in humans and animals. They can be divided into the genera *orthohepadnaviridae* and *avihepadnaviridae*, depending on their ability to infect mammals or birds. Important characteristics of hepadnaviruses are their narrow host range, their high tropism for hepatocytes and the replication through an RNA intermediate involving a reverse transcription step. Hepatitis B virus is classified into eight genotypes A-H that differ in their sequence by 8% or more. Furthermore numerous subgenotypes have been described that differ by at least 4% (Schaefer et al., 2007).

1.1.2 Particle structure



Figure 1.1 Structure of HBV particles. A) Structure of a Dane particle. The lipid envelope contains the small, middle and large (S-, M-, L-) surface proteins. The nucleocapsid is formed by the core antigen (HBcAg) and contains the partially double-stranded (p-ds) relaxed circular genome of about 3.2kb. Associated with the genome is the viral polymerase at the 5' end of the minus strand, as well as a primer domain at the 5' end of the plus strand. **B)** Structure of subviral particles. SVPs can be spherical (left) or filamentous (right), with the spheres mostly consisting of the small surface proteins and host-derived lipids. *Modified from: Hepatitis B – Infektion, Therapie, Prophylaxe; Georg Thieme Verlag 2006.* **C)** Electron microscope presentation of HBV particles. The three different particle types are marked with arrows (1: Dane particle; 2: filament; 3: sphere). *Modified from: H.-W. Zentgraf, Universitätsklinikum Heidelberg.*

Figure 1.1 A depicts a complete, infectious HBV particle. The virions, also called Dane particles, have a diameter of around 42nm and can be found in the sera of HBV infected individuals (Gerlich and Glebe 2010; Figure 1.1 C). The icosahedral nucleocapsid formed by the viral core protein (HBcAg), which harbours the viral genome in complex with the virus polymerase, is protected by a lipid envelope containing the HBV surface proteins (HBsAg). The surface proteins exist as small, middle and large surface proteins (S, M, L) that share the same carboxyterminus, but differ in the size of the N-terminal domain. They contain four helical transmembrane domains; and TM1 of the L-protein has been shown to exist in two different conformations (Bruss et al., 1994) (Figure 1.2 A+B). The a-determinant located in the extracellular loop is targeted by neutralizing antibodies and determines the serotype of the respective genotype (Figure 1.2 C; Bowden and Locarnini 2006).



Figure 1.2 HBV surface proteins. A) Domain structures of the S, M and L envelope proteins. All three proteins contain the S-domain (S) consisting of 226 aa. The M and L proteins are extended to the 55aa preS2 domain (M) and the N-terminal preS1 domain (L) of 108 or 119aa. N: N-glycans; O: O-Glycans. A myristic acid is attached to the N-terminus of L (small circle). B) Predicted topology of the surface proteins. 4 transmembrane (TM) domains generate two cytosolic and one luminal loop. The L-Protein can be present in different topologies: TM1 is located in the cytosol upon co-translational membrane insertion (i-PreS) and partly translocates to the luminal space during maturation (e-PreS). *Modified from: Prange 2012.* C) Schematic model of the HBV S-protein. The immunogenic a-determinant located in the extracellular loop is comprised of two loops that are stabilized by cystein bonds (-s-s-). Mutations in the amino acids marked in dark grey determine the respective HBV serotype (d/y and r/w \rightarrow adw, ayw, adr, ayr). *From: Bowden and Locarnini 2006.*

Besides infectious virions, excessive amounts of subviral particles (SVP) can be detected in the serum during an HBV infection (Figure 1.1 B+C). SVPs can be spherical, with a diameter of around 22nm, or filamentous with variable length, and only consist of host-derived lipids and HBV surface proteins with mainly S-proteins present (Ganem and Schneider 2001). The spheres outnumber the Dane particles by a factor of 10^4 - 10^6 (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005). There are indications that soluble HBsAg impacts the host immune response by sequestering neutralizing antibodies and by direct impairment of cellular responses (Maini et al., 2010; Kondo et al., 2013).

1.1.3 Genomic organization and structural proteins

The genomic organization of HBV is schematically depicted in Figure 1.3. In the infectious viral particle, the ~3200bp DNA genome is present in a partially double-stranded form, the relaxed circular DNA (rcDNA). The viral polymerase (P) is covalently linked to the 5' end of the complete minus-strand, and a short hairpin RNA serving as a primer for transcription initiation is bound to the 5' end of the incomplete plus-strand. Upon infection of the cell and entry into the nucleus, the plus-strand is repaired, leading to the formation of the supercoiled covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA), which serves as transcription template for viral RNAs of different lengths. Viral proteins are generated from the 3.5kb pre-genomic/pre-core RNA or subgenomic RNAs (2.4, 2.1, 0.7kb) using four overlapping open reading frames (ORF; preS/S, preC/C, P, X).



Figure 1.3 Genomic organization of HBV. The full-length minus (-) strand with the terminal protein (TP) of the polymerase attached and the incomplete plus (+) strand are represented by the inner circles. The thin black lines represent the mRNA transcripts of 3.5, 2.4, 2.1 and 0.7 kb length, terminating near the polyadenylation (poly(A)) signal. The translated HBV proteins, namely the large, middle and small surface proteins, the polymerase, the X protein and the core and pre-core proteins are represented the by outermost colored lines. From: Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005.

The S and C genes contain multiple in-frame translation initiation codons that give rise to related but functionally distinct proteins. The ORF S/preS can be structurally and functionally divided into the pre-S1, pre-S2, and S regions leading to the translation of the different envelope proteins (described in 1.1.2). The preC/C ORF encodes for the viral capsid protein HBc and the secreted hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg). HBeAg as a surrogate marker for viral replication (Liaw et al., 2009) is dispensable for the viral life cycle but is thought to mediate immunosuppressive functions during infection (Guidotti and Chisari, 2006). Its described capacity to cross the placenta might be involved in induction of neonatal tolerance as shown in studies in HBV-transgenic (HBVtg) mice (Milich et al., 1990). HBeAg also has been shown to suppress antibody and core-specific T cell response to HBcAg in adult TCR-transgenic mice (Chen et al., 2004). The viral X protein encoded by the X ORF is required for initiation and maintenance of virus replication (Zoulim et al., 1994; Lucifora, Arzberger et al., 2011) and has been described as a strong transcriptional activator of several cellular genes associated with growth control (Chisari et al., 2010).

1.1.4 Replication cycle

An overview of the replication cycle of HBV is given in Figure 1.4. In the initial phase of HBV infection, virions bind to the cell surface and are subsequently internalized, probably via endocytosis (Kann and Gerlich, 2005). The receptors and factors involved in the entry process have been extensively studied, revealing the pre-S1 domain of the L-Protein as a key determinant for entry of HBV by interaction with cellular receptors on hepatocytes (Gripon et al., 1995). Binding to heparansulfate proteoglycans as low-affinity receptors has been shown to be important for the initiation of virus entry (Schulze et al., 2007), and addition of heparins can block HBV infection *in vitro* (Leistner et al., 2008). The main molecule supporting viral infection remained elusive until 2012, where Yan and colleagues described a functional receptor for HBV. A sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide (NTCP), which is predominantly expressed in the liver, was found to specifically interact with the preS1-region of the L-Protein, thereby mediating HBV infection of hepatocytes (Yan et al., 2012).



Figure 1.4 HBV life cycle. After entry mediated by sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide (NTCP) and so far unknown cellular factors, the virus particle gets dissembled and the capsid is transported to the nucleus. Nuclear entry of viral DNA is followed by complementation of the plus strand, leading to cccDNA formation. Polyadenylated RNA-transcripts of different sizes are generated, with the pre-genomic 3.5kb RNA serving as template for replication. Upon encapsidation with the viral polymerase, reverse transcription takes place, forming the minus strand. After plus-strand synthesis and rcDNA formation, capsids are either recycled to the nucleus, or enveloped with HBV surface proteins, thereby forming mature capsids that are released through multivesicular bodies (MVBs). *Modified from: Urban 2010.*

Following host cell entry, the virus is disassembled and the viral genome is transported to the nucleus. The underlying mechanisms of the intracellular release, uncoating, decapsidation and nuclear transport are still poorly understood. After entry into the nucleus, cccDNA is formed by removal of the viral polymerase from the minus strand, removal of the RNA primer bound from the plus strand, and ligation of the DNA extremities for both strands after rcDNA completion. Both cellular factors as well as the viral polymerase are thought to be involved in this process (Beck and Nassal, 2007; Urban 2010). Transcription of HBV cccDNA by the cellular RNA polymerase II generates unspliced, polyadenylated RNAs with a 5'cap structure. As already mentioned, the viral proteins are translated from RNAs of different lengths using the respective ORF and translation initiation codons (see Figure 1.3). Replication starts with the encapsidation of the pre-genomic RNA via a cis-acting element on the RNA (epsilon) containing a stem-loop structure. The terminal protein of the polymerase

(TP) interacts with epsilon as well as newly formed core proteins, thereby forming the nucleocapsid. After encapsidation, reverse transcription of the pgRNA and subsequent positive-strand synthesis is mediated by the polymerase. Several steps of strand transfer lead to the formation of rcDNA, the DNA form present in infectious virions.

The assembly of mature virions with HBV envelope proteins produced in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) has been shown to be dependent on the L-Protein (Bruss et al., 1995) and its interaction with the viral capsid (Böttcher et al., 1998). Recent studies proposed that HBV virions bud into so-called multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and exit the cell via the exosomal pathway (Watanabe et al., 2007). The release of subviral particles (SVPs) is thought to be mediated by budding via the ER and Golgi compartment (Prange 2012). Since there is a continuous membrane exchange between the ER and the plasma membrane, viral surface proteins that were not incorporated in viral or subviral particles are likely to reach the plasma membrane during this process. Nucleocapsids containing rcDNA can undergo nuclear reimport and cccDNA conversion, leading to an intracellular amplification of cccDNA. In naturally infected hepatocytes, 50 or more copies of cccDNA can be found due to this process, which, together with the expected long half-life (35-57d for DHBV, Addison et al., 2002; 33 to 50d for WHV, Zhu et al., 2001) ensures persistence of the viral genome (Beck and Nassal, 2007).

1.1.5 Epidemiology of HBV infection

Hepatitis B virus infection is a major public health problem, with approximately 2 billion people worldwide having been infected. Around 240 million people are currently chronically infected (*source: World Health Organization, WHO*) and therefore at high risk to develop hepatic decompensation, cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), with an estimated mortality of 0.5 to 1 million deaths per year (Lai et al., 2003; Liaw et al., 2009). The prevalence of chronic HBV infection is around 4% worldwide, but differs markedly between regions (Figure 1.5; Lavanchy et al., 2004; Ott et al., 2012). Infection rates are low in Western Europe and USA, intermediate in Mediterranean countries and Japan, and high in Southeast Asia and the sub-Saharan area.



Figure 1.5 Epidemiology of HBV infection. Worldwide prevalence of HBV presented as HBsAg seroprevalence. Shown is the prevalence for adults (age 19-49) in 2005. Of note, the prevalence among children is slightly different (Ott et al., 2012). Regions colored in dark red show the highest prevalence with more than 8% of the population infected, followed by high intermediate prevalence (5-7%) and low/low intermediate endemic areas presented in lighter colors. *Modified from: Ott et al., 2012.*

The eight different genotypes A-H are geographically distributed as well, with genotype A prevalent in northwestern Europe and the USA, genotype B and C in Asia, and genotype D as the most spread in Southern Europe and the Mediterranean basin (Kao et al., 2007). Transmission of HBV occurs through blood and infected bodily fluids. In high-endemic areas, most infections occur by vertical transmission from mother to child or during early childhood. Around 90% of the HBeAg seropositive mothers transmit the virus to their offspring, leading to a high probability of perinatal infection. In areas of low prevalence, HBV infection occurs mostly in young adults, with risk factors including transfusions of unscreened blood, sexual promiscuity, sharing of syringes between drug users, working in a health care setting and renal dialysis (Liaw et al., 2009).

1.1.6 Pathogenesis of HBV infection

HBV is considered to be a non-cytopathic virus (Shimizu et al., 2012; Chisari et al., 2010). HBV infection can lead to a wide spectrum of liver disease including acute hepatitis, chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. The disease outcome is strongly influenced by the host immune response with the virus-specific T cell response as one of the key determinants (Guidotti and Chisari, 2006).

1.1.6.1 Acute HBV infection

Acute HBV infection can range from asymptomatic infection to self-limited hepatitis and fulminant hepatitis. In adults, one third of acute infections are symptomatic. In less than 1% of cases a fulminant hepatitis develops, with a mortality rate of 70% (McMahon et al., 1985; Liaw et al., 2009). The serological and clinical changes after acute hepatitis B virus infection are shown in Figure 1.6 A. During a typical acute infection, HBV DNA remains at relatively low levels $(10^2 - 10^4$ genome equivalents per ml) for up to 4-7 weeks (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005; Bertoletti and Ferrari, 2012). After this so-called incubation phase, HBV DNA as well as the secreted virus antigens HBeAg and HBsAg increase to peak titers. This is accompanied by the appearance of virus specific antibodies. HBcAg-specific IgM can be found early in infection and is considered to be a seromarker for ongoing acute disease (Liaw et al., 2009). Around 10 to 15 weeks post infection, serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels begin to rise; indicating T cell mediated killing of HBV infected hepatocytes (Guidotti et al., 1999). There are indications that also non-cytopathic mechanisms elicited by the host immune system play an important role for clearance of viral DNA in serum and liver before the onset of clinical hepatitis (Chisari et al., 2010). Seroclearance of HBsAg occurs later and is followed by the appearance of anti-HBs antibodies, which have a virusneutralizing character (Liaw et al., 2009). Apparent clearance of the virus can still be accompanied by persistence of cccDNA in a small fraction of hepatocytes, bearing the risk of re-activation even after a long time (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005).



Figure 1.6 Clinical and virological course of acute and chronic HBV infection. A) Acute hepatitis B after horizontal transmission. A peak of virus replication is followed by immune-mediated clearance of the virus. HBV-specific T cells and HBsAg-specific antibodies confer lifelong protection from re-infection. B) Chronically evolving hepatitis B resulting from vertical transmission. Characteristic are several phases of variable length with fluctuating levels of virus replication and immune responses. See text for details. *From: Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005.*

1.1.6.2 Chronic HBV infection

The risk of developing chronic infection is closely correlated with the patient's age at the time of infection: whereas the risk of chronicity for patients infected as adults is only around 1 to 5%, persistence of HBV is detected in 90% of infections after vertical transmission (Liaw et al., 2009) from mother to child. Chronic infection can be divided into several stages of variable length, starting with a clinically unapparent phase that is characterized by high levels of circulating HBV DNA and HBeAg (Figure 1.6 B). ALT levels are often normal during this phase, which can last for several years, until ALT levels rise, inflammatory liver disease becomes obvious and HBV DNA titers decline (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005). Alternatively, there is a switch to a low replicative phase, during which HBeAg is cleared from the serum and HBeAg specific antibodies occur. HBV DNA is typically at low levels and ALT values are normalized. This stage of infection might last for a lifetime, but in some patients, recurrent high level HBV replication can occur, accompanied by necroinflammatory liver disease. Especially patients under immunosuppressive treatment or patients harboring certain HBV variants (core/pre-core mutations leading to increased replication / HBeAg negativity) are at risk to convert to a high replication hepatitis (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005). Eventually, continuous virus replication leads to liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), with high viremia as important risk factor for HCC development (Chen et al., 2006). Worldwide, around 50% of hepatocellular carcinomas are related to HBV (Lai et al., 2003; Liang et al., 2009).

1.2 The impact of the immune response on the course of HBV infection

1.2.1 Innate immune response

The role of the innate immune system during HBV infection is still controversially discussed (Bertoletti and Ferrari, 2012). Studies in HBV-infected chimpanzees (Guidotti et al., 1999; Wieland et al., 2004) and humans (Dunn et al., 2009) have shown that HBV infection does not lead to detectable changes in the expression pattern of intrahepatic genes in the first weeks of infection. In contrast, other viruses like HIV-1 induce a classical type I Interferon (IFN)/pro-inflammatory response in the infected livers (Stacey et al., 2009). This apparent lack of induction of IFN responses was interpreted as an ability of HBV to escape innate recognition, thereby acting as a "stealth virus" (Wieland et al., 2005; Chisari et al., 2010). The escape was explained by the replication strategy of HBV, with the cccDNA sequestered within the nucleus, the production of polyadenylated mRNA and the protection of newly transcribed genomes within viral capsids (Wieland et al., 2005). However, innate responses might be below the detection limit, and there is growing evidence that HBV can be sensed by the innate immune system via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs; Hösel et al., 2009; Lucifora et al., 2010; Protzer et al., 2012). HBV might also directly suppress innate immune responses via the viral proteins polymerase and X protein and by secreting large amounts of HBsAg and HBeAg into the circulation (Ait-Goughoulte et al., 2010; Bertoletti and Ferrari, 2012).

The contribution of natural killer cells as cells of the innate immune system is controversially discussed as well (Mondelli et al., 2010). NK cells are present in large amounts (40-60% of intrahepatic lymphocytes) in the normal liver (Doherty et al., 2000) and have been shown to increase within the circulation during early infection, but the effector functions did not appear concomitantly with viral clearance and were suppressed as viral load increased (Webster et al., 2000; Dunn et al., 2009; Fisicaro et al., 2009). NK cells probably play a more pathogenic than protective role in the course of infection (Dunn et al., 2007).

1.2.2 Adaptive immune response

While the contribution of the innate immune system to the development of early infection is still debated, the adaptive immunity is considered to be crucial for the course of infection, with virus specific T cell responses as a key player (Bertoletti and Ferrari, 2012). HBV-

specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses can usually be detected after the exponential increase of HBV replication (Webster et al., 2000; Fisicaro et al., 2009) that follows the incubation phase with low replication levels, which probably prevent T cell priming. Although CD4⁺ HBV specific T cells can be detected during the course of infection, it has been shown that they are indispensable for viral clearance during early infection, but depletion at the peak of liver disease has no impact on viral clearance in HBV infected chimpanzees (Baumert et al., 2007; Guidotti and Chisari, 2006). This indicates an important role of CD4⁺ T cells as helper cells for CD8⁺ T cell priming, with the CD8⁺ T cells as main effector cells during infection (Thimme et al., 2003; Baumert et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2010; Chisari et al., 2010).

Importantly, CD8⁺ T cells exert two different and non-related functions that contribute to viral clearance (Bertoletti et al., 2003). The decrease of viremia before the onset of liver disease is largely mediated by cytokines, most importantly IFN_Y and TNF α , which have been shown to be secreted by CD8⁺ T cells (Guidotti et al., 1996; Bertoletti and Ferrari, 2012) and lead to elimination of nucleocapsid particles as well as destabilization of viral RNA (Guidotti et al., 1996). After this initial decline of viral load, a cytolytic immune response ensues, causing both clinical hepatitis as well as final virus control (Guidotti et al., 1996; Yang et al., 2010). By secretion of cytokines and production of IFN_Y-inducible chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10, cytotoxic T cells further recruit antigen-non-specific inflammatory cells into the liver, thereby initiating a cascade of immunological events (Guidotti and Chisari, 2006). Viral clearance is associated with a vigorous, polyclonal and multispecific CD4 and CD8 T cell response (Maini et al., 2000; Chisari et al., 2010), which can be detected in the peripheral blood of patients with acute self-limited hepatitis B (Michel et al., 2002).

In chronic infection, this T cell response is weak, antigenically restricted or undetectable (Michel et al., 2002; Maini et al., 2000) and can lead to a persistent inflammation by low-level cytokine secretion without elimination of the virus (Bertoletti et al., 2003). Even if HBV-specific CD8 T cells can be detected in chronically infected patients, they are apparently not able to mount an adequate response to eliminate the virus (Maini et al., 2000, Bertoletti et al., 2003). Reasons for that could be a functional exhaustion of HBV specific T cells, rendering them dysfunctional with regard to exerting their effector functions. Indeed, intrahepatic HBV specific T cells during chronic infection have been shown to express higher levels of the exhaustion marker Programmed Death-1 (PD-1), and upregulation of PD-1 is associated with liver inflammation and ALT elevation (Fisicaro et al., 2010). In line with that, also the ligand for PD-1 (PD-L1) is upregulated on hepatic cells in patients with chronic viral hepatitis (Kassel et al., 2009). Recent work suggests a contribution of multiple inhibitory receptors to CD8 T cell exhaustion (Blackburn et al., 2009). Apart from PD-1, Tim-3 (T cell

immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-3; Nebbia et al., 2012) as well as cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4, Schurich et al., 2011) as other markers of exhaustion have been described as being upregulated on CD4 and CD8 T cells in chronic HBV infection. Furthermore, CD8 T cells of chronically infected individuals show a proapoptotic phenotype (Lopes et al., 2008) that is thought to be mediated by insufficient activation by liver-located antigen-presenting cells (Bowen et al., 2004). Apoptosis may also be promoted by co-inhibitory signals delivered through CTLA4 (Schurich et al., 2011) or by T cell-intrinsic transforming growth factor- β (TGF β ; Tinoco et al., 2009).

Besides T cell intrinsic factors, the influence of extrinsic factors on HBV specific T cells is also likely to mediate disease outcome. HBV specific T cells could be suppressed by other immune cells such as regulatory T cells that have been found to be present in a higher proportion in livers of chronically infected patients with high viral load (Stoop et al., 2008) and suppress HBV specific T cells (Stross et al., 2012). Similarly, secretion of the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10, that can be induced by HBcAg is also thought to negatively regulate T cell effector functions during chronic infection (Li et al., 2010). Moreover, an impaired function of dendritic cells (DCs) as specialized antigen-presenting cells could be involved in insufficient T cell priming (Wang et al., 2001). The mechanism causing DC dysfunctionality is unknown, but might involve HBV particles as well as soluble HBsAg (Op den Brouw et al., 2009).

1.3 Model systems for HBV infection

Since *in vitro* models are fast and offer well-controlled experimental settings, much work has been done to develop highly sophisticated systems based on cell lines or primary hepatocytes. For example, transfection of linear full-length HBV genomes leads to intracellular formation of cccDNA in hepatoma cell lines and allows for the investigation of virus and host factors on the transcriptional activity of cccDNA (Günther et al., 1995). The isolation of a cell line susceptible for HBV infection, the HepaRG cells (Gripon et al., 2002), represented an experimental breakthrough by allowing for the study of early infection steps and treatment approaches (Lucifora et al., 2011). However, its infection efficiency is limited. Although the discovery of NTCP as receptor for HBV (Yan et al., 2012) enabled the generation of additional cell culture models, they cannot completely replace *in vivo* model systems. Only appropriate animal models allow for studying of the virus within the complex liver environment and its interactions with the immune system, thereby making them indispensable for the confirmation and extension of results generated in cell culture experiments.

Yet, the strict species specificity of HBV, with humans as only natural hosts, greatly impairs in vivo investigations. The fact that chimpanzees can be experimentally infected with HBV has been used to gain important insights into the pathogenesis and immune responses during HBV infection. The chimpanzee model, however, is limited by high costs, low availability and strong ethical considerations (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005; Dandri et al., 2013). Therefore, the investigation of HBV-related viruses in their natural hosts or in cell culture is the basis of many important advances in HBV research. Studies involving the duck hepatitis virus (DHBV) with the Pekin duck as the natural host generated substantial information about the hepadnaviral replication mechanism (Beck and Nassal, 2007), but the low sequence homology of HBV and DHBV as well as differences in the course of the infection limit further use of this model. The Woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) is more similar to HBV with regard to the genomic organization and the establishment of a chronic infection, and studies with experimentally infected woodchucks were fundamental for the preclinical development of antiviral drugs. Disadvantages of the woodchuck model are the limited availability of reagents, the difficult handling and the fact that woodchucks cannot be bred and have to be captured. Primary hepatocytes isolated from the tree shrew Tupaia belangeri represent a valuable source for HBV-permissive cells, and are even more susceptible to infection with the woolly monkey hepatitis B virus (WMHBV) that has been isolated from a new world primate. Tree shrews can also be experimentally infected with HBV, however at a low efficiency, which further compromises in vivo experiments in addition to the difficulties concerning the handling of the animals (Dandri et al., 2013).

The fact that all of the mentioned animal models suffer from different constraints has led to the development of several mouse models for HBV infection. Hydrodynamic injection of naked HBV DNA into murine livers can induce fast, high-level viral replication followed by rapid clearance of the virus by the murine immune system (Yang et al., 2002). This allows for the investigation of certain antiviral approaches as well as immune responses during acute infection. Injection of a modified plasmid DNA could delay the rapid immune clearance of the virus (Huang et al., 2006), thereby developing a model for HBV persistence. However, an important disadvantage of hydrodynamic injection is the strong discomfort caused in the animals as well as injection-induced liver damage that might already influence immune responses in a virus-independent way (Dandri et al., 2013). The intravenous injection of adenoviral vectors containing 1.3-fold HBV genomes leads to HBV replication in the liver of the treated mice followed by an acute, self-limited infection allowing for the investigation of immune-mediated viral clearance *in vivo* (Sprinzl et al., 2001; von Freyend et al., 2011). By administration of low doses of adenoviral vectors, it is possible to generate persistent infection similar to a chronic hepatitis B (Huang et al., 2012).

22

An approach to investigate effects on infected human hepatocytes *in vivo* is the generation of chimeric mouse models, with the urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) transgenic mouse as the most widely used one. The transgene induces hepatocyte damage which creates the space for transplanted human hepatocytes to reconstitute the liver, and crossing with an immunodeficient mouse strain like the SCID (Severe Combined Immune Deficient) mouse model circumvents rejection of human cells. The generated chimeric liver tissue is susceptible for HBV infection and thereby offers potential for the investigation of viral entry and spreading and preclinical drug testing (Dandri et al., 2013), but lacks a functional immune system. In addition, the liver microenvironment constituted by murine chemokines and cytokines cannot crosstalk to the human hepatocytes, representing an important disadvantage of this model.

By integration of a terminally redundant, over-length 1.3 HBV-DNA construct into the murine genome, a transgenic mouse model (HBV1.3tg) with high titer virus expression was generated (Guidotti et al., 1995) and used for studying mechanisms of HBV pathogenesis and drug-mediated antiviral suppression (Dandri et al., 2013). In the work presented here, an HBV1.3tg-derived mouse strain was used that lacks functional HBx expression (HBVxfs; Dumortier et al., 2005). A clear disadvantage of this model is the fact that virus replication is stably driven by the transgene, which precludes the complete eradication of the virus by any therapeutic approach. However, this model was chosen because it allows for the investigation of antiviral effects in the presence of a functional immune system and liver microenvironment.

1.4 Prophylaxis and therapy of HBV infection

The infection rate with HBV can largely be diminished by avoiding or interrupting transmission. For example, routinely done serological screening of donor blood has led to a substantial reduction of transmission via blood transfusions. The fact that HBsAg-specific antibodies can neutralize the virus has led to the development of a vaccination with recombinantly produced HBsAg in the early 1980s (Liaw et al., 2009). Since the vaccination was recommended to be added into all national vaccination programmes by the WHO in the early 1990s, worldwide rates of infection have fallen. The administration of HBV-specific immunoglobulins is effectively used for newborn infants of HBV-infected mothers, as post-exposure prophylaxis in the health care setting or for the prevention of reactivation after liver transplantation (Kann and Gerlich, 2005; Liaw et al., 2009). However, HBV remains a major healthcare problem worldwide. It is still highly endemic in low-income countries where the vaccination is given less commonly or transmission occurs during early childhood (Liaw et al., 2009). In Germany, around 0.6% of the population (representing around 500.000

persons) are HBsAg positive (*source: Robert-Koch-Institut*); with the major part belonging to one of the risk groups discussed in 1.1.5. Effective treatment approaches are therefore indispensable for the control of HBV infection.

The first line treatment of chronic HBV infection consists of the administration of antiviral drugs that target the reverse transcriptase activity of the viral polymerase, comparable to antivirals used for HIV therapy. Entecavir and Tenofovir are nucleos(t)ide analogues that interact with viral replication and thereby effectively and safely lead to suppression of viral DNA and normalization of ALT levels (Liaw et al., 2009). Telbivudine, Lamivudine and Adefovir also belong to the same group of therapeutics, with Lamivudine, initially used for HIV treatment, being the first antiviral that was administered during chronic HBV infection in the mid-1990s (Lai et al., 2003, Hadziyannis et al., 2011). Entecavir is considered to be the most potent of those drugs, followed by Tenofovir and Telbivudine (Liaw et al., 2009). Responses to those antivirals can be strong and efficient, with a drop of HBV markers, amelioration of liver pathology and reported HBeAg seroconversion in around 20% of patients treated with Lamivudine for 1 year. Since such antivirals are usually well tolerated, a lifelong administration is generally possible (Liaw et al., 2009). However, administration frequently leads to the emergence of resistant virus strains that can rapidly outnumber the susceptible strains, leading to possible exacerbation of the disease. The newer antivirals Entecavir and Tenofovir have been designed in a way that avoids viral escape; thereby mutation rates during treatment are very low in those cases (Petersen et al., 2012). Lamivudine monotherapy, however, causes high drug resistance (Kann and Gerlich, 2005) and is still frequently used especially in developing countries due to lower costs. Apart from the fact that resistant virus strains emerge during treatment, treatment with nucleoside analogues does not achieve a final clearance of the virus. Although virus specific T cell responses can partly be enhanced under treatment (Boni et al., 2003; Kondo et al., 2013), this effect is only transient and complete elimination of infected cells is not achieved, bearing the risk of reactivation (Kann and Gerlich, 2005; Liaw et al., 2009).

A second clinically accepted treatment approach is the administration of Interferon-alpha (IFN α), which is available for treatment since the 1980s. In 2005, pegylated IFN α was introduced, which is more effective and can be administered once a week subcutaneously (Hadziyannis et al., 2011). IFN α as a type I IFN has immune-modulating capacities as well as direct antiviral activity. Engagement of the IFN α/β receptor complex upon binding activates the intracellular Jak/Stat signaling pathway and thereby leads to transcription of Interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) that stimulate the host immune response (Sadler et al., 2008). An advantage of IFN α is rather low (30-40% in HBeAg-positive patients) and differs

between the genotypes, with genotype A being for example more susceptible than other genotypes. Another drawback of IFN α therapy is the association with many side effects including influenza-like symptoms, anorexia, weight loss, fatigue and bone marrow suppression (Liaw et al., 2009).

1.5 New therapeutic approaches

Since currently available treatment options are not satisfying with regard to virus elimination, there is a strong need of better therapy options for chronic HBV infection. One focus of new therapeutic approaches is the targeting of different steps of the viral life cycle. For example, substances blocking virus entry and thereby re-infection are under current investigation. A synthetic lipopeptide derived from the pre-S1 domain of the L-Protein, named Myrcludex B, has been described to block HBV infection *in vitro* (Gripon et al., 2005) and *in vivo* in the uPA SCID model (Petersen et al., 2008) and is currently investigated in clinical trials. The discovery of NTCP as HBV receptor (Yan et al., 2012) has also revealed the target molecule of Myrcludex B.

Activation of the innate immune response using TLR agonists can lead to the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines/type I interferons that have been shown to counteract HBV replication (Isogawa et al., 2005; Guo et al., 2009). The host adaptive immune response is, however, a key factor for the outcome of the disease as already described. Therefore, a variety of new therapeutic approaches aims at the activation and restoration of the patient's dysfunctional immune response via various routes. One way is the application of a therapeutic vaccination strategy, which could be vaccination with peptides, proteins or DNA. Several studies have already employed those approaches, with partly encouraging results (Shimizu et al., 2012). Besides, different strategies aim for the activation of dendritic cells for induction of HBV specific immune responses, for example by antibody-induced in vivo activation or injection of DCs loaded with HBV-specific peptides/proteins (Shimizu et al., 2012). As already mentioned, one factor of the dysfunctional T cell response during chronic hepatitis B is thought to involve T cell intrinsic inhibitory signals via receptors like PD-1, CD244 (Raziorrouh et al., 2010) or Tim-3 (Nebbia et al., 2012). Therefore, new therapeutic approaches aim at the blockade of those signals. Indeed, antibodies against PD-L1 have been shown to partially restore T cell functions (Fisicaro et al., 2010). Along the same line, anti-apoptotic drugs could protect HBV-specific T cells from programmed cell death (Lopes et al., 2008). However, none of these approaches has been used in the clinical setting yet to prove safety. With regard to the PD-1 pathway, studies in animal models have demonstrated that the absence of PD-11/PD-L1 causes severe autoimmune liver damage (Iwai et al.,

2003; Barber et al., 2006), which could further enhance liver pathology. A precise evaluation of beneficial versus adverse effects is therefore indispensable when such pathways are blocked therapeutically.

The targeted delivery of cytokines to the liver would be another possibility to induce an immune response. An elegant way to specifically target HBV-infected hepatocytes represents the coupling of the respective cytokine to an antibody recognizing liver cells that express HBV proteins. Sastry et al. have described the production of a so-called T cell receptor-like (TCR-like) antibody directed against the HBV Env183-91 peptide presented on HLA-A2 by immunizing mice with soluble, peptide-loaded MHC molecules. The generated antibody was shown to specifically recognize HBV peptide/MHC complex on hepatocytes naturally infected with HBV (Sastry et al., 2011), thereby providing a tool for visualization of HBV infection as well as for targeted delivery of cytokines and antiviral drugs. In addition, an antibody directed against the HBV core18-27 peptide in complex with HLA-A2 was developed using the same strategy (Ji et al., 2012). Further studies have to address the question whether such antibodies are applicable in the clinical setting.

1.6 Redirection of cytotoxic T cells

Besides the mentioned approaches to re-activate the intrinsic T cell response, other strategies aim at artificially directing the otherwise dysfunctional T cells of a chronically infected individual to HBV-infected hepatocytes.

1.6.1 Cytotoxic T cells

With the CD8⁺ T cells being the most important effector cells during HBV infection, redirection of cytotoxic T cells is the focus of many therapy approaches. The characteristics of CD8⁺ T cells and their mode of antigen recognition are depicted in Figure 1.7. As an important part of the adaptive immune system, cytotoxic T cells are responsible for the recognition and elimination of foreign intracellular antigens like viruses. They circulate between the blood and the peripheral lymphoid organs where they get in contact with their cognate antigen via the T cell receptor (TCR). The TCR is composed of two chains (95% α and β chain; 5% γ and δ chain) forming a heterodimer, which is stabilized by cysteine bonds (Figure 1.7 A). The extracellular variable domains mediate specific antigen recognition. In contrast to antibodies that recognize native antigen, TCR recognition is directed against a peptide in complex with an MHC (Major Histocompatibility Complex) molecule on an antigen-presenting cell (APC). In the case of CD8⁺ T cells, the TCR targets processed intracellular antigens presented on MHC I molecules that can be found on every nucleated cell of the body.



Figure 1.7 Cytotoxic T cells. A) Structure of the TCR/CD3 complex. Antigen recognition is mediated by α and β chain, whereas the CD3 complex mediates T cell activation upon antigen binding. The signal cascade is initiated bv phosphorylation of the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) of the intracellular CD3 chains. B) TCR/APC interaction. CD8+ T cells recognize endogenously processed peptides in a MHCrestricted fashion. Not shown: Interaction of co-receptors (see text for details). Modified from: Janeway et al., 2005.

The signal transduction after specific antigen binding is conducted by the CD3 complex associated with the TCR. It consists of two extracellular heterodimers composed of ε and δ or γ chain and an intracellular homodimer composed of two ζ chains. Importantly, cognate recognition of peptide and MHC leads to activation of the T cell only if a second costimulatory signal is present that can be generated by the interaction of CD28 on the T cell with its ligand B7 on the APC. The presence of both signals will lead to phosphorylation of the intracellular CD3 heterodimers and the CD3 ζ chain and subsequent activation of intracellular signaling pathways in the T cell. Binding of the co-receptor CD8 further enhances signal strength (Janeway et al., 2005). Finally, this activation leads to cytokine secretion and target cell lysis, which can take place by two mechanistically distinct mechanisms: the receptor-mediated pathway via CD95 (Fas) and the secretory membranolytic pathway involving perforin and granzyme (Lowin et al., 1994).

1.6.2 T cell redirection with bispecific antibodies

A strategy to recruit the endogenous T cells to HBV infected cells could be the administration of bispecific antibodies. These are recombinant protein constructs that link the specificities of two antibodies in one molecule, as depicted in Figure 1.8. Technically, the variable domains of heavy and light chain of an antibody are cloned and covalently linked, thereby generating a so-called single-chain variable fragment (scFv) that retains the original antibody specificity.



Figure 1.8 Structure of bispecific antibodies. The variable domains of an antibody derived from light and heavy chain (VI and Vh) are covalently fused, forming a scFv (single chain variable fragment). The connection of two scFvs with different specificities with a linker generates bispecific а antibody.

A huge variety of scFvs recognizing proteins, but also carbohydrates and glycolipids, have been developed (Sadelain et al., 2009). The fusion of two scFvs of different specificities with a linker creates a bispecific molecule (Baeuerle et al., 2009). T cell redirection can be achieved by fusing a CD3-specific scFv with a second scFv recognizing the desired antigen; a strategy that has been successfully employed for the targeting of several tumor antigens. Infusion of bispecific antibodies has been shown to mediate redirected tumor cell lysis in vivo for lung, gastric and colorectal cancer (Brischwein et al., 2006) and very efficiently for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in clinical trials (Bargou et al., 2008). An important advantage of bispecific antibodies concerning clinical use is the fact that they can be easily produced under GMP conditions and well controlled after administration, with a serum half-life of only several hours (Baeuerle et al., 2009). Regarding HBV, HBsAg represents a potent antigen for targeting with bispecific antibodies due to its supposed presence on the surface of an infected cell. The scFv C8 recognizing HBsAg was generated in a phage display, a selection process using human B cell-derived cDNA and recombinantly produced HBsAg. It is currently tested in combination with T cell- as well as NK cell-specific scFvs (Bohne et al., unpublished).

1.6.3 T cell redirection by adoptive transfer of antigen-specific T cells

The adoptive transfer of specific immune cells is already well established for treatment or prevention of opportunistic virus infections in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipients. Acute infection with or reactivation of Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV) in those individuals has a high morbidity and mortality despite available antiviral treatment

(Boeckh et al., 2003). Similarly, Epstein Barr virus (EBV) infection or reactivation can lead to the development of a lymphoproliferative disease (EBV-LPD) in severe immunecompromised solid organ or HCT recipients (Berger et al., 2009). Isolation of HCMV-specific or EBV-specific T cells from the allogeneic donor, and subsequent adoptive transfer following *ex vivo* expansion can restore the patient's immune response (Rooney 1998, Einsele et al., 2002; Peggs et al., 2003; Haque et al., 2007). The same strategy has been employed also in the setting of tumor therapy: isolation, *ex vivo* expansion and re-infusion of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) following depletion of endogenous lymphocytes has shown remarkable results for the treatment of metastatic melanoma (Dudley et al., 2002; Dudley et al., 2008). Yet, the selective isolation of appropriate amounts of tumor-specific T cells, the side-effect prone recognition of self-antigens as well as a low persistence after adoptive transfer complicates the development therapies for a bigger spectrum of malignancies based on the described approach (Berger et al., 2009).

Similarly, the transfer of endogenous HBV-specific T cells in the setting of chronic HBV infection is hardly feasible. As already described, HBV-specific T cells in chronic infection are only detectable in low frequencies, are antigenically restricted and exhibit an exhausted phenotype (Maini et al., 2000), which complicates direct use for therapy. However, the fact that around two thirds of HBV-infected patients safely clear the infection after having received allogeneic stem cell transplants from individuals with immunity to HBV (Ilan et al., 1993; Hui et al., 2005) supports the development of adoptive transfer strategies. To circumvent the above-mentioned obstacles involving endogenous HBV-specific T cells, virus-specific T cells with potent effector functions could be generated *ex vivo* and subsequently be transferred into the patient. To achieve this, gene-transfer approaches can be used, that graft T cells with receptors of desired specificity. Figure 1.9 depicts this treatment approach; the different engraftment strategies are presented in the next part.



Figure 1.9 Principle of adoptive immunotherapy with genetically modified T cells. Autologous PBMC from the patient are collected and enriched for the desired cell type, i.e. CD8+ cells and genetically modified to express the transgene (TCR/CAR). Further steps could consist of an expansion and enrichment of receptor-positive cells, followed by adoptive transfer back into the patient. *Modified from: Turtle et al., 2012.*

1.7 Strategies for T cell engraftment

1.7.1 Expression of natural T cell receptors

A helpful tool for the direct isolation of T cells with certain specificity is the employment of soluble MHC-molecules loaded with the respective peptide, so called MHC multimers (Knabel 2002). T cells with the desired specificity and high avidity can be specifically stained with those molecules and isolated in a sorting process. To generate artificially redirected T cells, the respective T cell receptor alpha and beta chains can be amplified from cDNA of the T cell of interest and cloned into a vector for expression in patients T cells (Clay et al., 2002). This method has been already applied in the tumor therapy setting, with the cloning of high-avidity T cell clones targeting immunogenic peptides of tumor-associated antigens (TAA) present in melanoma (MART-1; Johnson et al., 2009), colorectal cancer (CEA; Parkhurst et al., 2011) and synovial sarcoma (NY-ESO-1; Robbins et al., 2011) with partially promising results (Morgan et al., 2006; Turtle et al., 2012).

In chronic HBV infection, the patient's T cell response is too weak to mediate appropriate recognition of infected cells as it has been described for clearance of the virus in a self-limited infection (Chisari et al., 2010). Since the T cells in the latter case are apparently very efficient, T cells from patients able to clear infection could be isolated, followed by isolation and cloning of the sequences encoding for the HBV-specific receptors. In 2011, Gehring and colleagues have described the isolation of T cell receptors from T cell lines directed against HBV peptides HBc18-27, HBs183-91 and HBs370-79 in complex with HLA-A2 and their

subsequent expression on human T cells which led to specific redirection to HBV-infected cells *in vitro* (Gehring et al., 2011). Krebs and colleagues in our laboratory have isolated a set of T cell clones from HBV convalescents against the same peptides that are very potent *in vitro* and soon to be tested in an HBVtg mouse model (Krebs et al., in preparation). A clear disadvantage of employing natural / physiological TCRs for adoptive therapy is the MHC-restricted antigen recognition. Although selection of the most abundant MHC subtype (HLA-A2 present in 50% of the population in Germany and the US; *source: www.allelefrequencies.net*) ensures the possibility of treatment for the majority of patients, individuals with different MHCI subtypes will not profit from this therapy. Furthermore, a down-regulation of MHCI on the target cell might affect the therapy success, as already shown in tumor settings where loss of MHC molecules happens upon transformation of the cells (Garrido et al., 1997). Unfortunately, hepatocytes in general have low MHC expression levels, which are also detected during chronic viral infection (Gehring et al., 2007).

1.7.2 Expression of chimeric antigen receptors (CARs)

As a possibility to circumvent the restrictions of physiological TCRs, T cells can be equipped with a chimeric antigen receptor. Such a molecule, as depicted in Figure 1.10, consists of one single polyprotein with an extracellular antigen-binding domain, a spacer domain, a membrane-spanning part and an intracellular signaling domain; a principal that was first described in 1989 (Gross et al., 1989) and subsequently termed "T-body" (Eshhar et al., 1993). The specialty of the antigen-binding domain is that it, in contrast to a natural T cell receptor, consists of a single-chain antibody which recognizes native, unprocessed antigen. This scFv is connected via an IgG-Fc-derived spacer determining the distance of effector and target cell with a signaling domain that can have different characteristics. The first generation of chimeric antigen receptors possessed an intracellular signaling domain derived from the CD3 ζ chain or the Fc-receptor γ part (Sadelain et al., 2009). Such molecules conferred upon the engineered T cells the ability to secrete cytokines and to lyse target cells expressing the respective antigen (Park 2011). Clinical trials with first generation CARs directed against several tumor antigens have been conducted, i.e. for treatment of B cell lymphomas (Jensen et al., 2007) and neuroblastoma (Park et al., 2007; Pule et al., 2008). The therapeutic effects, however, were rather modest, due to limited survival and lacking proliferation of grafted T cells in vivo (Sadelain et al., 2009, Park et al., 2011). To improve strength and quality of antigen-induced signaling, so-called second generation CARs were engineered to display a combination of two signaling domains, with the prototype consisting of the signaling domains derived from the CD35 chain and the CD28 co-receptor (Hombach et al., 2001). In third-generation CARs, the intracellular domain is completed with a third signaling part, i.e. 41BB or OX40 (Park et al., 2011). The insertion of multiple signaling domains led to increased cytokine secretion and permitted expansion in response to antigen in the absence of co-stimulation (Maher 2002). Improved survival allowed for sequential target cell killing that is mainly mediated via perforin/granzyme (Protzer and Abken, 2010; Chmielewski and Abken, 2012). Accumulating numbers of clinical trials for tumor malignancies are performed using newer generation CARs, with especially good results in trials employing CD19-CARs (Kalos et al., 2011; Porter et al., 2011) for treatment of B cell malignancies. However, frequent side effects due to the on-target/off-tumor toxicity cannot be ignored (Park et al., 2011). The administration of a third-generation CAR recognizing ERBB2 even lead to a lethal adverse event after a single administration in one trial, presumably due to targeting of healthy tissue by CAR T cells (Morgan et al., 2010).





With regard to those problems, targeting of virus-derived antigens seems more feasible, since cross-reactivity to self-antigens should be low, thereby minimizing the risk to induce autoimmunity. However, viral antigens have to be present on the infected cell in an appropriate amount to allow for clustering of CARs, which is probably needed for T cell activation. The HBV surface proteins seem to fulfill this criterium (Protzer and Abken, 2010;

Bohne, unpublished), which led to the development of a chimeric antigen receptor targeting HBsAg.

1.8 Development of a chimeric antigen receptor targeting HBsAg

By introducing the C8 scFv targeting presumably a conformational epitope in the adeterminant of the HBsAg, a second-generation chimeric antigen receptor specific for the HBV surface proteins (S-CAR) has been developed (see Figure 1.11). Engraftment of human T cells with the S-CAR using a retroviral vector system lead to specific recognition and lysis of HBV-replicating hepatoma cell lines as well as HBV-infected primary hepatocytes *in vitro* (Bohne et al., 2008).



Figure 1.11 Engraftment of T cells with a chimeric T cell receptor directed against HBsAg. The S-CAR mediates binding to native HBsAg on the surface of HBV-infected hepatocytes via the C8-scFv. *From: Bohne and Protzer, 2007.*

To test whether S-CAR grafted T cells are able to reach the liver tissue and perform effector functions *in vivo*, murine T cells expressing the S-CAR were adoptively transferred into HBVtg mice. Indeed, S-CAR T cells were found to effectively home to the liver and exert profound antiviral effects, as detected by decrease of viremia as well as reduction of HBV DNA and cytoplasmic HBcAg in the liver (Krebs, Böttinger et al., 2013). Those *in vivo* data further suggested adoptive therapy using chimeric antigen receptors as a promising strategy to treat chronic Hepatitis B or HBV-related HCC.

1.9 Aim of this study

So far, there is no therapeutic option available that reliably leads to HBV eradication from chronically infected individuals. Therefore, there is a strong need for new treatment strategies. This study dealt with the overall aim to establish a safe and efficient adoptive cell therapy that allows virus elimination in chronic HBV infection and prevents the development of liver disease and HCC.

In the first part of this study, T cell receptor-like antibodies should be cloned as single chain antibodies (scFvs) and evaluated in the context of a chimeric antigen receptor with regard to their ability of redirecting T cells to HBV-replicating hepatocytes. Construction of a CAR would therefore combine coreceptor-independent signaling and prevention of TCR mispairing with the ability of a T cell receptor to recognize endogenously processed and presented antigen in context with MHC I, and thereby provide a new, additional tool for adoptive T cell therapy.

As an alternative to T cells, the study aimed at grafting natural killer cells (NK cells) with the chimeric antigen receptor targeting HBsAg (S-CAR) and subsequently testing those cells for their ability to recognize and specifically eliminate HBV⁺ target cells. Background of this approach was the finding that NK cells modified to express a CAR recognizing the tumor antigen HER-2 were able to specifically eliminate HER-2-expressing target cells (Kruschinski et al., 2008). Ideally, NK cells grafted with the S-CAR could therefore complement S-CAR T cell effector functions in an adoptive cell therapy approach.

Studies in HBVtg mice had demonstrated that murine S-CAR T cells efficiently home to the liver and induce profound reduction of viral load in vivo. However, information about fate as well as phenotypic changes of S-CAR T cells in vivo was lacking. To obtain a complete picture, the third and major part of this thesis focused on a detailed phenotyping and longterm monitoring of S-CAR T cells in vivo. In parallel, possible side effects induced by S-CAR T cells in HBVtg mice were addressed. Moreover, murine CD8⁺ T cells derived from HBVtg mice should be analyzed with regard to their effector potentials when grafted with the S-CAR. This represents an important aspect concerning a clinical use of S-CAR T cells in the future, since a clinical setting of adoptive transfer would imply the isolation and transduction of the patients' T cells that could possibly have been tolerized by HBV. In addition, the exerted antiviral effects of S-CAR T cells with those of naturally developed HBV-specific T cells should be compared side by side to investigate possible differences that could be important with regard to future clinical applications.

2 Results

2.1 Cloning and evaluation of chimeric antigen receptors with TCR-like specificity

2.1.1 Confirmation of specificity of TCR-like antibodies

TCR-like antibodies represent a combination of a classical T cell receptor and an antibody. The murine TCR-like antibodies generated by the Bertoletti group (Sastry et al., 2011; Ji et al., 2012) recognize either a peptide derived from the HBsAg (Env183A2) or the HBcAg (C18A2) in complex with the MHCI molecule HLA-A*0201. The aim of the first part of this study was the generation of chimeric antigen receptors with single chain antibodies derived from both the Env183A2 as well as the C18A2 TCR-like antibody (Figure 2.1.1).



Figure 2.1.1 Outline for the cloning of TCR-like antibodies into the context of chimeric antigen receptors. Left: The antigen-binding domain of TCR-like antibodies is comprised of the variable domains of heavy (vH) and light chain (vL) and recognizes the complex of an HBV-derived peptide presented on MHCI (HLA-A2). 1) Single chain antibodies were generated by cloning of vH and vL that are subsequently fused with a glycine-serine-linker. 2) TCR-like scFvs were cloned into the CAR expression construct by replacing the C8 scFv which determines S-CAR specificity. LK: kappa chain leader sequence; $hlgG_1Fc$: Spacer derived from human lgG_1 fragment crystallizable region; hCD28: signaling domain of human CD28; $hCD3\zeta$: signaling domain of $hCD3\zeta$; tm: transmembrane; ic: intracellular.

To confirm TCR-like antibody specificity, supernatants of both hybridoma cell lines producing the antibodies were used for staining of HepG2-H1.3 cells. This cell line has been generated by stable transfection of the HLA-A2⁺ hepatoma cell line HepG2 with an HBV 1.3-fold overlength genome (Jost et al., 2007), so HBV proteins should be endogenously processed and presented on the cell surface. However, when HepG2-H1.3 cells were stained with

hybridoma supernatants and a labelled secondary antibody against murine IgG, no specific signal compared to cells only stained with the secondary antibody or to HepG2 cells could be detected (Figure 2.1.2 A).



Figure 2.1.2 Staining with TCRlike antibodies. A) & B) Upper row: HBV-replicating HepG2-H1.3 cells (differentiated). Lower row: HBVnegative parental cell line HepG2. То visualize TCR-like antibody binding, secondary labeled а antibody targeting mIgG1 was added and samples were analyzed via flow cytometry. A) Cells were not treated before staining. B) Cells were treated with IFN γ for 48h before staining. C) HLA-A2 staining on HepG2-H1.3 cells without or after IFNγ treatment. D) Mean fluorescence intensity of labelled anti-mouse IgG (without or after IFNy treatment).

Since hepatoma cell lines are known to show low MHC-I surface expression, cells were treated with IFN γ to up-regulate MHC-I expression (Figure 2.1.2 C). As shown in Figure 2.1.2 B and D, staining with the TCR-like antibodies following IFN γ treatment of HepG2-H1.3 cells resulted in a detectable shift of the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) when Env183A2 or C18A2 were added. However, also IFN γ -treated HepG2 cells added as HBV negative control cell line stained positive especially with the Env183A2 antibody and led to increased mean fluorescence intensities (Figure 2.1.2 B and D); which implemented that IFN γ treatment enhanced also unspecific antibody binding. Therefore, the binding of the
antibodies to endogenously loaded MHC:peptide complexes could not be shown conclusively.

The second approach was to exogenously load HLA-A2⁺ cells with the respective peptides (Env183A2: S-peptide 183-91 or **FLL**TRILTI; C18A2: Core-peptide 18-27 or **FLP**SDFFPSV) to achieve a higher density of surface-located MHC:peptide complexes. When either T2 cells or HepG2 cells, both cell lines expressing HLA-A2, were loaded with the respective peptides, they stained specifically with the hybridoma supernatants (Figure 2.1.3 A). Furthermore, a cross-reactivity against other MHC:peptide complexes could be excluded (Figure 2.1.3 B), thereby confirming the respective antibody specificity.



Figure 2.1.3 Staining of exogenously loaded peptide-MHC complexes with TCR-like antibodies. A) T2 (TAP-deficient human lymphoblast cell line) and HepG2 cells were loaded with respective peptides (FLP = HBcAg-peptide / FLL= HBsAg-peptide). Stainings were done sequentially, with the incubation with hybridoma supernatant (C18A2 / Env183A2) followed by staining with the labeled secondary antibody. Non-loaded cells (w/o peptide) served as control. B) Exclusion of cross-reactivity of TCR-like antibodies. Env183A2 / C18A2 hybridoma supernatant was incubated with HepG2 cells loaded with FLL or FLP peptide. Only the right combinations led to a positive signal.

2.1.2 Cloning of single-chain variable fragments and chimeric antigen receptors

Having confirmed the specificities of the TCR-like antibodies, the respective variable domains of heavy and kappa light chain (V_h and $V_.$) had to be amplified and cloned in order to construct single chain antibody fragments (scFv) (Figure 2.1.4 A). Since the sequences were not known at this time point, variable domains were amplified using a set of degenerated primers (Dübel et al., 1994), kindly provided by Amgene. Sequencing of amplification products revealed consistent sequences that could also retrospectively be confirmed by the Bertoletti group (Figure 2.1.4 B).



B) Detection of PCR products via gel electrophoresis. Variable chains should have a size around 350bp as verified by the marker. The labeling above the lanes describes the respective 5' degenerated primer used. In total, 8 different 5' primers were used for heavy chain amplification; 7 for the light chain. The 3' primers for heavy or light chain, respectively, were the same in each reaction.

Subsequently, each pair of variable chains was fused with a glycine-serine-linker to obtain complete single chain antibody constructs, and scFvs were cloned into the CAR expression construct by replacing the C8 scFv (Figure 2.1.1). Staining of 293T cells transfected with the new CAR constructs revealed expression of both newly constructed CARs, however less efficient than with the well-established S-CAR that harbors the C8 scFv (Figure 2.1.5 A).

To answer the question whether the generated CARs might still be able to recognize the original antigen, namely HLA-A2 in complex with the respective HBV peptide, transfected 293T cells were directly stained with specific streptamers. Such molecules are soluble MHC molecules that can be peptide-loaded and detected via Streptavidin-PE. If the Env183A2-CAR and the C18A2-CAR would have kept the specificity of the TCR-like antibodies, they should have bound the tetramers loaded with the Env183-91 or the C18-27 peptide, respectively. However, whereas staining for the CAR-backbone was positive (Figure 2.1.5 A), no streptamer binding could be observed for both of the receptors (Figure 2.1.5 B). Taken together, those results indicated that the newly generated constructs might have been inefficiently expressed and furthermore did not exhibit the same antigen specificities as the original antibodies.



B Streptamer binding



Figure 2.1.5 Expression of chimeric antigen receptors with scFvs C18A2 and Env183A2 and specificity testing. A) Staining reveals expression of CARs. Shown are 293T cells transfected with the C18A2-CAR/Env183A2 CAR and the C8-CAR (S-CAR) as control. Upper lane: flow cytometry; lower lane: immunofluorescence. **B)** Staining of CAR-expressing cells with specific streptamers. Pos ctrl: 293T cells transfected with a T cell receptor recognizing the FLP peptide and stained with the respective streptamer. SSC: sideward scatter. Streptavidin-PE: labeling of streptamers.

In parallel, retroviral supernatants were produced by co-transfection of retroviral packaging plasmids into 293T cells. When those supernatants where used for transduction of primary human T cells, receptor expression was undetectable for the newly generated CAR constructs, as detected by staining with an anti-IgG-antibody (Figure 2.1.6). Likewise, transduction of the human T cell line Jurkat as well as of murine T cells failed (data not shown), indicating that the generated receptors cannot be expressed in a stable way to be detectable upon transduction. Therefore, the newly cloned chimeric antigen receptors were excluded from further experiments.



Figure 2.1.6 Transduction of primary human T cells. Human PBMC were transduced with supernatants derived from 293T cells transiently transfected to produce the respective retrovirus. Transduction with C8 (retrovirus encoding for S-CAR) served as control. Cells were gated on CD8 first.

2.2 Engraftment of primary human NK cells with the S-CAR and subsequent testing

2.2.1 S-CAR expression in primary human NK cells

NK cells were expanded from human PBMC using an optimized protocol. After 6 days of coculture with the feeder cell line T2 and IL-2 stimulation, the NK cell population expanded from 5-10% to up to 70% of total living cells (Figure 2.2.1 A). Two rounds of retroviral transduction led to expression of the S-CAR with an efficiency around 15% (Figure 2.2.1 B). To avoid unwanted effects by T and NK T cells present in the population, CD3 depletion was performed prior to functional assays, leading to a highly pure NK cell population (Figure 2.2.1 C).



В

↓ CD56

→ S-CAR

mock

0.011

Figure 2.2.1 S-CAR expression in primary human NK cells. A) Expansion of NK cells from complete PBMC after 6 days of culture in the presence of feeder cells and IL-2. Gating was done on living lymphocytes by exclusion of dead cells (PE/PerCP-Cy5.5 double positive). B) Transduction rates of primary human NK cells. Shown is the frequency of S-CAR⁺ cells among the CD3⁻CD56⁺ population. C) NK cell purity after depletion of CD3⁺ cells.



2.2.2 NK cells show strong unspecific killing activity on hepatoma cells

S-CAR

14.3

To test the potential of S-CAR grafted NK cells to specifically kill HBsAg⁺ hepatocytes, the transduced cells were co-cultivated with either HBV-negative hepatoma cells (HepG2) or HBV replicating HepG2.2.15 cells. Subsequently, an XTT-Assay was performed to check for cell lysis by measuring target cell viability. After 24h of co-culture, a large fraction of the target cells was lysed (Figure 2.2.2 A). However, killing did not seem to be specific, since it was also detectable when S-CAR grafted cells were cultivated with HBV-negative HepG2 cells (Figure 2.2.2 A and 2.2.2 B).



Figure 2.2.2 Hepatocyte killing by S-CAR NK cells. A) Light microscopy of S-CAR NK cells co-cultivated with HepG2 cells. t0 (left) represents the time point at the start of the co-culture, showing a confluent hepatocyte cell layer with round-shaped NK cells on top. After 24h of co-culture (right), the former confluent cell layer is largely disrupted. Scale bars: 20µm. B) XTT assay after co-culture of 1×10^4 or 4×10^4 S-CAR⁺ NK cells with HepG2 or HepG2.2.15 cells. A_{460nm} represents the viability of the target cells. The addition of medium alone served as control.

2.2.3 S-CAR NK cells do not specifically lyse HBsAg expressing hepatoma cells upon rescue of MHC-I expression

Since NK cells kill MHC-I negative cells, and liver cells and hepatoma cells in particular are known to have low MHC-I surface expression, target cells were stimulated with IFN γ to upregulate MHC expression (Figure 2.2.3 A). As shown in Figure 2.2.3 B, enhanced HLA-A2 expression on hepatoma cells could rescue unspecific killing by NK cells. However, S-CAR grafted NK cells did not have clear additional, specific effects on HBV⁺ cells, indicating that S-CAR signaling might not be functional in this setting. This led to the decision to focus on T cell therapy in further experiments.



Figure 2.2.3 Hepatoma cell killing upon HLA-A2 rescue. A) HLA-A2 rescue on hepatoma cells. HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cells were treated with IFN_Y or left untreated. After 48h, HLA-A2 surface staining was performed. Left: histogram of stained HepG2 cells as example. Right: Mean fluorescence intensity for HLA-A2 of HepG2/HepG2.2.15 cells with or without IFN_Y treatment. **B)** XTT assay after 24h co-culture of mock-transduced or $4x10^4$ S-CAR⁺ NK cells with HepG2 or HepG2.2.15 cells. Target cells were either left untreated (-IFN_Y) or pre-treated with IFN_Y before co-culture.

2.3 Construction and evaluation of a stable retrovirus-producing cell line

The preparation of S-CAR⁺ T cells for adoptive transfer depended on the production of fresh retrovirus that is capable of achieving good transduction rates. However, the efficiency of the transient transfection of Plat-E cells for vector production varied with every experiment, causing a critical point in the transduction protocol. To circumvent this, a cell line that is continuously secreting retroviral particles was established.

Platinum-E (Plat-E) cells stably express the retroviral-derived viral structural genes gag-pol and env, which are required for packaging, processing, reverse transcription, and integration of recombinant genomes (Morita et al., 2000). For stable production of retroviral vectors, the Plat-E cell line itself was transduced with amphotropic retroviral vectors produced in 293T cells and delivering the gene of interest (S-CAR) in combination with a packaging signal (Figure 2.3.1).



Figure 2.3.1 Schematic procedure for construction of a stable retrovirus-producer cell line. A) Transient transfection of HEK 293T cells (Human Embryonic Kidney cell line). The 3 colored circles represent the different plasmids encoding for the retroviral gag and pol proteins, the amphotropic surface proteins (env) and the retroviral genome encoing for the gene of interest to be included in the retroviral particles. B) Transduction of the packaging cell line Platinum-E. Since the gag, pol and env-genes are already integrated in the genome, stable integration of the transgene with a packaging signal leads to continuous virus production.

Figure 2.3.2 shows Plat-E cells transduced with 293T supernatant, which expressed the S-CAR to a high extent. Among the S-CAR⁺ cells, two populations with either a rather low, or a high amount of surface S-CAR expression could be distinguished, probably indicating different amounts of transgene copies in those cells. In the next step, both S-CAR⁺ populations were sorted via flow cytometry and further kept in culture as Plat-E_S-CAR_{low} or _S-CAR_{high}, respectively. One week after the sort, both cell lines as well as non-transduced Plat-E cells were again stained for S-CAR expression. Interestingly, only S-CAR_{high} derived cells showed stable expression of the S-CAR (Figure 2.3.3 A).



Figure 2.3.2 Transduction of Plat-E cells. Shown are FACS blots of mock-transduced or S-CAR Retrovirustransduced Plat-E cells stained for S-CAR surface expression. According to the appearance of two populations with different CAR-expression levels, cells were further named as S-CARlow and S-CARhigh.

The supernatant of S-CAR_{low} as well as S-CAR_{high} cells was finally used for transduction of the murine T cell line B3Z. As shown in Figure 2.3.3 B, supernatant derived from S-CAR_{low} Plat-E cells did not contain retrovirus capable of transduction. On the other hand, Plat-E S-CAR_{high} cells stably secreted retroviral particles into the supernatant that lead to efficient B3Z transduction. These cells were kept in culture as Plat-E_S-CAR cell line, and supernatants were used for efficient transduction of primary murine T cells.



B B3Z S-CARhigh S-CARlow mock

Figure 2.3.3 Stable retrovirus production. A)

Transduced Plat-E cells were re-stained for S-CAR expression one week after the sort. **B)** Transduction of B3Z cells with retroviral supernatants produced by Plat-E_S-CAR_{low} and Plat-E_S-CAR_{high}.

2.4 Long-term survival and phenotypic changes of S-CAR T cells after adoptive transfer

2.4.1 S-CAR T cells can survive in the long term in vivo

Figure 2.4.1 depicts the general experimental layout for adoptive transfer experiments to investigate S-CAR T cell functions in HBVtg mice. S-CAR T cells were generated by retroviral transduction of CD8⁺ T cells derived from mice carrying the congenic marker CD45.1. Since activation and proliferation is required for successful transduction, T cells were stimulated *in vitro* with antibodies against CD3 and CD28 as well as with murine IL-12 that has been found to greatly improve T cell survival *in vivo* (Krebs, Böttinger et al., 2013). FACS analysis was then used to determine the transduction efficiency, which varies between different experiments. Finally, the desired number of S-CAR T cells was calculated and the respective total cell amount was given intraperitoneally to the recipient mice. The congenic marker CD45.1 allowed for monitoring of the transferred T cells *in vivo* (Figure 2.4.1 B).



Figure 2.4.1 General procedure for adoptive transfer experiments. A) Experimental setting. CD45.1/CD45.2: congenic marker on leukocytes. IL-12: Interleukin-12. HBV1.3xfs: HBV-transgenic mouse line without functional HBx expression. **B**) Gating strategy after re-isolation. After exclusion of the PerCP-Cy5.5+/PE+ population representing dead cells, transferred T cells are identified by co-expression of CD8 and CD45.1.

In previously conducted adoptive transfer experiments, mice were sacrificed latest at d12 post transfer. Thus, there was no information about long-term survival and properties of transferred cells. To assess this, mice treated with 3x10⁶ S-CAR T cells or CEA-CAR T cells as control (equivalent to 8.6x10⁶ and 1.2x10⁷ total cells; see transduction efficiencies in Figure 2.4.2 A) were monitored up to 13 weeks. Animals were bled at different time points and frequencies of remaining transferred cells were determined as exemplified in Figure 2.4.1 B. Of note, *ex vivo* staining of transferred T cells over time was only possible via the congenic marker CD45.1, whereas S-CAR surface staining was not stable (*see also 2.4.5*). As shown in Figure 2.4.2 B, transferred cells were detectable up to 13 weeks post transfer, with high inter-individual differences within the groups. T cells engrafted with the CEA-CAR were also maintained in the circulation, although frequencies were on average lower than those of S-CAR T cells especially at the first time points. The CEA-CAR recognizes carcinoembryogenic antigen, which is absent in HBVtg mice, and thereby provided a control for antigen-unspecific effects on CAR T cells *in vivo*.

Transferred T cells accounted for up to 80% of total CD8 T cells and up to 20% of total PBMC (Figure 2.4.2 C). Frequencies of transferred T cells decreased over time, but most of the S-CAR T cell treated mice maintained a clearly detectable population of CD45.1⁺ cells up to 12 weeks post transfer. CEA-CAR T cells were monitored up to 9 weeks post transfer, and, in comparison to the continuous decrease of S-CAR T cells, frequencies remained stable from approximately week 4 on at around 8% of total PBMC. Those results suggested that S-CAR T cells initially proliferated *in vivo* upon antigen stimulation, followed by clearance from the circulation that might have still been ongoing at the endpoint of analysis. CEA-CAR T cells, on the other hand, remained at rather stable frequencies independent of stimulation with antigen.



Figure 2.4.2 Monitoring of transferred T cells. A) Transduction efficiencies determined before adoptive transfer. **B)** Long-term frequencies of transferred T cells in individual mice. Black curves: S-CAR treated mice (n=8). Grey curves: CEA-treated mice (n=2). **C)** Mean frequencies of transferred T cells for each group. Left: as percentage of total PBMC; Right: as percentage of total CD8⁺. Values for the S-CAR were multiplied by factor 1.4 to adapt to the different amounts of total CD45.1 splenocytes transferred (S-CAR: $8.6x10^6$; CEA-CAR: $1.2x10^7$ total cells).

In a second experiment, $4x10^{6}$ S-CAR T cells were transferred into HBVtg mice and monitored until d34 (~5 weeks). Compared to the experiment described above, T cell transduction performed better with an efficiency of 70%, allowing for transfer of only 5.71x10⁶ total cells per mouse (Figure 2.4.3 A). When monitored *in vivo*, frequencies of transferred T cells accounted for up to 8% of total PBMC followed by continuous decrease, indicating a subsequent clearance from the circulation over time (Figure 2.4.3 B). In accordance with the clearance of transferred T cells from the blood, the frequencies in

different body compartments had decreased as well after 5 weeks post transfer (Figure 2.4.3 C). Analysis of liver associated lymphocytes revealed that transferred T cells had efficiently homed to the liver at d12 post transfer, followed by a strong contraction of the population detected at d34.



2.4.2 At late time-points, S-CAR T cells fail to induce antiviral effects in vivo

S-CAR T cells have already been shown to exert specific antiviral effects *in vivo* by reducing the amount of HBV DNA in the liver and in the serum of HBV transgenic mice until d12 (doctoral thesis Karin Krebs). When relative amounts of HBV rcDNA in the liver were analyzed in long-term experiments, the values for mice that received S-CAR T cells were reduced around 50% at week 1 post transfer compared to DNA levels after 4 and 9 weeks. At the later time points, HBV DNA levels of S-CAR treated mice were comparable to levels of mice that received control (CEA-CAR) T cells, suggesting a functional silencing of S-CAR T cell function *in vivo* over time (Figure 2.4.4 A). A more in-depth monitoring of liver HBV DNA levels at earlier time points post transfer confirmed a time-dependent antiviral effect,

with the strongest reduction after 1 week (Figure 2.4.4 B). The fact that a decrease of viral DNA was already measurable at d4 post transfer, but hardly at d20 post transfer with an increase of around 3 fold, indicated a rapid performance of effector functions that lasted only for a limited time period.





decrease of serum DNA of around one log appeared delayed compared to the maximum reduction of HBV DNA in the liver. The increase of HBV markers upon loss of S-CAR T cell effector functions was expected, since virus expression in the HBVtg mice is driven by the transgene, which cannot be eliminated.

2.4.3 Ex vivo restimulation of transferred S-CAR T cells

To check whether transferred T cells maintained their ability to specifically secrete cytokines after recognition of HBsAg, lymphocytes were isolated from spleen and liver at different timepoints after transfer and stimulated with plate-bound recombinant HBsAg or left unstimulated. After 30h of incubation, cells were stained for CD45.1, S-CAR and intracellular cytokines IFN_{γ} and TNF α . The gating strategy is shown in Figure 2.4.5.



As shown in Figure 2.4.6 A, S-CAR T cells isolated from both liver and spleen at d8 specifically produced effector cytokines when re-stimulated with rHBsAg. Most of those cells stained positive for IFN γ , with a proportion of 13% of LALs and 21% of splenocytes, and 5% respectively that produced TNF α in addition. Cytokine production upon antigen stimulation was higher in splenocytes, but was accompanied by a higher background cytokine production of unstimulated cells than in liver associated lymphocytes. Specific cytokine secretion was also detected when splenocytes and liver associated lymphocytes were re-isolated and stimulated 9 weeks post transfer (Figure 2.4.6 B). Compared to d8, frequencies

of cytokine positive cells were lower, and cells were mostly monofunctional with secretion of IFN γ only. Control cells expressing CEA-CAR did not secrete cytokines upon HBsAg contact as expected (Figure 2.4.6 right). Of note, S-CAR T cells showed a specific response to the ayw serotype of the HBsAg (genotype D), which is present in HBVtg mice, but even a stronger response to the adw serotype against which the single chain antibody of the S-CAR was generated (Figure 2.4.6). Those results suggested that a proportion of transferred S-CAR T cells, although apparently dysfunctional *in vivo*, had kept their effector potential and could be re-stimulated even at late time-points.



Figure 2.4.6 Intracellular cytokine staining d8 and d64 post transfer. Shown are S-CAR+ CD8 T cells from liver and spleen cultured with or without HBsAg. **A)** ICS d8 post transfer. (n=2-3; Mann-Whitney-Test, * = P<0.05.) **B)** ICS d64 post transfer. adw/ayw represent different serotypes of the HBsAg. (n=2-6; Kruskal-Wallis-Test, ** = P<0.005)

2.4.4 Maintenance of effector potential in spite of upregulation of the exhaustion marker PD-1

Since the antiviral properties of S-CAR T cells were found to be silenced in the host, transferred T cells were checked and monitored for phenotypic changes. To assess whether S-CAR T cells undergo a functional inactivation *in vivo*, staining of the exhaustion marker Programmed Death-1 (PD-1) was performed. Cells were stimulated with HBsAg in addition, as described above, to allow for parallel detection of intracellular cytokines upon stimulation. The same procedure was done with S-CAR T cells before transfer, revealing that around 90% of T cells that underwent the stimulation and transduction procedure stained positive for PD-1 on their surface, and 40% of PD-1⁺ cells were still able to secrete IFN_Y upon antigen stimulation (Figure 2.4.7 B left). When cells were re-isolated from liver and spleen at week 3, 6 and 9 post transfer, especially S-CAR⁺ cells also expressed PD-1 to a high proportion (55-65%), and clearly lower than S-CAR⁻ cells and endogenous CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 2.4.7 A + C). However, 30 to 50% of PD-1⁺ cells could be specifically re-activated *ex vivo* (Figure 2.4.7 B right), indicating that PD-1⁺ S-CAR T cells exhibited a rather activated than exhausted state.



In a second experiment, S-CAR T cells were transferred into HBVtg mice as well as wild type C57 BL/6 mice to check for specific activation and/or exhaustion in the context of HBV replication. Directly after re-isolation at different time-points, CD45.1⁺ cells derived from livers and spleens of HBVtg mice, but not from BL/6 mice were high in PD-1 surface expression (Figure 2.4.8 A + B). When cells were *ex vivo* re-stimulated at d12 post transfer, between 40 and 50% of PD-1⁺ S-CAR T cells isolated from livers of HBVtg mice were able to

produce IFN γ , as already shown before (Figure 2.4.8 C left). Of note, *ex vivo* antigen stimulation markedly increased PD-1 expression also on S-CAR T cells derived from BL/6 mice, with 60% of PD-1⁺ cells producing IFN γ upon stimulation. Those results suggested that PD-1 upregulation on S-CAR T cells was mostly a consequence of activation – which took place *in vivo* in the HBVtg mice, but only *ex vivo* for cells derived from BL/6 mice. The finding that re-stimulation was somewhat more efficient for BL/6-derived cells could point to a small proportion of S-CAR T cells that had effectively acquired an exhausted phenotype after adoptive transfer into HBVtg mice.





Figure 2.4.8 PD-1 expression upon antigen contact. A) *Ex vivo* staining of liver associated lymphocytes derived from HBVtg mice or BL/6 mice. The latter were only isolated at d12 and pooled for analysis. **B)** *Ex vivo* staining of splenocytes. At d12, cells were pooled for analysis. **C)** ICS from cells isolated at d12 post transfer. Cells were stimulated o.n. with rHBsAg. (*n*=3)

2.4.5 S-CAR surface expression is unstable *in vivo* and regulated by different mechanisms

2.4.5.1 In vivo loss of S-CAR surface expression and rescue after ex vivo resting

To check which further mechanism could have led to the observed silencing of S-CAR T cells *in vivo*, a detailed analysis of S-CAR surface expression was performed. As already mentioned, surface-located S-CAR on CD45.1⁺ directly after re-isolation was indeed reduced or even completely absent, although S-CAR surface expression was clearly detectable before transfer.



Figure 2.4.9 S-CAR surface expression *in vivo.* **A)** Representative S-CAR staining on blood cells of two independent mice per time point. Gates were set on endogenous or transferred CD8+ cells. **B)** Representative S-CAR staining on re-isolated LALs d12 post transfer (n=3; Kruskal-Wallis-Test, * = P<0.05).

As presented in the example in Figure 2.4.9 A, the receptor was detectable on blood cells isolated at d4, but almost undetectable at d7 on cells derived from the same group of recipient mice. By resting the re-isolated cells overnight, S-CAR expression could be partly restored especially on liver associated lymphocytes (Figure 2.4.9 B), which goes in line with the finding that cells could be reactivated *ex vivo* (*see part 2.5.3*). However, when cells were stimulated with rHBsAg, specific cytokine secretion was accompanied by a largely diminished S-CAR rescue to the surface (Figure 2.4.9 B). This led to the question whether continuous antigen stimulation *in vivo* might have led to S-CAR down-regulation and thereby functional inactivation of transferred T cells.

2.4.5.2 Influence of HBsAg on S-CAR surface expression in vitro

To test whether antigen stimulation has an effect on S-CAR surface expression in murine T cells, in vitro stimulation kinetics were performed. Complete splenocytes were transduced with a newly generated retroviral construct (Figure 2.4.10 A) (generated by Karin Krebs/Antje Malo; original construct provided by Paulina Paszkiewicz/Stanley Riddell), which led to parallel expression of the S-CAR with a truncated epidermal growth factor receptor (tEGFR). Since antigen stimulation should not have an impact on tEGFR expression, surfaceexpressed tEGFR served as a control for non-antigen-specific effects. Cells carrying both receptors were stimulated with plate-bound rHBsAg and S-CAR expression as well as tEGFR expression was monitored over time. As shown in Figure 2.4.10 B, tEGFR expression stayed stable over 24h of incubation time, whereas there was a distinct antigenspecific decrease of S-CAR surface expression, which was partly rescued after 24h. Relative expression levels were calculated and are shown in Figure 2.4.10 C, confirming loss of S-CAR surface expression in an antigen-dependent manner. This mechanism was also dependent on the antigen concentration used for stimulation (Figure 2.4.10 D left). Concentrations starting from 1.25µg/ml rHBsAg for the coating procedure led to S-CARdown regulation, whereas lower concentrations did not. The concentration of secreted IFNy corresponded with the degree of S-CAR down-regulation: only rHBsAg concentrations starting from 1.25µg/ml led to profound IFN_Y secretion; indicating that activation of the T cells was directly linked to the S-CAR surface expression (Figure 2.4.10 D right).



Figure 2.4.10 S-CAR surface expression *in vitro*. **A)** Vector construct for parallel expression of S-CAR and tEGFR. LTR: Long Terminal Repeat. T2A: virus-derived sequence that allows for co-expression of two transgenes. **B)** Stimulation kinetics with plate-bound recombinant HBsAg (5µg/ml). t0: staining before stimulation. **C)** Relative expression levels calculated by % S-CAR+ / % tEGFR+. Control: unstimulated cells. **D)** S-CAR expression after 5h stimulation with different concentrations of plate-bound rHBsAg (left). Right: secreted IFN_Y decected in the supernatant by ELISA after 5h stimulation with different coating antigen concentrations.

2.4.5.3 S-CAR surface expression *in vivo* is not only dependent on antigen stimulation Since stimulation with rHBsAg might not be fully comparable to the *in vivo* stimulation by infectious virus, T cells engrafted with S-CAR and tEGFR were adoptively transferred into HBVtg mice. Figure 2.4.11 A (left) shows staining of the T cells before transfer (d0), confirming an equal expression of both markers. Mice were bled at d4 and d7 post transfer and analyzed at d8. Parallel monitoring of S-CAR and tEGFR revealed a shift in staining intensity of the population within this time frame (Figure 2.4.11 A right); with a more rapid loss of S-CAR surface expression than tEGFR expression. This was detectable by frequencies of receptor-positive cells and by mean fluorescence intensity that both significantly decreased over time for both receptors, but more profoundly for the S-CAR (Figure 2.4.11 B). Except one animal, which had very high frequencies of transferred S-CAR T cells in blood, spleen and liver (80% or more), cells from all tested animals and body compartments showed clearly reduced S-CAR surface expression at d8 of analysis (Figure 2.4.11 C).





Figure 2.4.11 S-CAR surface expression kinetics *in vivo.* **A)** Representative S-CAR/tEGFR staining on blood cells of an HBVtg mouse before and 8 days post transfer. Cells were gated on CD8+CD45.1+. **B)** Left: Receptor surface expression on transferred T cells isolated from blood. Right: MFI of S-CAR / tEGFR on transferred T cells isolated from blood. (*n*=3-4, *Kruskal-Wallis-Test*, * = P<0.05, ** = P<0.01). **C)** Receptor surface expression on transferred T cells re-isolated from different body compartments at d8 post transfer. (*n*=4, Mann Whitney Test tEGFR vs. S-CAR: P = 0.1508 (blood), P = 0.0952 (liver), P = 0.0952 (spleen), P = 0.0159 * (lymph nodes))

To be able to distinguish between antigen-dependent and -independent effects on S-CAR surface expression, S-CAR⁺/tEGFR⁺ T cells were transferred in parallel into HBVtg mice as well as wildtype BL/6 mice. When blood cells were stained at d4 post transfer, the frequency of S-CAR⁺ T cells derived from HBVtg mice was reduced about 9% compared to tEGFR⁺ T cells, whereas receptor frequencies differed only about 3% for cells derived from BL/6 mice (Figure 2.4.12 A), indicating antigen-specific S-CAR down-regulation. This situation changed at d8 post transfer: Although percentages of tEGFR⁺ cells did not change significantly, S-CAR surface expression was reduced to about 50% of the initially positive cells in BL/6 as well as in HBVtg mice (Figure 2.4.12 B). These results indicated that, within the first days post transfer, antigen-stimulation influenced S-CAR surface expression. However, at later time points, S-CAR surface expression seemed to be influenced by antigen-unspecific factors, suggesting that several independent mechanisms played a role in the observed dynamics of S-CAR expression.



Figure 2.4.12 *In vivo* **S-CAR surface expression with and without antigen stimulation. A)** Receptor surface expression on transferred cells isolated from blood of HBVtg or Bl6 mice at d4 post transfer, shown as respective frequencies. Cells were pre-gated on CD45.1⁺CD8⁺ cells. **B)** Repetition of the staining at d8 post transfer. (n = 8/3, Mann-Whitney-Test, S-CAR+; * P < 0.05)

2.4.6 S-CAR T cell inactivation *in vivo* does not occur due to methylation of the transgene

2.4.6.1 Establishment of an LTR-specific PCR

The finding that S-CAR surface expression was not stable even in S-CAR T cells that were transferred into HBV-negative mice led to the question whether there could be an impact of methylation on the transgene expression. Although it was shown that S-CAR expression could be rapidly restored by overnight resting, which would argue against a stable inactivation, the possibility remained that transgene expression was shut off epigenetically in the cells that did not show this S-CAR rescue. The S-CAR in transduced T cells is transcribed from the transgene integrated in the cellular genome after retroviral transduction. The promoter driving expression of the transgene is located in the retroviral-derived Long Terminal Repeat (LTR) upstream of the coding region. Within the LTR, several CpG dinucleotides can be found which is typical for promoter regions, allowing for transcriptional silencing of the respective gene. Figure 2.4.13 A shows a schematic picture of the Mo-MLV (Moloney murine leukemia virus)-derived LTR with the CpG islands as putative methylation sites.



xxxTGxxC_mGxxxTxxx

XXXACXXG CXXXAXXX

forward strand

reverse strand

Figure 2.4.13 Detection of methylation patterns in the transgene-promotor. A) Schematic representation of the promoter located in the long terminal repeat of the MoMLVderived vector. U3: unique 3' region; R: redundant region; U5: unique 5' region. * mark CpG dinucleotides. The black frames show the CpG islands that were analyzed for methylation. B) Detection of methylated CpGs using bisulfite conversion and subsequent PCR. a: unmethylated CpG; b: methylated CpG; c: cytosine residue. See text for more explanations. Modified from: Swindle et al., 2004.

To assess the question of potential methylation, a PCR was designed, allowing for specific amplification of the Long Terminal Repeat upstream of the S-CAR transgene. Detection of methylated CpGs can be achieved by bisulfite conversion of the DNA prior to the PCR: treatment with bisulfite leads to a conversion of all cytosines present in the DNA (Figure 2.4.13 B, a + c), whereas methylated cytosines are protected from this process (Figure 2.4.13 B, b). By amplification and sequencing of the DNA after the conversion process, it is therefore possible to distinguish between methylated and unmethylated CpGs. When establishing the PCR, it became clear that there has to be an endogenous LTR sequence present in the mouse genome, since PCR with a primer pair only binding within the LTR also amplified the targeted sequence in mice that had not received S-CAR T cells (Figure 2.4.14 A). To circumvent this problem, a nested PCR was performed, using in the first step a reverse primer binding in the S-CAR coding region. By this, specific amplification of the LTR driving the transgene was achieved (Figure 2.4.14 B).



Figure 2.4.14 PCR of bisulfite-converted DNA. A) PCR products generated with LTR-specific primers from bisulfite-converted DNA of non-transduced (mock) or S-CAR transduced murine splenocytes. The expected fragment size was 230 bp. **B)** Products of nested PCR (after the second step). The first primer pair was designed to bind within the S-CAR coding region; the second primer pair was identical to the one used in A.

2.4.6.2 The Long Terminal Repeat driving transgene expression remains unmethylated Liver DNA of HBVtg or BL/6 mice that had received S-CAR T cells was obtained at d12, d20 and d34 post transfer and the LTR was amplified from the DNA of one mouse per time point using the protocol described above. Since the methylation profile within one population is likely to vary from cell to cell, PCR products were cloned into a vector and sequenced on a single cell level. Figure 2.4.15 shows the theoretical sequence amplified by nested PCR of completely bisulfite-converted DNA, including 17 CpGs in total. Tested were 6 single clones per mouse; the result is presented in Table 2.4.1. The maximum amount of methylated CpGs per clone was 2, with most of the promoter regions showing complete $C \rightarrow T$ conversion indicating a completely unmethylated state. Since a transgene shut-off would require a certain methylation density (Swindle et al., 2004), transgene silencing by methylation of the promoter regions did not play a role for transferred S-CAR T cells.

Theoretical sequence after complete bisulfite conversion:

aagga<mark>tt</mark>tgaaatga<mark>ttt</mark>tgtg<mark>tt</mark>ttatttgaa<mark>t</mark>taattaattagtt**tg**ttttt**tg**tttt g<mark>t</mark>t<mark>ttt**tg**agttt</mark>aataaaagagtttataattttttatt**tg**g**tgtg**ttagtttttt**tg**atagattg**tg**t**gttttt** gta<mark>tt**tg**</mark>agtttaataaaggttttatgtgtttgtatt**tg**aat**tg**tgga<mark>ttttttg</mark>atagattgggggggggggggggggttttt tt gtagat

Underlined: primer sequences

Yellow: Bisulfite-converted C→T Green: Bisulfite-converted CpG

Total number of CpGs: 17

Figure 2.4.15 LTR sequence containing relevant CpG islands. See description for details.

	Number of methylated CpGs						
	Clone 1	Clone 2	Clone 3	Clone 4	Clone 5	Clone 6	
HBVtg d12	1	0	0	1	0	2	
HBVtg d34	1	0	0	0	0	0	
BL/6 d12	1	0	0	0	0	0	
BL/6 d20	0	0	0	0	0	0	

Table 2.4.1 Summary of detected methylation sites. Analyzed were 6 PCR clones derived from HBVtg mice (d12/d34 post transfer) and BL/6 mice (d12/d20 post transfer), respectively. Shown is the number of methylated CpGs among the total amount of 17 CpGs tested.

2.4.7 S-CAR T cells change their memory phenotype after adoptive transfer

Since it had been shown by several groups that the memory phenotype determines the fate of adoptively transferred T cells *in vivo* (Berger et al., 2008; Louis et al., 2011), detection of the memory T cell markers CD62L (L-Selectin) and CD127 (IL-7 receptor α) was included in the analysis of S-CAR T cells (Figure 2.4.16 left). Whereas T cells of untreated splenocytes clearly distributed into 4 different populations with a high percentage of double positive cells (Figure 2.4.16 middle), transduced and stimulated CD45.1⁺ T cells before transfer exhibited a "synchronized" phenotype with high expression of both markers, resembling central memory T cells (Figure 2.4.16 right). This was observed for the stimulation protocols involving IL-12 as well as IL-2, indicating that it was a general consequence of strong T cell activation.



Figure 3.4.16 Memory phenotype of transferred T cells. Left: relation of memory markers CD62L and CD127. *Modified from Bachmann et al., 2005.* Middle: staining of murine CD8+ splenocytes after isolation. Right: staining of stimulated and transduced CD8+ cells.

This phenotype, however, changed *in vivo* (Figure 2.4.17 and Table 2.4.2 and 2.4.3): when cells were re-isolated from different body compartments, they were found to differentially express the tested markers, similar to endogenous CD8⁺ T cells. Among liver associated lymphocytes, the highest proportion of CD45.1⁺ cells at d12 and d34 post transfer had acquired an effector memory cell-like phenotype, which was also most abundant among endogenous liver lymphocytes. For blood lymphocytes, an initial frequency of 32% effector-like transferred cells could be detected at d12, whereas remaining cells at d34 mostly resembled effector memory cells. Those *in vivo* changes would support the finding that transferred T cells are cleared from the organism over time, also in the liver as the site of virus replication. Interestingly, remaining transferred T cells in the lymph nodes were mostly cells with a central memory like-phenotype, indicating the establishment of a small, but long-

lived memory cell population in the lymphatic compartment. However, a conclusive interpretation of *in vivo* changes is difficult due to the probably artificial upregulation of both markers after *in vitro* stimulation and transduction.



Figure 3.4.17 Memory phenotype of transferred T cells. Staining of transferred and endogenous CD8+ cells at d12 (upper part) and d34 (lower part) post transfer. Shown are the relative frequencies of the 4 different populations. Cells were always gated on CD8 first.

	d12				
	%	IM	СМ	EM	E
	blood	10,5	19,1	37,6	32,8
	liver	1,1	14,8	74,2	10,1
	spleen	5,9	21,7	38,9	33,6
	lymph nodes	7,6	51,1	28,5	12,8
	blood	15,4	36,4	20,9	27,3
	liver	1,7	17,4	69,3	11,7
ĥonija	spleen	12,4	44,4	20,0	23,2
	lymph nodes	30,4	54,3	5,5	9,8

d34						
	%	IM	СМ	EM	E	
nalisiellen	blood	1,6	26,0	60,9	11,5	
	liver	0,5	15,1	76,2	8,2	
	spleen	1,6	26,0	60,9	11,5	
	lymph nodes	3,7	76,6	18,9	0,8	
snollafionila	blood	2,3	57,3	31,9	8,5	
	liver	1,4	32,5	58,3	7,8	
	spleen	2,3	57,3	31,9	8,5	
	lymph nodes	1,4	87,8	9,3	1,5	

Table 2.4.2 & 2.4.3 Memory frequencies d12 & d34 post transfer. Shown are the relative frequencies within different body compartments as mean values (n=3-4). Gating was done on CD8+CD45.1- (endogenous) or CD8+CD45.1+ (transferred), respectively. IM: intermediate; CM: central memory; EM: effector memory; E: effector.

2.4.8 Activation-induced cell death as an important mechanism for loss of S-CAR T cells *in vivo*

Another aspect so far unknown was the question whether activation of S-CAR T cells can also lead to subsequent activation-induced cell death. To check for this, first experiments were performed *in vitro*: S-CAR T cells stimulated with rHBsAg were stained in addition with an Annexin V-antibody binding to apoptotic cells. Dead cells were, as always, excluded from the analysis. As shown in Figure 2.4.18 A, S-CAR⁺ T cells stained stronger positive for Annexin V compared to S-CAR⁻ T cells already before antigen stimulation. The MFI for Annexin V increased steadily on S-CAR positive T cells between 2 and 24 hours upon HBsAg encounter, whereas it remained stable without antigen stimulation as well as for S-CAR negative T cells. This strongly indicated that S-CAR T cells had acquired an apoptotic phenotype upon activation.

Since stimulation with plate-bound antigen is somewhat artificial and might lead to stronger T cell activation than under physiological conditions, Annexin V staining was used to stain *ex vivo* re-isolated cells derived from blood, spleen, liver and lymph nodes from mice that had received S-CAR/tEGFR⁺ T cells. Indeed, S-CAR T cells also seemed to be driven into apoptosis upon transfer into HBVtg mice, as presented in Figure 2.4.18 B + C. Gating was done on endogenous, as well as tEGFR⁺ and tEGFR⁻ T cells to distinguish between the different populations. Clearly, transferred T cells carrying the transgene (tEGFR+) were significantly more prone to apoptosis than non-transduced and endogenous T cells. This held true for isolated cells from all 4 body compartments tested, namely blood, liver, spleen and lymph nodes, indicating that activation-induced cell death was following an initial expansion and activation of S-CAR T cells.



Figure 2.4.18 Detection of apoptotic cells by AnnexinV staining. A) AnnexinV staining of *in vitro* stimulated or unstimulated murine S-CAR T cells. Gating was done on CD8+S-CAR+ (left) or S-CAR- (right). **B)** Example for AnnexinV-stained liver associated lymphocytes isolated at d8 post transfer. tEGFR-expression allowed for distinguishment between receptor-negative and –positive transferred T cells. **C)** AnnexinV staining of CD8+ T cells isolated at d8 from different body compartments (*n*=4; *Kruskal-Wallis-Test*, ** = P<0.01)

2.5 Characterization of donor cells derived from HBV-replicating mice

So far, the T cells used for adoptive transfer experiments had been isolated from CD45.1⁺ BL/6 mice, which did not replicate HBV. The adoptive transfer setting in a chronically infected patient, however, would imply the isolation, transduction and transfer of the patient's T cells. To test whether T cells derived from an HBV-positive background show suppressed effector functions, HBVtg mice were crossed with CD45.1⁺ mice, and cells from the F1 generation were isolated and used for further experiments. CD8⁺ T cells of HBVtg (HBV+) and HBV naïve (HBV-) mice were transduced with the S-CAR in parallel. Transduction rates were comparable between the two donor cell populations (Figure 2.5.1).



Figure2.5.1S-CARtransduction of HBV- andHBV+cells.Cellsweregated on CD8.

2.5.1 S-CAR T cells derived from HBV⁺ donors do not show suppressed effector functions *in vitro*

To check for effector functions *in vitro*, S-CAR T cells were stimulated with plate-bound recombinant HBsAg. Figure 2.5.2 A shows that antigen stimulation led to a comparable activation of S-CAR T cells derived from HBV- and HBV+ mice as determined by secreted IFN γ . When IFN γ was stained intracellularly, about 25% of S-CAR T cells from both populations specifically produced IFN γ upon stimulation (Figure 2.5.2 B). Parallel staining of the marker LAMP-1 on the surface revealed LAMP-1 mobilization of around 4 fold compared to the control, indicating that both donor cell populations exerted the same killing capacity (Figure 2.5.2 C).



500

HΒV

S-CAR-

HBV

HBV

HBV+

S-CAR+





Since also non-stimulated T cells were found to secrete high amounts of IFN γ (Figure 2.5.2 A), it was hypothesized that treatment with IL-12 led to high background cytokine secretion. To prove this, cells were transduced in the presence of IL-2 instead of IL-12, and either stimulated with rHBsAg or co-cultivated with HepG2/HepG2.2.15 cells. Cytokine levels were detected by ELISA, showing that IL-2 pre-treated cells secreted lower amounts of IFN γ than IL-12 pre-treated cells, and background levels were almost undetectable, indicating that the pre-stimulation protocol had a clear impact on effector functions (Figure 2.5.3). Stimulation with IL-12, though, has been shown to greatly improve *in vivo* survival of transferred T cells (Krebs, Böttinger et al., 2013) and was therefore required for the generation of S-CAR T cells for adoptive transfer.



Figure 2.5.3 IL-2 pre-stimulation. IFN γ secretion of splenocytes derived from HBVtg mice upon 15.5h stimulation. **A)** Stimulation with rHBsAg (3.5x10⁴ effector cells/well). **B)** Stimulation by co-culture with HepG2.2.15 cells. Effector cells were diluted 1:3 and 1:9 with a starting concentration of 3.5x10⁴ effector cells/well.

2.5.2 In vivo, HBV⁺ donor cells perform as well as cells derived from HBV⁻ mice

To compare in vivo effects, CD45.1⁺ S-CAR T cells derived from either HBV naïve or HBVtg mice were adoptively transferred into HBVtg mice. Frequencies of CD45.1 cells were monitored over time and are shown in Figure 2.5.4 A. Within the first week post transfer, HBV+ T cells represented up to 15% of total PBMC, whereas HBV- T cells reached levels up to 25%; both however with high variability. Decrease of HBV+ cells over time was not as strong as for HBV- cells, resulting in more or less comparable levels up to 13 weeks post transfer. The high standard deviations were due to the highly different inter-individual frequencies. When cells derived from HBV+ mice were re-isolated from liver and restimulated with recombinant HBsAg, a fraction of around 40% secreted IFN γ as detected by intracellular cytokine staining (Figure 2.5.4 B), as already shown before for HBV- donor cells. Thus, the ex vivo recovery of effector functions did not seem to be impaired due to the HBV+ background of the cells. To investigate the antiviral effect, viremia was monitored over time. This revealed a decrease of about one to two log for both treatment groups within the first week post transfer (Figure 2.5.4 C upper part), and an increase to levels compared to d0 at later time points, further strengthening the fact that persisting T cells became functionally silenced in vivo. Interestingly, in this experiment, T cells derived from HBVtg mice showed even a stronger and more consistent antiviral effect than HBV-naïve T cells (see also DNA levels single mice; Figure 2.5.4 C lower part). Of note, the group that had received HBVnaïve cells contained two outliers that did not feature reduction of viremia, whereas the other mice were comparable to the HBV+ recipient group. Taken together, a defect in effector functions due to the HBV+ background of the donor cells could be ruled out for this model. Since in vitro as well as in vivo results suggested no impact of an HBV+ donor cell background on effector cell functions, all further experiments were carried out with HBVnaïve donor cells for practical reasons.



Figure 2.5.4 *In vivo* **survival and effector functions of HBV+ cells. A)** Long-term survival of transferred T cells derived from HBVtg or HBV naïve mice. **B)** ICS of HBVtg-derived cells isolated 3 weeks post transfer from the liver and re-stimulated with rHBsAg. n=3. **C)** Viremia of HBVtg mice that had received S-CAR T cells derived from naïve (HBV-) or HBVtg mice (HBV+). Upper part: mean values. Lower part: individual mice. (*n*=2-7; *Kruskal-Wallis-Test, HBV- P = 0.202; HBV+ P = 0.0020 ***).

2.6 Exclusion of severe side effects induced by S-CAR T cells upon adoptive transfer

One important question concerning a potential future application of S-CAR T cells in HBVinfected patients was whether S-CAR T cells might induce adverse effects in the recipient upon adoptive transfer. As already shown in previously conducted experiments (doctoral thesis Karin Krebs), S-CAR T cells exerted profound antiviral effects in HBVtg mice that were partly due to direct killing of HBV-replicating hepatocytes. Such liver damage is beneficial on the one hand, but bears also the risk of unwanted immunopathology. Besides, S-CAR T cells were shown to secrete cytokines upon antigen contact that counteract HBV replication but could in turn also influence endogenous immune cells, and could potentially induce non-controllable immune reactions. Furthermore, the high concentrations of circulating HBsAg in form of subviral particles, which can be found in chronically infected patients as well as HBVtg mice, could potentially activate S-CAR T cells and lead to unwanted off-target effects.

To check for such unwanted side effects, HBVtg mice were treated with 4x10⁶ S-CART cells per mouse and examined with regard to several parameters. Liver damage was monitored by measurement of serum ALT levels as a marker for liver cell destruction. As shown in Figure 2.6.1 A, S-CAR T cells induced a moderate, but significant ALT elevation peaking one week post transfer at a value of around 800U/ml. Importantly, ALT levels only increased transiently, with rapidly normalizing levels over time. In parallel, treated mice were checked for changes in body weight, since weight loss would have implied a general negative effect induced by S-CAR T cells. However, none of the recipient mice showed noticeable changes in body weight (Figure 2.6.1 B), suggesting that the occurring liver damage did not lead to general distress in the recipient mice. To investigate whether S-CAR T cells induced strong elevation of cytokines in the serum and thereby a "cytokine storm", the concentrations of TNF- α , IFN- γ , MCP-1, IL-10, IL-12 and IL-6 present in the serum of treated mice were measured using a cytokine bead array (CBA; done by Karin Krebs). As presented in Figure 2.6.1 C, serum concentrations of cytokines TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-10, IL-6 and the chemokine MCP-1 were indeed significantly elevated at d12 post transfer. However, those effects were mainly transient, and cytokine levels at d34 post transfer were comparable to those of untreated mice again.


Figure 2.6.1 Investigation of side effects. A) ALT levels as marker for liver damage measured in the serum of treated mice (*Kruskal-Wallis-Test d-1 vs d7: **, d7 vs. d34: **). **B)** Monitoring of body weight. Shown are changes of body weight in %. **C)** Cytokine bead array from serum taken at different time points post transfer as well as from untreated controls. (n = 3-7: Kruskal Wallis Test: IL-12 (P = 0.1163), TNF- α (P = 0.0049), IFN- γ (P = 0.0032), MCP-1 (P = 0.0061), IL-10 (P = 0.0238), IL-6 (P = 0.0047)

Likewise, compositions of endogenous immune cells belonging to the lymphoid (Figure 2.6.2 A) as well as the myeloid lineage (Figure 2.6.2 B) were transiently altered by the transfer of S-CAR T cells. The relative frequencies of CD4 T cells and B cells decreased in spleen and liver, whereas an increase of B cells and NK cells was detected in the blood. The relative amount of myeloid immune cells, comprised of inflammatory monocytes, dendritic cells (DCs) and neutrophils, had especially increased in the liver. Importantly, the described changes were detected at d12 post transfer, and again levels went back to levels of control mice at d34. Those findings further supported the idea of a contraction of the S-CAR T cell population following initial activation and expansion, with the remaining cells displaying a functionally silenced phenotype unable to exert effector functions *in vivo*.



Figure 2.6.2 Endogenous immune cell compositions. A) Staining for lymphoid markers. **B)** Staining for myeloid markers. Cells were isolated from different body compartments at d12 and d34 post transfer and from untreated control mice (n=3-7). The different cell populations were distinguished by the expression of specific markers (see Material and Methods). n=3.

2.7 Comparison of effector functions exerted by S-CAR T cells and vaccineinduced S-specific T cells

The remaining question with regard to the use of S-CAR T cells in the adoptive therapy setting was whether S-CAR T cells can perform as well as or even better than natural T cells specific for HBsAg. To investigate this, S-specific T cells were generated in CD45.1⁺ mice by application of an optimized vaccination protocol (Figure 2.7.1): Prime vaccination with rHBsAg together with the adjuvants CpG and PCEP followed by a boost with an MVA (Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara) vector led to a frequency of around 3.5% T cells among CD8⁺ cells specific for S-peptides as detected by intracellular cytokine staining (done by Clemens Jäger / Karin Krebs). CD8⁺ T cells were isolated from spleens of vaccinated mice and $1x10^6$ S-specific T cells were adoptively transferred into HBVtg mice. In parallel, adoptive transfer of 1 or $4x10^6$ S-CAR T cells generated with the already described protocol was performed, and treated mice were monitored for 5 weeks.



Figure 2.7.1 Generation of Sspecific T cells by prime-boost vaccination. Prime: CpG, PCEP (adjuvants) + 32µg rHBsAg. Boost: MVApH5-S: HBsAgexpressing Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara vector (1x10⁸).

As shown in Figure 2.7.2 A, transfer of 1×10^6 S-specific T cells did not lead to a change in serum ALT levels in the recipient mice. On the other hand, transfer of S-CAR T cells induced an elevation of ALT levels, which was profound in mice receiving 4×10^6 S-CAR T cells and clearly lower when 1×10^6 S-CAR T cells had been transferred. Importantly, ALT increase was only transient, peaking at d7 as already shown before. When the frequencies of transferred T cells were detected in different body compartments via the congenic marker CD45.1, analysis revealed that S-CAR T cells had effectively homed to the liver at d12 post transfer, representing around 8% of total liver associated lymphocytes. In contrast, the highest frequency of S-specific T cells (4.5% of total leukocytes) was found to be located in the lymph nodes (Figure 2.7.2 B). At d34 post transfer, frequencies of transferred T cells

were low to undetectable for all three treatment groups (see also 2.4.1), which was likely to be the result of a contraction of the transferred T cell population.

To check for antiviral effects, viremia was determined as well as the presence of HBV DNA and HBcAg in the liver (Figure 2.7.2 C+D). As expected, an initial drop of viremia and reduction of viral load in the liver at d12 was followed by the recovery of transgene expression at d34 when transferred T cells had mostly vanished from the circulation. In general, 4x10⁶ S-CAR T cells elicited the most distinct antiviral effect, especially with regard to reduction of cytoplasmic core protein in hepatocytes d12 post transfer (2.7.2 E). Interestingly, however, antiviral effects induced by S-specific T cells and 1x10⁶ S-CAR T cells were comparable to those of 4x10⁶ S-CAR T cells, in spite of the fact that no or little hepatocyte killing could be detected in those mice: reduction of viremia around 1 log compared to d0, and reduction of rcDNA in the liver around 3 fold compared to d34 were achieved in all three treatment groups. Most likely, the influence of non-cytopathic mechanisms regulating HBV replication was especially relevant for S-specific T cells carrying a natural TCR, whereas S-CAR T cells acted as cytotoxic T cells in addition. With regard to the application in a clinical setting, the hepatocyte killing by transferred T cells could cause the risk of immunopathogenesis, but might on the other hand be required for virus elimination. In this respect, S-CAR T cells showed superior effector functions compared to S-specific vaccine-induced T cells in HBVtg mice.



Figure 2.7.2 *In vivo* **comparison** of **S-specific and S-CAR T cells. A**) Serum ALT levels. **B**) Frequencies of transferred T cells among total viable leukocytes in different body compartments d12 and d34 post transfer. **C**) Viremia detected by quantification of viral DNA in the serum. **D**) HBV DNA in the liver detected by qPCR. **E**) Staining of HBcAg from liver sections taken at d12 and d34 post transfer. Scale bar: 200µm.

d34

2.8 Summary: Fate of S-CAR T cells in vivo

According to the results presented in this work, the following scheme summarizes the fate of S-CAR T cells after adoptive transfer into HBVtg mice:

S-CAR T cells have been shown to migrate to the liver, where they initially expanded and were activated upon contact with the antigen. Activation led to the execution of antiviral effects that could be differentiated between i) the direct elimination of HBsAg⁺ hepatocytes, leading to a transient liver damage, and the ii) non-cytopathic reduction of viral DNA by cytokine secretion. Antiviral effects, though, were timely limited due to the fact that most S-CAR T cells underwent apoptosis, leading to a contraction of the T cell population. The remaining S-CAR T cells displayed a memory T cell-like phenotype, but acquired a non-functional state, which was due to (partly antigen-dependent) loss of S-CAR surface expression. Although S-CAR T cells did not acquire a generally exhausted phenotype, the liver microenvironment might have silenced T cell functions in addition.



3 Discussion

3.1 HBV-specific TCR-like antibodies do not function in the CAR context

In the first part of this thesis, HBV-specific TCR-like antibodies were cloned as single chain antibodies for further usage in the context of chimeric antigen receptors. Due to their special structure, TCR-like antibodies combine the fine specificity of a T cell receptor with the biological and pharmacological properties of soluble antibodies. Initially, TCR-like antibodies were developed as tools for following intracellular generation, trafficking and surface expression of peptide-MHC complexes, thereby representing a valuable research tool (Cohen et al., 2003, Dao et al., 2013). Besides employment as diagnostic reagents, they show great potential as therapeutic agents. Following the successful targeting of MAGE-A1 expressing cells with a human TCR-like Fab fragment (Chames et al., 2000), a growing repertoire of TCR-like antibodies has been developed; either by the classical hybridoma technology or by using phage display (Dahan et al., 2012). The majority of published TCR-like antibodies is directed against tumor antigens, but also virus-infected cells can serve as targets as proven by specific recognition of HTLV-1 Tax (Yamano et al., 2004), Influenza M1 (Biddison et al., 2003), CMV pp65 (Makler et al., 2010) and HIV-1 Nef (Nunoya et al., 2009) peptides presented on MHC-I by TCR-like molecules.

The Bertoletti group has described the successful production of antibodies recognizing the immunodominant HBV peptides Env183-91 or C18-27 in complex with HLA-A2 (Figure 2.1.1; Sastry et al., 2011, Ji et al., 2012) by immunizing mice with purified MHC:peptide complexes and subsequent generation of hybridoma cell lines. By employing the Env182A2 antibody, liver biopsy specimens from chronic hepatitis B patients could be specifically stained, and a fluorescently-labelled cargo was efficiently transported to and internalized by HLA-A2-Env expressing cells. Moreover, in comparison to CD8 T cells expressing a receptor with the same specificity, the TCR-like antibody showed a superior sensitivity (Sastry et al., 2011). In a second study, the Env182A2 as well as the C18A2 antibody were successfully used for targeted delivery of IFN α to HBV infected cells (Ji et al., 2012). Those results provided the background for the project of this thesis, with the goal of constructing chimeric antigen receptors based on the TCR-like antibodies. Other studies have already shown that TCR-like constructs can redirect T cells to cancer cells in the context of chimeric receptors (Willemsen et al., 2001; Stewart-Jones et al., 2009; Tassev et al., 2012) or bispecific antibodies (Liddy et al., 2012).

When we used Env183A2 and C18A2 hybridoma supernatants to stain endogenously presented peptides on the surface of the HBV⁺ hepatoma cell lines HepG2-H1.3 (Figure 2.1.2) and HepG2.2.15 (not shown), however, the specificities of the respective antibodies

could not be shown conclusively. Since hepatocytes constitutively express low levels of MHC-I molecules (Gehring et al., 2007) and their antigen-processing machinery is inefficient for the generation of MHC:peptide complexes (Shin et al., 2006), treatment with IFN_Y was perfomed to increase the amount of surface-located MHC complexes. This was also done regularly by the Bertoletti group before staining (Sastry et al., 2011; Low et al., 2012), however with another HBV-replicating cell line (HepG2-117; Sastry 2011), which was not available for our study. In contrast to their findings, IFN_Y treatment led to an increased unspecific antibody binding on HBV-negative cells, especially for Env183A2, which could hardly be distinguished from the staining of HBV-H1.3 cells expressing the targeted complex (Figure 2.1.2). It is likely that the employment of the same HBV-replicating target cell line would have been crucial to confirm the staining on endogenously presented peptides. Yet, HLA-A2 positive cells that were exogenously loaded with the respective peptides were specifically stained with both TCR-like antibodies even without prior IFN_Y treatment (Figure 2.1.3), finally confirming antibody specificity.

In the next step, the TCR-like antibodies were cloned as single chain fragments to be able to construct chimeric antigen receptors similar to the S-CAR (Figure 2.1.1). The cloning procedure involved the amplification of the respective variable domains (Figure 2.1.4) and the fusion by a linker sequence, forming the scFv. The single chain fragments with supposed TCR-like specificities were subsequently cloned into the context of chimeric antigen receptors. The newly constructed CARs could be expressed on HEK 293T cells, however by far not as strong as the S-CAR (Figure 2.1.5 A), suggesting that the receptors were not expressed in an efficient way. In line with that, it was not possible to produce retroviral supernatants capable of transducing human or murine cells (Figure 2.1.6). To finally check whether the TCR-like chimeric antigen receptors had at least retained their specificity, Env183A2-CAR and C18A2-CAR expressing 293T cells were directly stained with streptamers mimicking the respective MHC complexes. Since also those stainings turned out to be negative (Figure 2.1.5 B), the results indicated that re-cloning of the TCR-like antibodies as scFvs has led to inefficient protein expression and loss of antigen specificity or impaired binding affinity.

To increase protein stability, the respective antibodies could be cloned as Fab fragments and as such employed as chimeric constructs, like described by Willemsen and colleagues with the redirection of T cells carrying a Fab-based chimeric receptor to MAGE-A1 expressing cancer cells (Willemsen et al., 2001). In line with that, most of the above-mentioned studies did not employ single chain fragments, but either Fab fragments or complete IgG antibodies for their experiments (Willemsen et al., 2001; Stewart-Jones et al., 2009; Liddy et al., 2012; Yamano et al., 2004; Biddison et al., 2003; Makler et al., 2010;

Nunoya et al., 2009). Moreover, a screening approach using phage display (Nunoya et al., 2009) could be helpful to generate new TCR-like single chain antibodies with a good stability and high affinity to the MHC:peptide complex.

However, several aspects should be considered before starting such time-consuming experiments: Although the affinity of TCR-like antibodies is in general higher than for T cell receptors with the same specificity (Willemsen et al., 2008; Weidanz et al., 2011), the approach of using peptide-MHC specific CARs is dependent on a sufficient amount of peptide-MHC complexes on the infected cell. Although Bertoletti and colleagues have shown specific staining of liver biopsies with their TCR-like antibody, the amount of positively stained cells was highly variable (Sastry et al., 2011), suggesting that the density would be too low for efficient redirection in certain cases of chronic HBV infection. In a different study, Grotenbreg and colleagues showed that Env183A2 exhibits increased sensitivity compared to TCR tetramers with the same specificity, but was, in contrast to the tetramer, not able to recognize different natural variants of the Env183-191 epitope (Low et al., 2012). Furthermore, a general disadvantage of TCRs or TCR-like antibodies is the MHC restriction, which precludes their application to HLA-A2 negative patients – a problem that does not occur with the S-CAR targeting native viral surface proteins. Regarding those points, further studies focused on therapy approaches involving the S-CAR rather than modifying the TCRlike antibody constructs.

3.2 S-CAR grafted NK cells are non-applicable for adoptive immunotherapy

Natural killer cells (NK cells) are an important component of the innate immune system and account for up to 10-15% of human blood lymphocytes (Trinchieri et al., 1989). They are characterized by a CD3⁻CD56⁺ phenotype and by the expression of a variety of activating and inhibitory receptors (Lanier 2005; Yokoyama et al., 2006). NK cells usually acquire a state of unresponsiveness to self by several tolerance mechanisms (Lanier 2005), which can convert into an activated state under certain circumstances. According to the missing self-model suggested by Kärre and colleagues, NK cells sense the absence of MHCI on other cells and react with target cell lysis (Karre et al., 1986). Target cell killing is tightly regulated and suppressed by inhibitory receptors recognizing MHCI molecules. Only in the absence of the dominant inhibitory signals, activating receptors trigger the release of cytotoxic granules and the secretion of various cytokines like IFN_Y and TNF α (Trinchieri et al., 1989, Lanier 2005). In contrast to cytotoxic T cells, cytolysis is mediated without the need of prior sensitization (Trinchieri et al., 1989).

Based on the findings that, instead of T cells, NK cells equipped with a HER-2 specific CAR can specifically lyse HER-2 positive target cells (Kruschinski et al., 2008), the second part of

this thesis dealt with the grafting of primary human NK cells with the S-CAR, a chimeric antigen receptor directed against the HBV surface proteins. Human and murine CD8 T cells were already proven to exert specific effector functions when equipped with the S-CAR (Bohne et al., 2008; Krebs, Böttinger et al., 2013), raising the question whether the adoptive T cell therapy approach could be complemented by parallel use of S-CAR expressing NK cells.

NK cells were expanded from human peripheral blood using an optimized protocol, which resulted in the outgrowth of NK cells with a CD3⁻CD56⁺ phenotype (Figure 2.2.1 A). S-CAR NK cells were generated by two subsequent rounds of transduction with retroviral vectors, which led to moderate but distinct S-CAR expression with a maximum efficiency of around 15% (Figure 2.2.1 B). Remaining CD3⁺ cells, representing T cells as well as NKT cells, were removed from the population; leading to an almost 100% pure NK cell population (Figure 3.2.1 C). This represented an important step, since the impact of other cell types on target cell lysis had to be excluded. Hepatoma cell lines HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cells served as target cell lines, with the latter one having been constructed by stable integration of the HBV genome into HepG2 cells (Sells et al., 1988). For first testings, S-CAR grafted NK cells were cultivated with HBV-negative HepG2 or HBV-positive HepG2.2.15 cells and cell lysis was monitored. Clearly, NK cells induced a profound target cell lysis (Figure 2.2.2) during 24h of co-culture; however lysis was occurring also on HepG2 cells and induced by S-CAR negative NK cells. Those results indicated that NK cells had retained their cytolytic potential during the expansion and transduction procedure, but that target cell killing was unspecific. As already described in the last part, hepatoma cell lines, as other tumor cell lines, are low at MHCI expression, which represents an important activation signal for NK cells (Lanier 2005). Treatment with IFN_Y upregulates MHC-I expression (Zhou et al., 2009) and was therefore applied for HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cells (Figure 2.2.3 A). After treatment with IFNy, unspecific hepatoma cell lysis by NK cells was indeed almost completely blocked. However, S-CAR NK cells did not induce clear additional, antigen-specific lysis of HepG2.2.15 cells (Figure 2.2.3 B), which would suggest that S-CAR NK cells are not functional in an antigenspecific manner.

In contrast to those findings, HER-2 specific NK cells exerted antigen-specific effects when co-cultivated with HER-2 expressing target cell lines and primary tumor cells (Kruschinski et al., 2008). In the case of the HER-2 specific CAR, CAR signaling was apparently able to override the inhibitory signals provided by the corresponding ligands on the target cells. Hepatoma cell lines, though, might differ in the pattern and amount of inhibitory ligands expressed, thereby making it difficult to compare different target cell lines. Besides the target cell line, the CAR-construct itself also determines the strength and quality of the interaction

with the target cell (Chmielewski et al., 2004). The affinity of the HER-2 CAR binding domain with a K_D (dissociation constant) of 10^{-8} M (Kruschinski et al., 2008) is much higher than the binding affinities between known inhibitory NK receptors and their ligands (Vales-Gomez et al., 2000), which is probably contributing to NK cell activation after CAR ligation. The affinity of the S-CAR is not certainly known so far. There have been attempts to determine the affinity of the C8 scFv using surface plasmon resonance (diploma thesis Eva Gückel). Calculation with a special software gave a K_D of 6.56×10^{-5} M, which would suggest an affinity of around factor 6000 lower than for the HER-2 CAR and could explain the different killing abilities of grafted NK cells. However, the K_D calculation might not be trustable, since problems had occurred during the measurement (diploma thesis Eva Gückel). The correct determination of the S-CAR affinity will be subject of future experiments.

Compared to various studies involving the adoptive transfer of genetically engineered T cells, NK cell engineering is not as common. In the tumor setting, NK cells are often unresponsive to malignant cells, providing the rational for NK cell redirection. Besides the HER-2 approach, Imai and colleagues described the successful engraftment of primary NK cells with a CD19 specific CAR, allowing for specific killing of leukemic cells in vitro (Imai et al., 2005). Other studies aimed at the augmentation of antitumor effects induced by NK cells via blockade of inhibitory receptors (Koh et al., 2001) or expression of activating ligands (Cerwenka et al., 2001). In the setting of chronic HBV infection, however, transfer of S-CAR NK cells might not be beneficial, given the risk of unspecific hepatocyte killing that might aggravate and potentiate pre-existing inflammation. Of note, also HER-2-CAR NK cells induced profound IFN_Y secretion upon co-culture with HER-2 negative cells; and degranulation of mock NK cells and lysis of some breast cancer cell lines occurred independent of HER-2 (Kruschinski et al., 2008). Although the specific effects of HER2 NK cells were much stronger, the unspecific effects suggest that clinical application of modified NK cells might cause severe side effects in vivo. According to those results, this study further concentrated on the employment of T cells for adoptive therapy involving the S-CAR.

3.3 Long-term fate and phenotypic characterization of S-CAR T cells in vivo

3.3.1 S-CAR T cells can survive over long term in vivo

The adoptive transfer experiments employing S-CAR T cells in HBVtg mice had so far been conducted with d12 post transfer as the endpoint of analysis. It could be shown that at this time-point, S-CAR T cells pretreated with IL-12 had efficiently homed to the liver, correlating with profound antiviral effects as seen by decrease of viremia as well as of viral DNA in the liver (Krebs, Böttinger et al., 2013). The optimal situation for the treatment of a patient

chronically infected with HBV would be the rapid eradication of all HBV-replicating cells upon a single transfer of S-CAR T cells. However, if this would not be the case, the establishment of a long-lived S-CAR T cell population could eventually control residual or recurrent viral replication.

In the tumor setting, *in vivo* persistence of transferred T cells strongly correlates with the outcome of the disease, as demonstrated inclinical trials for treatment of neuroblastoma with a GD2-specific CAR (Louis 2011), for treatment of CLL with a CD19 specific CAR (Kalos et al., 2011), and for treatment of melanoma using tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (Rosenberg et al., 2011). In both of the latter trials, lymphodepletion was performed prior to adoptive transfer, which was shown to facilitate T cell engraftment and survival (Berger et al., 2009). Suppression of the endogenous immune response creates space in the lymphoid compartment and reduces the competition for homeostatic cytokines like IL-7 and IL-15 (Gattinoni et al., 2005); thereby rendering adoptively transferred T cells more efficient.

T cell depletion or immunosuppression, however, is obsolete in chronic HBV infection, since several studies have reported a relapse of HBV reactivation upon lymphodepletion (Lok et al., 1991; Yeo et al., 2000; Nakamura et al., 1996; Cheng et al., 2004). This enforces the need of stable S-CAR T cell expansion and functionality in an immunocompetent host. To check for the longevity of S-CAR T cells in vivo in HBVtg mice, which feature a fully functional immune system, adoptively transferred S-CAR T cells were monitored over long term. Although peripheral frequencies were constantly decreasing, transferred T cells could be detected up to 13 weeks post transfer (Figure 2.4.2 C). The high standard deviations were due to high inter-individual differences between the recipient mice (Figure 2.4.2 B). Interestingly, also transferred T cells grafted with a CEA-CAR as control receptor survived for up to 9 weeks; indicating that also antigen-independent effects can cause prolonged survival in vivo. Milone and colleagues have described a strong antigen-independent expansion and persistence of cells grafted with a 3rd generation CAR *in vivo*, which was explained by the cytoplasmic co-stimulatory domain that might induce spontaneous aggregation into oligomers (Milone et al., 2009). In addition to CD28, the cytoplasmic part included a domain derived from the TNF receptor family member CD137 (4-1BB). Inclusion of 4-1BB has also been shown to augment CAR-mediated T cell responses, although different studies comparing CD28 and 4-1BB have given conflictive results (Curran et al., 2012). With regard to the S-CAR, constructs employing the 4-1BB costimulatory domain are currently compared to the original CD28-construct in vitro in our laboratory.

In a different experiment of the present study, S-CAR T cells were monitored up to 5 weeks post transfer. Compared to the experiment described above, peripheral frequencies decreased faster, with frequencies below 1% of total lymphocytes at d34 (Figure 2.4.3 B). As shown by analysis of different body compartments, clearance of S-CAR T cells from the

peripheral blood was also accompanied by clearance from lymph nodes, spleen as well as from the liver, where they had initially homed to (Figure 2.4.3 C). Although both experiments described were conducted in the same way, the T cell populations were differing in vitality and proliferation capacity, leading to different transduction efficiencies. Whereas the transduction efficiency in the first experiment was rather low (around 27%; Figure 2.4.2 A) and therefore required the transfer of 8.6x10⁶ cells in total, the efficient transduction (around 70%) in the second experiment allowed for the transfer of only 5.71×10^6 total CD45.1⁺ cells (Figure 2.4.3 A). Since detection in the periphery was done by CD45.1 staining, overall frequencies of transferred T cells in the first experiment were, as expected, much higher. However, since comparable amounts of S-CAR T cells had been transferred, this population must have been decreasing faster in the second experiment, leading to the assumption that the quality of the transferred T cell population influences in vivo survival. A suboptimal activation and therefore transduction rate might lead to rather unresponsive cells that can survive longer in vivo, whereas proper activation before transfer is likely to lead to faster exertion of effector functions and extinction of the cells. In line with that, ALT levels indicating specific liver damage were profoundly elevated in the second (see Figure 2.6.1), but not the first experiment (data not shown). Clearly, the conditions during transduction should aim for optimal transduction efficiency to maximize *in vivo* effector functions. Although frequencies of transferred T cells around 5 weeks post transfer were found to be below 1%, this could still be sufficient to establish long-term protection, similar to the low-level persistence and anti-tumor response described for GD2-specific CAR T cells (Louis et al., 2011).

3.3.2 Antiviral effects *in vivo* are timely limited, although S-CAR T cells retain their effector potential

Although transferred T cells were, with variable frequencies, detectable over long term, the remaining cells were apparently not able to induce antiviral effects at late time-points: Quantification of viral DNA in the liver revealed that the initial reduction 1 week post transfer was followed by increased levels 4 and 9 weeks post transfer that were comparable to mice treated with a control CEA-CAR T cell population (Figure 2.4.4 A). To monitor effects at early time points more closely, mice were sacrificed at d4, 8, 12 and 20 post transfer in a separate experiment. Quantitative analysis of viral DNA in liver (Figure 2.4.4 B) and serum (Figure 2.4.4 C) revealed a time course of antiviral effects, with a maximum decrease of liver and serum HBV DNA 8-14 days post transfer and an increase at d20. Because HBV replication in transgenic mice is driven by the transgene, recurrent virus expression is inevitable.

With regard to a clinical application, however, the maintenance of effector functions *in vivo* would be desirable. For hematological malignancies, a prolonged anti-tumor effect of CAR T

cells has been demonstrated (Brentjens et al., 2011, Kalos et al., 2011). Solid tumors, though, are considered to be much harder to treat, with a hostile tumor environment that might inactivate transferred T cells (Curran 2012). Since also the liver is known for its tolerogenic environment (Protzer et al., 2012), similar problems might occur for treatment of chronic hepatitis B or hepatocellular carcinoma by adoptive T cell therapy.

Some groups have demonstrated that human CAR T cells can retain their effector cell potential upon ex vivo stimulation: when re-isolated cells were co-incubated with the respective antigen, they responded with proliferation and degranulation (Brentjens et al., 2011, Kalos et al., 2011). In our experiments, S-CAR T cells could be reactivated ex vivo in a similar way: splenocytes as well as liver associated lymphocytes (LAL) were re-isolated at day 8 and day 64 post transfer and subsequently stimulated with HBsAg. S-CAR T cells isolated at d8 from both liver and spleen specifically produced IFN_Y upon antigen stimulation (Figure 2.4.6 A), with a frequency of 13% for LAL and 21% for splenocytes. An additional frequency of 5% was found to produce TNF α as a second effector cytokine. Day 8 post transfer correlated with the maximal antiviral effect; therefore S-CAR T cells were expected to exert effector functions. Interestingly, though, also transferred T cells re-isolated at d64 post transfer were shown to specifically react to ex vivo antigen stimulation (Figure 2.4.6 B). The overall frequencies of cytokine-secreting S-CAR T cells were lower than on day 8 and cells were mostly monofunctional with only IFN γ secreted. Nevertheless, those results suggest that S-CAR T cells do not attain a completely unresponsive state in vivo, but partially retain their effector potential in the tolerogenic intrahepatic environment even at late time points. The question why antiviral effects in vivo were nevertheless limited will be discussed in the next parts.

Importantly, S-CAR T cells could be stimulated with the ayw serotype of HBsAg (genotype D), which is expressed in the HBVtg mice (Guidotti et al., 1995), but reacted even stronger to the adw serotype. This can be explained by the fact that the C8 scFv was isolated in a phage display using recombinant HBsAg (adw). The fact that different serotypes can be recognized represents an important advantage for the usage of the S-CAR in the clinical setting.

3.3.3 Exhaustion does not play a major role for S-CAR T cell dysfunction in vivo

Even though effector functions could be partly rescued *ex vivo*, the question remained whether *in vivo* antiviral effects were timely limited, with transferred T cells still being detectable at the same time. A likely explanation for the loss of effector functions *in vivo* is the acquisition of an exhausted state, which is known to occur for endogenous, virus-specific T cells during chronic infection in the LCMV mouse model (Zajac et al., 1998), but also

during chronic infection with human pathogenic viruses including HBV (Shin et al., 2007, Blackburn et al., 2009).

Cytotoxic T cell exhaustion is defined as a state of dysfunction that is characterized by the progressive loss of key components of effector functions (Hofmeyer et al., 2011), namely the inability to produce cytokines, lyse target cells and proliferate (Wherry et al., 2004). Several markers have been shown to be up-regulated on exhausted T cells, with Programmed Death-1 (PD-1) as the probably most investigated one. PD-1 belongs to the CD28 superfamily (Sharpe et al., 2007) and was first discovered on a T cell hybridoma cell line undergoing activation-induced programmed cell death (Ishida et al., 1992). Expression was subsequently found to be more likely due to T cell activation, and is now well described for activated B cells, monocytes and T cells (Agata et al., 1996; Vibhakar et al., 1997). However, PD-1 and its ligands have also important functions for T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. Binding of PD-1 to its ligands transmits a negative regulatory signal to the T cells, which reduces effector functions (Keir et al., 2008). PD-1 has been shown to be highly expressed by exhausted T cells from chronically LCMV infected mice, but not by functional LCMV-specific CD8 cells from mice that had cleared the infection (Barber et al., 2006). Subsequently, this phenotype was also found on virus-specific CD8 T cells in chronic human viral infections, namely HIV (Petrovas et al., 2006), HCV (Urbani et al., 2006) and HBV (Boni et al., 2007).

Since the acquisition of an exhausted state is thought to be mediated by continuous antigen stimulation (Hofmeyer et al., 2011), this might also occur for transferred T cells that are exposed to high amounts of antigen in vivo. CD19 CAR T cells have indeed been shown to be high in PD-1 expression post transfer in patients (Kalos et al., 2011). To check whether S-CAR T cells might exhaust in the HBV-positive environment, re-isolated cells from spleen and liver were stained for PD-1 directly after re-isolation and in addition to the intracellular cytokine staining. Importantly, S-CAR T cells were high at PD-1 expression already before transfer (Figure 2.4.7 B), and higher than non-transduced (S-CAR negative) cells, indicating that the stimulation protocol induces an activated state that might also render the cells more prone to subsequent exhaustion. In vitro stimulation of the freshly transduced T cells revealed that around 40% were able to secrete IFN_{γ} at this time point, representing a rather activated than exhausted state (Figure 2.4.7 B). Re-isolated S-CAR T cells, but not S-CAR negative transferred T cells, also expressed high levels of PD-1 when stained directly ex vivo, as seen up to 13 weeks post transfer (Figure 2.4.7 C). This indicates that the maintenance of PD-1 surface expression in vivo is dependent on stimulation with the cognate antigen. Importantly, overnight re-stimulation led to reactivation of up to 50% of PD-1 positive cells, which suggests that long term *in vivo* stimulation does not generally induce S-CAR T cell exhaustion. However, since re-isolated S-CAR T cells partly secreted IFN_Y as well as TNF α at d8 post transfer, but were found to be monofunctional at d64 post transfer (Figure 2.4.6), a loss of function is evident and partial exhaustion cannot be excluded. That is to say, the progress of exhaustion is described as the hierarchical loss of effector functions, with an early loss of proliferative potential and IL-2 production that is followed by the inability to produce TNF α , and the loss of IFN γ production only at extreme stages of exhaustion (Shin 2007). IFN γ , though, has been demonstrated to be one of the most important cytokines for counteracting HBV replication (Cavanaugh et al., 1997; Guidotti et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2010); therefore PD-1⁺IFN γ ⁺ T cells should still be sufficiently functional to exert antiviral effects.

Further information with regard to specific exhaustion was obtained by transferring S-CAR T cells into C57 BL/6 mice, representing an HBV negative background. Strikingly, re-isolated S-CAR T cells from BL/6 mice were rather low at PD-1 expression compared to cells derived from HBVtg mice and to the phenotype before transfer, confirming an antigen-specific impact on PD-1 expression *in vivo* (Figure 2.4.8 A+B). When BL/6 derived S-CAR T cells were restimulated *ex vivo*, PD-1 was again upregulated, and activated PD-1⁺ cells secreted around 10% more IFNγ compared to HBVtg-derived PD-1⁺cells. Those results point towards a fraction of "truly" exhausted S-CAR T cells *in vivo* in HBVtg mice, although a big proportion of cells can potentially be reactivated also at late time points.

Exhausted T cells are not only characterized by PD-1, but by the co-expression of several inhibitory receptors (Wherry et al., 2007). The severity of chronic infection has been associated with the pattern and intensity of inhibitory receptors expressed (Blackburn et al., 2009). T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-3 (Tim-3), which was originally described as being expressed on T helper 1 cells (Monney et al., 2002), is another inhibitory receptor of special interest in chronic infections: PD-1 and Tim-3 co-expression has been associated with a more severely exhausted CTL phenotype in mice with chronic LCMV (Jin 2010) or Friend leukemia virus infection (Takamura et al., 2010) as well as for HCV-specific T cells in patients (McMahan et al., 2010). Also in the case of chronic HBV infection, Tim-3 has been described as being expressed by exhausted T cells isolated from patients (Raziourrouh et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2011; Nebbia et al., 2012).

Co-staining of transferred S-CAR T cells for Tim-3 as a second exhaustion marker revealed a small population of around 1% probably fully exhausted cells, being positive for PD-1 and Tim-3, as well as IFN γ -negative upon re-stimulation. This was found for LALs, with an even lower frequency of 0.3% for splenocytes, indicating that exhaustion takes place specifically in the liver, but only in a small fraction of T cells. Those data are in line with the previous findings, suggesting the exhaustion of an only minor part of the S-CAR T cell population. They are not shown in this study since they should be validated in further experiments.

Besides PD-1 and Tim-3, LAG-3 and CTLA-4 would also be candidate inhibitory receptors that could be tested in addition (Wherry et al., 2011).

Although a profound frequency of S-CAR T cells remained functional for IFN γ secretion, the treatment of S-CAR-treated HBVtg mice with an antibody blocking PD-1/PD-L1 interaction could provide an insight into possible negative regulatory functions of PD-1 on S-CAR T cells *in vivo.* Blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 interaction has been shown to partially restore virus-specific responses in the chronic LCMV model (Barber et al., 2006) and also for HCV (McMahan et al., 2010) and HBV specific T cells derived from chronically infected individuals (Boni et al., 2007; Fisicaro et al., 2010).

Besides the suppression of effector functions via ligation of inhibitory receptors, immunosuppressive cytokines like IL-10 can also induce T cell anergy (Li et al., 2010). In several models of immune-mediated liver damage, IL-10 was shown to restrict liver damage (Swain et al., 1999; von Freyend et al., 2011). Importantly, IL-10 expression was significantly up-regulated at d12 post transfer in the livers of S-CAR T cell treated HBVtg mice (Krebs, Böttinger et al., 2013). The cellular source is not known so far, but could be liver-resident regulatory T cells (Mosser et al., 2008), Kupffer cells (Knolle et al., 1997) or even transferred, IL-12 primed T cells themselves (Lee et al., 2007). The antibody-mediated blockade of IL-10 (Ha et al., 2008) could further help to dissect different mechanisms leading to the suppression of S-CAR T cell effector functions *in vivo*.

3.3.4 S-CAR surface expression in unstable in vitro and in vivo

Since the apparent loss of effector functions of remaining S-CAR T cells *in vivo* could not be explained by a general exhausted phenotype, S-CAR surface expression, which is crucial for effector cell functions, was analyzed in detail. Importantly, surface-located S-CAR was clearly detectable prior to transfer, as seen by FACS analysis of transduced CD8 T cells (Figure 2.4.2 A, 2.4.3 A). However, S-CAR surface expression of re-isolated T cells was rapidly lost over time: whereas transferred T cells stained positive for the S-CAR at day 4 post transfer, surface staining was low or undetectable at later time points (Figure 2.4.9 A). Interestingly, overnight resting of transferred T cells could partially restore S-CAR surface expression (Figure 2.4.9 B), suggesting that the receptor was still present, but might have been internalized. The fact that S-CAR rescue to the surface was largely diminished when cells were stimulated with rHBsAg (Figure 2.4.9 B) indicated an impact of antigen-stimulation on S-CAR surface expression.

To further investigate this, S-CAR surface expression was analyzed in an *in vitro* setup: T cells were transduced with a construct allowing for parallel expression of the S-CAR with a truncated EGF-receptor (tEGFR) as a control (Figure 2.4.10 A). When S-CAR/tEGFR cells

were subjected to HBsAg stimulation, S-CAR surface expression decreased in a time dependent manner, whereas tEGFR surface expression stayed stable. In the absence of antigen, both receptors were expressed at stable levels for up to 24 hours of incubation time (Figure 2.4.10 B + C). The impact of HBsAg on S-CAR surface expression was further confirmed by stimulation of S-CAR T cells with different antigen concentrations, leading to an antigen-dependent decrease of receptor surface expression, which was correlating with the amount of secreted IFN γ (Figure 2.4.10 D).

Kalos et al. have described similar effects with re-isolated T cells carrying a CD19 CAR: surface-located CAR was internalized within two hours of re-stimulation with CD19expressing cells; however surface expression in vivo seemed to be stable (Kalos et al., 2011). Apart from this study, though, not much information is available dealing with CAR internalization. With regard to natural T cell receptors, however, dynamic surface expression is a commonly described phenomenon: A cycling pool of TCRs is constitutively internalized and re-expressed (Minami et al., 1987; Liu et al., 2000). Besides, TCR engagement induces down-regulation of surface TCR levels, activation of protein kinases, and targeting of activated receptors to lysosomes (Valitutti et al., 1997). Since CAR molecules contain an intracellular signaling domain derived from the CD35 chain, chimeric antigen receptors might exhibit similar kinetics of down regulation upon activation. However, it would have to be shown if the CD3^c part of a CAR underlies the same regulatory mechanisms as the CD3^c chain of a TCR, which seems to be degraded in lysosomes rapidly upon internalization (Valitutti et al., 1997). Furthermore, D'Oro and colleagues have demonstrated that the CD3C part of the TCR is rather important for the stabilization of surface-located receptor complexes (D'Oro et al., 2002), preventing rapid internalization.

When cells expressing both S-CAR and tEGFR were adoptively transferred into HBVtg mice, kinetics of receptor surface expression on peripheral blood cells showed that S-CAR expression decreased much faster than tEGFR expression over time, which was also in line with the changes in mean fluorescence intensity of both receptors (Figure 2.4.11 B). Cells re-isolated from spleen, lymph nodes and liver confirmed this phenotype, and further supported the theory of S-CAR down-regulation *in vivo* (Figure 2.4.11 C). However, also on S-CAR/tEGFR positive cells transferred into HBV negative BL/6 mice, frequencies of surface-located S-CAR decreased more rapidly than for the control receptor tEGFR: Whereas at day 4 post transfer, S-CAR down-regulation only occurred on cells in HBVtg recipient mice (Figure 2.4.12 A), both receptors were expressed at comparable levels at day 8 post transfer (Figure 2.4.12 B) in HBV+ and HBV- recipient mice. Together with the presented *in vitro* results, this indicates that there is indeed an antigen-specific impact on S-

CAR surface expression *in vivo*, which is probably rapidly overridden by other, antigenindependent mechanisms that result from a low stability of the S-CAR.

Of note, also human T cells seem to lose S-CAR surface expression in an antigenindependent way over time when cultured *in vitro* (personal communication Antje Malo), which suggests that the molecule itself might be rather unstable. If this effect is due to lysosomal degradation, blocking of the lysosomal pathway with specific agents (Valitutti 1997) would give more information about the mechanism(s) involved. In addition, a metabolic labeling (Beynon et al., 2005) of S-CAR molecules could give information about protein stability, which might then be improved by the mutation of single amino acids of the intracellular domain. Interestingly, reduced S-CAR surface expression on human T cells could be avoided by stimulation with IL-7 and IL-15 (personal communication Antje Malo), which would in turn strengthen the importance of appropriate culture conditions for S-CAR T cell generation. Furthermore, labeling of the S-CAR with a fluorescent dye could allow for direct analysis of the S-CAR fate upon stimulation via live cell imaging; and also for the performance of FACS-based internalization assays (D'Oro et al., 2002).

3.3.5 Transgene methylation is unlikely to occur in S-CAR T cells

The progressive loss of S-CAR expression, but also less pronounced of tEGFR expression over time could hint to the more rapid loss of transduced T cells compared to nontransduced transferred cells, but might also be result of transgene methylation. Methylation represents an important mechanism of gene regulation in mammalian cells (Momparler et al., 2000), and also plays a major role for transcriptional silencing of retroviruses like murine oncoretroviruses, and retroviral-derived vectors (Challita et al., 1994; Lorincz et al., 2001). The long-terminal repeat, which drives transgene expression, typically contains several CpG dinucleotides that are the target of DNA methyltransferases, with a profound methylation leading to a shut-off of transgene expression (Hoeben et al., 1991; Swindle et al., 2004). The retroviral vector used for transgene expression in this study was derived from the murine stem cell virus (MSCV), which has been shown to lack many repressive cis-acting DNA elements that could induce methylation; however it is not completely protected from this mechanism (Swindle et al., 2004). Swindle and colleagues have described two major clusters of six and seven CpG dinucleotides located within proximity of each other in the MSCV long terminal repeat, and demonstrated that methylation of CpGs in both clusters led to complete silencing of proviral genomes (Swindle et al., 2004).

To test whether there might be such an effect on S-CAR expression, a PCR for specific detection of methylated CpGs, covering the crucial sequences of the LTR, was established (Figure 2.4.12, 2.4.14). When DNA obtained from the livers of HBVtg and BL/6 recipient

mice at different time points was analyzed with this method, a maximum amount of 2 methylated CpGs could be detected among the tested clones (Figure 2.4.15). Transgene silencing, however, would require a much more profound methylation of the promoter (Swindle et al., 2004), therefore suggesting that this mechanism is unlikely to occur in S-CAR T cells.

3.3.6 S-CAR T cells change their memory phenotype in vivo over time

As discussed earlier, long term *in vivo* persistence and functionality of transferred T cells can vary with the stimulation protocol applied prior to transfer and with the composition of the CAR-intrinsic signaling domains (Sadelain et al., 2009; Berger et al., 2009). Furthermore, longevity and efficiency of transferred T cells have been shown to be influenced by the memory phenotype of transferred T cells, which will be discussed below.

A typical T cell response to an acute pathogen usually starts with priming and activation of naïve T cells by APCs in secondary lymphoid organs, which leads to vigorous proliferation and expansion and thereby the formation of a large population of effector T cells (T_E) that exert their effector functions at the site of antigen expression. This is followed by a contraction phase, during which most of the effector cells undergo activation-induced cell death. However, around 5-10% of T cells survive as long-lived memory cells, which seems to be programmed already during the initial window of activation (Masopust et al., 2004; Sallusto et al., 2004; Prlic et al., 2005). Compared to effector cells derived from naïve T cells, immune responses elicited by memory T cells are qualitatively and quantitatively distinct, with an improved magnitude, a faster response and an improved sensitivity to low doses of antigen (Williams et al., 2007; Jameson et al., 2009). The T cell memory pool contains diverse populations that are phenotypically characterized by the expression of certain memory markers. There can be two broad categories distinguished, that show distinct homing potentials and effector functions: effector memory (T_E) and central memory T cells (T_{EM}), which were initially proposed to be discriminable by the absence (T_{EM}) or presence (T_{CM}) of the lymph node homing receptors CD62L (L-Selectin) and CCR7 (Sallusto et al., 1999). Of note, marker expression is much more diverse, which makes the classification of sharply distinct subsets hardly feasible (Jameson et al., 2009). T_{EM} cells, which are mostly localized in peripheral tissues, are generally described to have a more limited life span and a weaker proliferation potential compared to T_{CM}, which are prevalent in lymph nodes and are able to replenish the other memory populations (Bachmann et al., 2005; Jameson et al., 2009). In line with that, several studies have shown that transferred T cells derived from the T_{CM} subset have superior functions with regard to longevity and effector functions in vivo; in preclinical models (Klebanoff et al., 2005; Berger et al., 2008) as well as clinical trials (Louis et al., 2011). In addition, Kalos and colleagues have shown that long-term persisting transferred CD19 CAR T cells had acquired a central memory phenotype *in vivo* over time (Kalos et al., 2011).

In the present study, the memory phenotype of S-CAR T cells and its changes in vivo were determined by co-staining for the markers CD62L (L-Selectin) and CD127 (IL-7R), as proposed (Bachmann 2005) to be adequate markers for discrimination of memory cell subsets (Figure 2.4.16). Untreated CD8⁺ splenocytes stained directly after isolation from the donor mice clearly distributed into 4 different populations (Figure 2.4.16), with doublepositive cells as the most abundant one. Cells expressing both markers are described to be either naïve or central memory T cells (Bachmann et al., 2005), with the first one probably representing the highest frequency in this case. Strikingly, the procedure of activation, expansion and transduction led to the expression of a highly synchronized phenotype of S-CAR T cells with both markers strongly expressed, which hampered the characterization of distinct populations. Importantly, transferred T cells changed their phenotype over time in vivo (Figure 2.4.17, Tables 2.4.2 and 2.4.3). Cells that were re-isolated from blood, liver, spleen and lymph nodes could be clearly differentiated between different memory T cell populations, with varying frequencies depending on the body compartment. Interestingly, more than 70% of transferred T cells that were found in the liver at day 12 had lost CD62L expression, showing an effector memory cell like phenotype comparable to endogenous CD8⁺ liver associated lymphocytes. This held also true for LALs isolated at d34 post transfer, which was consistent with a prolonged and robust exposure to antigen (Kalos 2011). Among transferred T cells found in the blood, the relatively high frequency of 32% effector T cells on day 12 was reduced to 11% on day 34, which seems to reflect the timely limited antiviral effects detected. Of note, also the endogenous CD8 T cell population featured a higher frequency of effector T cells at d12 post transfer compared to d34, suggesting that also endogenous T cells might have been activated and exerted bystander effector functions. Like for LALs, the effector memory cell like population was the most abundant one among transferred blood cells and splenocytes at the late time points.

Importantly, memory formation during chronic infection is different than for acute, resolving infection: the level of antigen persistence strongly influences the relative composition of memory T cell subsets, and continuous antigen stimulation has been shown to suppress the development of long-lived memory populations in the chronic LCMV model (Bachmann et al., 2005). HBV replication in the HBVtg mice is continuously driven by the transgene, thereby rendering the model more similar to a chronic infection, during which a persistent antigen stimulus is present. The high profile of memory cell like populations that are considered to be rather short-lived could be the consequence of this continuous antigen stimulation, and would suggest that, under those conditions, the formation of a long-lived

memory population with the potential of *in vivo* reactivation is rather unlikely. Compared to the chronic infection setting, the phenotype of antigen-specific T cells after a resolved LCMV infection (Bachmann et al., 2005) and HBV infection (Boettler et al., 2006) is marked by co-expression of CD62L and CD127 and thereby representing central memory T cells.

Interestingly, only transferred T cells isolated from lymph nodes were still highly expressing both markers on d12 and, even more sustained, on day 34 post transfer. It would therefore be interesting to investigate whether a long-lived, true memory population had been established and homed to the lymph nodes. A possible experiment to check for the characteristics of remaining S-CAR T cells in the different body compartments would be the specific sorting according to memory marker expression and subsequent transfer in a new group of HBVtg recipient mice, which could then be checked for effects on viral replication, persistence and phenotype of transferred T cells. To evaluate the fate of naïve or memory S-CAR T cells in vivo, an S-CAR transgenic mouse line would have to be generated, which could serve as donor for adoptive transfer experiments. A similar approach was used amongst others by Isogawa and colleagues, who have generated a TCR-transgenic mouse line that allowed for the analysis of intrahepatic priming of naïve T cells (Isogawa et al., 2013). With regard to an application in the clinics, however, a comparable procedure would not be possible due to the essential engraftment of the patient's T cells. Therefore, the protocol of activation and transduction should be designed in a way to allow for efficient T cell repopulation in vivo. This could comprise the isolation of patients T cells with a central memory phenotype prior to transduction (Berger et al., 2008), thereby providing a cell population with greater intrinsic capacity to persist in vivo.

In addition, the cultivation conditions should be adapted to achieve optimal expansion of the desired T cell population. Antibody-mediated stimulation of CD28 has been described to preserve central memory T cells (Bondanza et al., 2006) and to induce telomerase activity (Weng et al., 1996). Adoptively transferred T cells with longer telomeres have been shown to correlate with enhanced anti-tumor efficacy in clinical trials for malignant melanoma (Shen et al., 2007, Rosenberg et al., 2011). In line with that, Schreiber and colleagues have demonstrated that the age of donor mice strongly impacts the anti-tumor response of adoptively transferred splenocytes upon vaccination (Schreiber et al., 2012). Recently, Cieri and colleagues have described a cultivation protocol for human T cells involving IL-7 and IL-15, which instructs the generation of stem-cell like cells from naïve precursors that show great potential for adoptive T cell therapy (Cieri et al., 2013). IL-7/IL-15 stimulation is currently tested for S-CAR engraftment of human T cells (Karin Krebs / Antje Malo). For the experiments presented here, S-CAR T cells were stimulated in the presence of IL-12. Since it was shown that IL-12 might be involved in the regulation of memory formation (Arens et

al., 2010), an unspecific effect of the pretreatment, which initially led to the described synchronized marker expression, on phenotypic changes can therefore not be excluded.

Besides those considerations, in contrast to the HBVtg mouse model, S-CAR T cells could indeed lead to complete elimination of the virus in a chronically infected patient, which would change the environmental circumstances for *in vivo* persisting cells. To test whether long-lived memory populations would rather be established after such a resolved infection, which can be presumed, the evaluation of S-CAR T cells in a model of natural chronic infection would be desirable. Chimpanzees chronically infected with HBV would represent the ideal model; however such experiments underlie several constraints due to the limited availability and ethical considerations (Dandri et al., 2013). Two HBV-infected chimpanzees have been treated with S-CAR T cells so far, but the complete analysis has not been done yet (cooperation with Barbara Rehermann, NIH). Alternatively, the infection of wildtype mice with low doses of Adeno-HBV represents an appropriate model for persistent, but "curable" HBV infection (Huang et al., 2012), and corresponding experiments of S-CAR T cell transfer will be done in the future.

3.3.7 Contraction of the S-CAR T cell population due to induction of apoptosis

As mentioned earlier, vigorous T cell expansion upon activation is usually followed by massive contraction of the T cell population by apoptosis (Williams et al., 2007). Since similar kinetics of T cell expansion and contraction could also be seen for S-CAR T cells *in vivo*, activation-induced cell death seemed to be a likely explanation for this phenomenon. To check whether S-CAR T cells undergo apoptosis upon antigen stimulation, cells were stained with AnnexinV, which allows for detection of early apoptotic cells. When this was done in the *in vitro* stimulation setting, exclusively S-CAR positive cells that were co-incubated with HBsAg showed a time-dependent increase of AnnexinV binding, whereas the level of unstimulated and S-CAR negative cells stayed stable (Figure 2.4.18 A).

Similar results were obtained *in vivo*, with transduced T cells being recognized via tEGFR staining: When cells were re-isolated from different body compartments at d8 post transfer, receptor positive cells were clearly stronger positive for AnnexinV than endogenous and especially receptor negative cells (Figure 2.4.18 B + C). Conclusively, S-CAR T cells are more prone to undergo apoptosis upon antigen stimulation *in vitro* and *in vivo*, which makes activation-induced cell death a likely reason for contraction of the transferred T cell population. The fact that the frequency of receptor positive apoptotic cells in the liver was lower than in blood, spleen and lymph nodes could hint to a more profound induction of apoptosis, thereby leading to a more rapid clearance by cell death in the liver as the site of virus replication. Transferred S-CAR T cells might therefore undergo similar kinetics like

endogenous, antigen-specific T cells. Of note, also S-CAR T cells transferred into BL/6 mice featured AnnexinV-positive cells at d20 post transfer (data not shown). Since apoptosis can also be induced as a consequence of lacking activating signals, different effects might play a role for the survival of S-CAR T cells *in vivo*, with activation-induced cell death representing one of them.

3.3.8 S-CAR T cells derived from HBVtg mice do not show impaired effector functions

As already described, the application of the S-CAR in a clinical setting would imply the engraftment and re-infusion of the patient's own T cells.

Many studies have shown that T cell responses are weak in chronically infected patients, with the abundance of an exhausted phenotype of HBV-specific T cells (Schurich et al., 2011). In addition, chronic HBV infection might also affect the functionality of the global CD8 population (Das et al., 2008). Therefore, the question arose, whether this tolerance might negatively affect the functionality of transferred S-CAR T cells. For the adoptive transfer experiments described so far, however, HBV naïve mice had served as donors for the T cell transfer. To mimic the situation of future clinical treatment settings, S-CAR T cells derived from HBVtg mice, expressing CD45.1 in addition, were tested for effector functions in vitro and in vivo. Parallel expansion and transduction of CD8 T cells from either naïve (HBV-) or HBVtg mice (HBV+) achieved comparable transduction efficiencies (Figure 2.5.1). Subsequent in vitro stimulation with rHBsAg revealed that S-CAR T cells efficiently secreted IFN_Y and released cytotoxic granules upon antigen contact, which was independent of the donor cell background (Figure 2.5.2). Most importantly, S-CAR T cells derived from HBVtg mice did not exhibit inferior persistence and effector functions in vivo: they were detectable up to 13 weeks post transfer (Figure 2.5.4 A), could be efficiently reactivated ex vivo (Figure 2.5.4 B) and showed an even more pronounced reduction of viremia compared to HBV naïve donor cells (Figure 2.5.4 C). Therefore it can be concluded that, at least in the HBVtg mouse model, the HBV positive donor cell background did not lead to suppressed effector functions in vivo.

The intrinsic tolerance of HBV-specific T cells in the HBVtg mice can certainly not be directly compared to the tolerant state of HBV-specific T cells in the chronically infected patient. T cells in the chronic human infection setting exhibit a state of peripheral tolerance, whereas the tolerance in HBVtg mice probably also has a central component and might therefore be harder to break. Since there was no detectable impact of possible tolerance on effector functions in HBVtg mice, those results suggest that adoptive therapy with autologous S-CAR T cells is unlikely to fail due to an HBV-associated impaired T cell function. In line with that goes a study performed by Gehring and colleagues: PBMCs derived from either healthy or

chronically HBV-infected patients were transduced with a T cell receptor directed against HBV core (C18-27) and compared for effector functions *in vitro*. Engraftment with the TCR led to the reconstitution of a multifunctional T cell response upon specific stimulation, without functional differences between TCR-transduced cells from healthy or HBV-positive donors (Gehring et al., 2011). Those results further imply that the tolerogenic mechanisms involved in global T cell exhaustion in chronic HBV patients do not influence *in vitro* engineered T cells.

3.4 S-CAR T cells do not induce severe side effects in HBVtg mice

Another aspect of great importance with regard to a clinical application of S-CAR T cells is the question of side effects that could be caused in the patient. One major risk of adoptive T cell therapy in the tumor setting is the so-called on-target off-tumor effect, which describes the unwanted targeting of healthy cells that also express the respective antigen (Sadelain et al., 2013). In clinical studies employing chimeric antigen receptors, severe adverse effects caused by this phenomenon have already been described: A patient that had received lymphodepleting therapy died after transfer of T cells modified to express a 3rd generation CAR directed against ERBB2 (Morgan et al., 2010). The incidence was correlated to activation of the CAR T cells by low levels of ERBB2 on lung epithelium, which led to massive overstimulation and a lethal cytokine storm. Furthermore, liver toxicity was noticed for patients with renal cell carcinoma treated with CAIX-specific CAR T cells. In this case, the antigen was present in low levels on bile duct epithelial cells (Lamers et al., 2006).

The aspect of the targeting of healthy cells is, probably, of lower importance in the setting of chronic hepatitis B treatment, since HBsAg is not a self-protein and should only be expressed by infected hepatocytes. Nevertheless, the massive amounts of soluble HBsAg present in the serum of chronically infected patients pose the risk of unwanted activation of S-CAR T cells outside of the liver. Although it has been demonstrated that binding of subviral particles does not induce unspecific killing of non-infected hepatyctes *in vitro*, it might lead to extrahepatic cytokine secretion (Bohne et al., 2008), with the risk of an *in vivo* cytokine storm.

Mice treated with S-CAR T cells were therefore carefully observed for the induction of adverse effects. The adoptive transfer of $4x10^6$ S-CAR T cells did not lead to changes in body weight, which would have otherwise hinted at a general illness of the recipient mice. The liver damage induced by S-CAR T cells was moderate and most importantly only transient; peaking at day 8 post transfer and thereby also timely correlating with the maximal antiviral affect (Figure 2.6.1 A). When the sera of treated mice were checked for several

cytokines related to ongoing inflammation, $INF\gamma$, $TNF\alpha$, IL-6 and the chemokine MCP-1 were significantly elevated at d12 post transfer compared to control animals (Figure 2.6.1 C).

The elevation of proinflammatory cytokines can be regarded as surrogate marker for T cell function (Curran et al., 2012), and in a clinical trial employing CD19 S-CAR T cells, the transient increase of IL-6, IFN γ and MCP-1 in blood and bone marrow correlated with the peak of CAR T cell expansion and clinical symptoms (Kalos et al., 2011). Similarly, cytokine levels in HBVtg mice were elevated concomitantly with the peak of antiviral effects (Figure 2.7.2 C) and high amounts of transferred T cells in the liver (Figure 2.7.2 B). Importantly, the elevation of serum cytokines did not lead to any obvious signs of distress in the mice and was also transient, with levels comparable to control mice at d34 post transfer (Figure 2.6.1 C). Interestingly, also the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 was found to be transiently elevated in the serum, which could point towards a regulatory mechanism dampening S-CAR T cell responses. As discussed earlier, IL-10 can be involved in the prevention of excessive liver damage (Swain et al., 1999; von Freyend et al., 2011); and also virus-specific T cells themselves are theoretically able to secrete IL-10, generating an autocrine feedback loop that attenuates antiviral immunity (Abel et al., 2006, Chang et al., 2007). In the HBV transgenic mice, the cell type secreting IL-10 upon S-CAR T cell transfer still has to be determined.

In line with the changes of serum cytokines, also the compositions of endogenous immune cells changed transiently at d12 after S-CAR T cells had been transferred. In the liver, a relative decrease of CD4 and B cell frequencies was accompanied by an increase of myeloid immune cells, especially of inflammatory monocytes and dendritic cells (Figure 2.6.2). Whether those cells might have a regulatory impact on S-CAR T cell function, maybe via IL-10 secretion, might be clarified in future experiments. Importantly, all changes were only transient, and levels went back to normal at d34, when also most of the transferred T cells had been cleared from the circulation.

Those *in vivo* results are encouraging with regard to the safety of S-CAR T cell transfer in the clinics. Some aspects, though, can hardly be investigated in this preclinical model and should therefore be considered in advance. For instance, the amount of circulating HBsAg in patients might differ strongly from the situation in HBVtg mice: the levels in HBVtg mice are, with 1000-1200U/ml, similar to the amounts detected in the low replicative phase of chronic HBV infection (Jaroszewicz et al., 2010). However, patients might feature high levels of virus replication combined with pre-existing liver inflammation, which could over-activate S-CAR T cells and cause severe liver damage. To minimize this risk, patients should be treated with antiviral agents prior to T cell transfer to reduce the amount of virus-replicating hepatocytes and the grade of inflammation. Fortunately, HBV surface proteins are still expressed on the

surface of infected hepatocytes in case of antiviral treatment (Wursthorn et al., 2006), which is crucial for recognition by the S-CAR.

Should S-CAR T cells, despite all necessary precautions, expand in the patient in a noncontrollable way, safeguard mechanisms would allow for the specific depletion of transferred T cells. Accordingly, the S-CAR construct was supplemented with a truncated version of the epidermal growth factor receptor (tEGFR; see also 2.4.5.2). If needed, S-CAR T cells could then theoretically be depleted with the clinically approved antibody cetuximab (Wang et al., 2011). As shown in 2.4.5.3, tEGFR expression seems to be more stable than S-CAR surface expression, which would ensure S-CAR T cell depletion also in the case of S-CAR downregulation.

With regard to enhanced safety of CAR T cell transfer, one could also envision the engraftment of T cells by mRNA electroporation (Zhao et al., 2006, Birkholz et al., 2009). By this, the risk of insertional mutagenesis induced by retroviral transduction of T cells, which is an important point with regard to clinical application, would be circumvented. However, this method would only allow for transient CAR expression, which would presumably require multiple infusions to provide meaningful *in vivo* responses (Sadelain et al., 2013). Besides, the usage of so-called self-inactivating (SIN) retroviral vectors (Yi et al., 2005) or lentiviral vectors (Papayannakos et al., 2013) represent further strategies for gene therapy that are considered to be more safe than gamma-retroviral vectors.

Importantly, in contrast to hematopoietic progenitors (Kustikova et al., 2009; Rivière et al., 2012), T cells seem to be far less susceptible to retroviral vector–induced transformation (Recchia et al., 2006; Newrzela et al., 2008; Scholler et al., 2012), which legitimates the use of retroviral vectors for S-CAR T cell generation.

3.5 S-CAR T cell effector functions are superior to those of vaccine-induced HBV-specific T cells

Finally, with regard to finding the optimal therapeutic strategy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B infection, S-CAR T cells were directly compared with natural HBV-specific T cells in terms of effector functions in HBVtg mice. S-specific T cells were generated by vaccination of CD45.1 mice (Figure 2.7.1), and 1x10⁶ S-specific as well as 1 or 4x10⁶ S-CAR T cells were adoptively transferred into different groups of recipient mice. Analysis at d12 post transfer revealed that S-CAR T cells had effectively homed to the liver, whereas the majority of S-specific T cells was found in the lymph nodes (Figure 2.7.2 B). In line with that, hepatocyte killing was only detected for S-CAR, but not for S-specific T cells (Figure 2.7.2 A) with ALT elevation as surrogate marker. Furthermore, cytoplasmic HBcAg was most efficiently reduced by S-CAR T cells (Figure 2.7.2 E). Interestingly, however, reduction of

viremia as well as HBV DNA in the liver was comparable between all three treatment groups (Figures 2.7.2 C + D). This strongly indicates that non-cytopathic antiviral effects are of special importance in this setting, especially for the mode of action of natural HBV specific T cells. A major contribution of non-cytolytic down-regulation of viral replication was described in studies with experimentally infected chimpanzees (Guidotti et al., 1999) and also HBVtg mice (Guidotti et al., 1996). Nonetheless, the direct killing of hepatocytes might be necessary for complete virus elimination. The fact that clearance of HBV after bone marrow transplantation from anti-HBsAg positive donors was correlated with pronounced ALT elevation (Lau et al., 1997) supports this hypothesis. With regard to this point, S-CAR T cells seem to fulfill the optimal requirements for efficient targeting of HBV *in vivo*.

Although hepatocyte killing was only detected upon transfer of S-CAR T cells in the presented experiments, it has to be mentioned that also vaccine-induced HBV-specific T cells have been shown to be capable of killing target cells *in vivo*, although this has not been demonstrated in the liver (Clemens Jäger, unpublished data). Since the stimulation protocols applied on S-CAR T cells and vaccine-induced T cells in our experiments were not the same, conclusions of different effector functions should be drawn with caution. Interestingly, a recent *in vivo* study employing the adoptive transfer of T cells grafted with an HBV-specific TCR led to elevated ALT levels in the HLA-matched, HBVtg recipient mice at d12 post transfer (Krebs et al., in preparation). This indicates that the kinetics of intrahepatic T cell activation and the exertion of effector functions might differ between adoptively transferred S-CAR and TCR T cells, with the latter ones exhibiting a delayed peak of activation. The fact that, in our setting, the effector functions of S-CAR T cells were superior to those of vaccine-induced S-specific T cells provides a further rationale for the promotion of the S-CAR into the clinics, besides the already mentioned advantages of chimeric antigen receptors over natural T cell receptors.

3.6 Summary and final evaluation: Adoptive immunotherapy for treatment of chronic hepatitis B

The present study dealt with the evaluation of different strategies for treatment of chronic HBV infection using adoptive cell transfer, with the background of a strong need for new treatment approaches that could ensure virus elimination.

In the first part, chimeric antigen receptors derived from T cell receptor-like antibodies were constructed to combine the features of a chimeric T cell receptor with the antigen-binding properties of a natural T cell receptor. However, the newly cloned constructs had lost their

antigen specificity, which illustrated the vulnerability of antibodies to structural changes and led to the exclusion of TCR-like CARs from further evaluations.

The S-CAR represents a chimeric antigen receptor directed against the HBV surface proteins that had already been constructed and evaluated in our group. In the second part of this study, natural killer cells were tested for their ability to specifically eliminate HBV-replicating hepatocytes when equipped with the S-CAR. However, S-CAR grafted NK cells exhibited a strong unspecific killing and S-CAR expression did not lead to redirected lysis of HBV+ target cells, rendering NK cells inapplicable for this treatment approach.

The ability of S-CAR grafted human and murine T cells to exert specific antiviral effector functions provided the rational of the major part of this study, representing a thorough analysis of S-CAR T cells and their properties. It could be shown that S-CAR T cells can survive over long term *in vivo*, accompanied by the acquisition of a memory T cell like phenotype. S-CAR T cells do not generally exhaust upon continuous antigen stimulation and can be reactivated *ex vivo* even at late time points, despite the tolerogenic influence of the hepatic environment. Importantly, S-CAR T cells specifically eliminate HBV replicating hepatocytes, which is probably crucial for virus eradication. Hepatocyte lysis and reduction of viral replication by non-cytopathic pathways, yet, seem to be strictly temporary. Underlying reasons were found to be a contraction of the transferred T cell population due to activation-induced cell death, as well as loss of S-CAR surface expression on the remaining cells.

This silencing of transferred T cells *in vivo* might limit the efficiency of immunotherapy, but could on the other hand have beneficial effects for the patient due to limited pathogenesis and maintenance of liver integrity.

Taken together, and complementing previous work, adoptive therapy with S-CAR T cells was proven to be safe and efficient in our preclinical model, thereby fulfilling important criteria for the further development towards a clinical application.

4 Material and Methods

4.1 Material

4.1.1 Consumables

Product	Supplier
96well plates for qPCR (FrameStar)	4titude
Cell culture flasks, dishes, plates	ТРР
Cell strainer 100µm	BD Biosciences
Cryo vials	Greiner Bio One
Cuvettes	Brand
ELISA 96well plates Nunc MaxiSorb	Thermo Scientific
FACS 96well V-bottom plates	Roth
FACS tubes Titertube Micro Test	Bio-Rad
Falcon tubes 15ml/50ml	BD Biosciences; Greiner Bio One
Filter tips	StarLab
Filters 0.45µm and 0.2µm	Sarstedt
Freezing device	Nalgene
MACS separation columns	Miltenyi Biotech
Needles	Braun
Non-tissue culture treated plates (24well)	Greiner Bio One
PCR tubes	Thermo Scientific
Pipette tips 10ul – 1ml	Biozym / Greiner Bio One / Gilson
Pipettes (disposable) 2, 5, 10, 25, 50ml	Greiner Bio One
PVDF membrane	GE Healthcare
Reaction tubes 1.5ml, 2ml	Greiner Bio One, Eppendorf
Reagent reservoirs	Corning
Reflotron ALT stripes	Roche Diagnostics
Syringes	Braun
Whatman filter paper	GE Healthcare

4.1.2 Chemicals / Reagents / Additives

Product	Supplier
Agarose	PeqLab
Ampicillin	Roth
Bovine serum albumin, BSA	Sigma
Brefeldin A 1mg/ml	Sigma
Bromphenol blue	Roth
Collagen R	Serva
Complete Protease Inhibitor	Roche
DMSO	Sigma
DNA ladder 1kb / 100bp	Eurogentec
dNTPs 25mM	Thermo Scientific
EMA	Life Technologies
FCS	Gibco
Ficoll LSM 1077	РАА
Glucose	Roth
Glutamin 200mM	Gibco
Glycerol	Roth
HBV peptides	JPT Peptide Technologies
Heparin-Natrium 25000	Ratiopharm
Hepes 1M	Gibco
Human serum	own production (AG Protzer)
IFNγ IMUKIN	Boehringer Ingelheim (via pharmacy)
IL-12	Provided by Edgar Schmitt, Mainz
IL-2 Proleukin	Novartis (via pharmacy)
IPTG (Isopropyl-β-D-thiogalactopyranosid)	Thermo Scientific
Ketamine	Sigma (via pharmacy)
Lipofectamin2000	Life Technologies
Milk powder	Roth
NaCl for injection	Braun
Non-essential amino acids 100x	Gibco
PageRuler Prestained protein ladder plus	Thermo Scientific
Paraformaldehyde (PFA) 4%	Medite
PBS 10x	Gibco
Pen/Strep 10 ⁴ mg/ml	Gibco
Percoll	GE Healthcare

Polybrene	Millipore
Poly-L-lysine	Sigma
Propidiumiodide	Roth
Protaminsulfate	Sigma
Recombinant HBsAg (Genotype D, adw/ayw)	Rhein Biotech
Retronectin 1µg/µl	Takara
Rompun 2 %	Bayer
SDS	Roth
Sodium pyruvate 100mM	Gibco
MHC molecules	AG Busch, Microbiology
Tissue-Tek O.C.T.	Sakura
TRI-Reagent (Trizol)	Life Technologies
Tris	Roth
Trypan blue	Gibco
Versene EDTA	Gibco
Yeast extract	Roth
β-Mercaptoethanol 50mM	Gibco

4.1.3 Buffers and solutions

Buffer / Solution	Ingredients
TAC buffer	Solution A: NH₄CI 0.16M Solution B: Tris pH 7.65 0.17M
	Before use, 9/10 of solution A were freshly mixed with 1/10 solution B
50x TAE buffer	Tris 2M Acetic acid 2M EDTA pH 8.0 50mM H_2O
AP buffer (bacterial lysis buffer)	TrisHCI 100mM Saccharose 500mM EDTA 2mM H ₂ O
4x SDS loading buffer (WB)	Glycerol 10ml 0,5M Tris pH 6.8 (HCl) 12ml 10% SDS 20ml Bromphenol blue 0.1g addition of fresh β-ME 100µl/ml; storage at 4°C

	for 11:	
	Tris 200mM	
10x TBS-T buffer pH7.4 (WB)	NaCl 1,4M	
	Tween 20 10ml	
	ad H ₂ O, adjust pH with HCI	
	for 1I:	
10x Running buffer (WB)	Tris 250mM	
	Glycin 2M	
	SDS 1% w/v (10g)	
	ad H ₂ O	
	for 1I:	
	Tris 0.3M	
Buffer A1 (WB)	MetOH 200ml	
	ad H ₂ O	
	for 11:	
	Tris 25 mM	
Buffer A2 (WB)	MetOH 200ml	
	ad H ₂ O	
	for 11:	
Cathode buffer (WB)	Tris 25 mM	
	Aminocapron acid 40mM	
	MetOH 200ml	
Blocking buffer (WB)	Milk powdor 5%	
	for Eml	
	Katamina 200 ul	
Ketamine/Rompun anaesthetic		
	Rompun 125µI	
	NaCl 4075µl	
FACS buffer	PBS	
	BSA 0.1%	
10x AnnevinV hinding buffer	Hepes/NaOH (pH 7.4), 0.1M	
	NaCl 1.4M	
	CaCl ₂ 25mM	
	H ₂ O	

4.1.4 Media

Medium	Ingredients
DMEM complete	DMEM 500ml FCS 10% Pen/Strep, 5000U/ml 1% L-Glutamine, 200mM 1% NEAA, 100x 1% Sodium pyruvate, 100mM 1%
RPMI complete	RPMI 1640 500ml FCS 10% Pen/Strep, 5000U/ml 1% L-Glutamine, 200mM 1% NEAA, 100x 1% Sodium pyruvate, 100mM 1%
DMEM transfection medium without antibiotics	DMEM 500ml FCS 10% L-Glutamine, 200mM 1% NEAA 100x 1% Sodium pyruvate, 100mM 1%
Wash medium	RPMI 1640 500ml Pen/Strep, 5000U/ml 1%
Freezing medium	FCS DMSO 10%
Differentiation medium for hepatoma cells	Williams-E 500ml FCS 5% Pen/Strep, 5000U/ml 1% NEAA, 100x 1% Sodium pyruvate, 100mM 1% DMSO 0.5%
Murine T cell medium (mTCM)	RPMI Dutch modified 500ml FCS 10% Pen/Strep, 5000U/ml 1% L-Glutamine, 200mM 1% NEAA, 100x 1% Sodium pyruvate, 100mM 1% β-ME 50μM
Human T cell medium (hTCM)	RPMI 1640 500 ml Human serum 10% Pen/Strep, 5000U/ml 1% L-Glutamine, 200mM 1% NEAA, 100x 1% Sodium pyruvate, 100mM 1% HEPES 1% Gentamicin 208µl
RPMI ALL (NK cell culture)	RPMI 1640 GlutaMAX 500ml FCS 10% β-ME 50μM Gentamicin 10μg/ml

LB-Amp SOC medium	LB Medium Ampicillin 50µg/ml for 500ml: Yeast extract 2.5g Trypton 10g NaCl 0.29g KCl 0.093g MgCl2x6H2O 1.02g MgSO4x7H2O 1.23g Glucose 1.802g ad H ₂ O
Basis media from Gibco:	
DMEM	
DMEM GlutaMAX	
RPMI 1640	
RPMI 1640Dutch modified	
AIM-V	
OptiMEM	

4.1.5 Antibodies

Product	Dilution	Supplier
Cell culture		
anti-murine CD3	Depending on protocol	Provided by E. Kremmer, Helmholtz Zentrum München
anti-murine CD28	Depending on protocol	Provided by E. Kremmer, Helmholtz Zentrum München
Flow cytometry		
Human antigens		
anti-hCD3 PE	1:200	Molecular Probes
anti-hCD8 Pacific Blue	1:50	Dako
anti-hCD56 PE	1:100	Immunotools
anti-hCD56 APC	1:100	Immunotools
anti-hlgG FITC	1:250	Sigma

anti blaC Dyl iabt640	1:200	Abaam
	1.200	Abcain
anti-nigG PE	1:200	eBiosciences
anti-HLA-A2 FITC	1:200	Labgen
C18A2 (hybridoma supernatant; 10µg/ml)	50µl	provided by E. Kremmer, Helmholtz Zentrum München
Env183A2 (hybridoma supernatant; 10µg/ml)	50µl	provided by E. Kremmer, Helmholtz Zentrum München
Murine antigens		
anti-mCD3 FITC	1:150	BD Biosciences
anti-mCD3 Pacific Blue	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD4 APC-Cy7	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD8 APC	1:200	Life Technologies
anti-mCD8 Pacific Blue	1:250	eBioscience
anti-mCD11b FITC	1:300	Life Technologies
anti-mCD11c PE-Cy7	1:150	BD Biosciences
anti-mCD19 PE	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD19 AlexaFluor594	1.300	BD Biosciences
anti-mCD45.1-FITC	1:250	eBioscience
anti-mCD45.1 APC- eFluor780	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD45.2 PE	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD62L PE-Cy7	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD107a (LAMP-1) Alexa-eFluor647	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mCD127 APC	1:100	eBioscience
anti-mF480 APC	1:150	eBioscience
anti-mLy6C PerCP-Cy5.5		BD Biosciences
anti-mLy6G APC-Cy7		BD Biosciences
anti-mLy6C/G PE	1:200	BD Biosciences
anti-mNK1.1 PerCP-Cy5.5	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mPD1 FITC	1:100	eBioscience
anti-mPD1 Pacific Blue	1:100	eBioscience
anti-mTim3 Alexa- Fluor647	1:100	Biolegend
anti-mIFNγ PE	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mIFNγ PE-Cy7	1:200	eBioscience
anti-mTNFα PE-Cy7	1:200	eBioscience
goat anti-mlgG Alexa647	1:100	Invitrogen
Other		
--------------------------	--------------	-----------------------
AnnexinV FITC	2.5µl/sample	Life Technologies
Streptavidin-PE	1:200	eBioscience
Streptactin-PE	1µl/sample	IBA
Immunohistochemistry		
rabbit-anti-HBcAg		Diagnostic Biosystems
Western Blot		
mouse-anti Histidine-Tag	1:10000	ABD Serotec
anti-mouse HRP	1:10000	Sigma

4.1.6 Cell lines and bacteria

Cell line	Description	Source
HEK 293T	Human embryonic kidney cells	AG Protzer
Platinum-E (Plat-E)	293T, stably transfected with MoMuLV <i>gag, pol</i> and <i>env</i> driven by the EF1α promoter	AG Protzer
HepG2	Human hepatoma cell line	AG Protzer
HepG2.2.15	Human HBV-replicating hepatoma cell line (obtained by stable transfection of HepG2; containing four copies of a 1.1- fold HBV genome; HBV serotype ayw, genotype D) (Sells 1987)	AG Protzer
HepG2-H1.3	Human HBV-replicating hepatoma cell line (obtained by stable transfection of HepG2; containing one copy of a 1.3-fold overlength HBV genome; genotype D)	AG Protzer
B3Z	murine (H2Kb) T cell hybridoma	AG Protzer
Jurkat	human T cell line	AG Krackhardt, MedIII, MRI München
Т2	T-B-cell hybridoma, TAP- deficient	AG Protzer
C18A2.11	murine hybridoma producing C18A2 antibody	AG Bertoletti, Singapore
Env183A2.11	murine hybridoma producing C18A2 antibody	AG Bertoletti, Singapore

Bacteria	Description	Source
Stbl3	E. coli, chemical competent	Invitrogen
XL-1 Blue	E. coli, chemical competent	AG Protzer
BL21 (DE3)	E. coli, chemical competent	provided by AG Miethke (Microbiology)

4.1.7 Mouse lines

Mouse line	Description	Source
C57BL/6	WT BL/6 mice	Harlan Laboratories
C57BL/6 CD45.1	WT BL/6 mouse expressing the congenic marker CD45.1	AG Busch, Microbiology
HBV1.3 xfs	HBV transgenic mouse line; contains a frame shift in the X- protein	AG Protzer
HBV1.3xfs/CD45.1	HBV xfs transgenic mouse line expressing the congenic marker CD45.1	AG Protzer (obtained by cross- breeding; F1 generation used for experiments)

4.1.8 Enzymes

All restriction enzymes used were purchased from Fermentas and used with the respective buffers provided.

Product	Supplier
Collagenase	Worthington Biochemical Corporation
0.5% Trypsin/EDTA 10x	Gibco
Benzonase	Novagen
Proteinase K	Roth
RNase H	Macherey-Nagel
Taq polymerase + Buffer	Qiagen
T4 DNA Ligase	Thermo Scientific
EpiMark Hot Start Taq DNA Polymerase	New England Biolabs

4.1.9 Kits

Product	Supplier
CD8a (Ly2) MicroBeads, mouse	Miltenyi Biotec
CloneJET PCR Cloning Kit	Thermo Scientific
Cytofix-Cytoperm	BD Biosciences
Cytometric Bead Array Mouse Inflammation Kit	BD Biosciences
Dynabeads CD3	Life Technologies
ECL Western Blotting Detection	Pierce
ELISA MAX Standard Set Mouse-IFNy	Biolegend
EpiMark Bisulfite Conversion Kit	New England Biolabs
GeneJet Gel Extraction Kit	Thermo Scientific
GeneJet Plasmid Miniprep Kit	Thermo Scientific
GenElute Endotoxin-free Plasmid Midiprep Kit	Sigma
High Pure PCR Purification Kit	Roche
High Pure Viral Nucleic Acid Kit	Roche
NucleoBond Xtra Maxi Kit	Macherey & Nagel
NucleoSpin Tissue Kit	Macherey & Nagel
Phusion Hot Start Flex Kit	New England Biolabs
Rapid Dephosphorylation and Ligation Kit	Roche
Superscript III Kit	Life Technologies
SYBR Green I Master Mix	Roche
XTT - Cell Proliferation Kit II	Roche

4.1.10 Technical equipment

Product	Supplier
ALT measurement, Reflotron® Reflovet Plus	Roche Diagnostics
Axsym	Abbott
Semi-Dry Blotting Chamber	Bio-Rad
Centrifuge 4K15	Sigma
ELISA-Reader infinite F200	Tecan
Flow cytometer FACSCantoII™	BD Biosciences
Fluorescence microscope CKX41	Olympus
Freezing device	Nalgene

Gel chambers Agarose gelelectrophoresis SDS-PAGE	Peqlab Biometra
Heating block	Eppendorf
Incubator	Heraeus Holding GmbH
LightCycler® 480 II	Roche Diagnostics
MACS separator	Miltenyi
MoFlo cell sorting	Beckman Coulter
Nanophotometer OD ₆₀₀	IMPLEN GmbH
Photo system for agarose gels & Western blots Fusion Fx7	Peqlab
Photometer NanoVue	GE Healthcare
Pipetboy	Brand
Pipettes	Eppendorf
Shaker and incubator for bacteria	INFORS AG Heraeus Holding GmbH
Sterile hood (cell culture)	Heraeus Holding GmbH
Table-top centrifuge 54173	Eppendorf
Thermocycler T300	Biometra

4.1.11 Plasmids

Plasmid name	Application	Source
ppExpr_C8	Expression of C8 scFv in bacteria	provided by Amgene (formerly Micromet)
ppExpr_C18A2	Expression of C18A2 scFv in bacteria	own construction
ppExpr_Env183A2	Expression of Env183A2 scFv in bacteria	own construction
pMSCV_C8	Retroviral expression of the S- CAR in NK cells	provided by Karin Krebs
pCL10A1	Encoding gag-pol-env for production of retroviral supernatants	AG Blankenstein, MDC Berlin
pMP71_hC8	Retroviral expression of the S- CAR in T cells	provided by Karin Krebs
pMP71_CEA	Retroviral expression of the CEA-CAR in T cells	provided by Karin Krebs
pALF10A1	Encoding GALV env for production of retroviral supernatants	AG Uckert, MDC Berlin
pcDNA3.1MLVgag/pol	Encoding MV gag-pol for production of retroviral supernatants	AG Uckert, MDC Berlin

		-
pJET1.2/blunt cloning	cloning of PCR fragments for	Thermo Scientific
VCCIO	Sequencing	

4.1.12 Primer

All primers were synthesized by Life Technologies.

Primer name	Sequence	Application
p-fwHBV	TACTAGGAGGCTGTAGGCATA	Amplification of HBV rcDNA (qPCR)
p-revHBV	GGAGACTCTAAGGCTTCCC	Amplification of HBV rcDNA (qPCR)
mNid2Fw	ATCCTACCGGGAAACAG	Amplification of Nid2 DNA (qPCR)
mNid2Rev	CCCAAGGTCTTCGTTGA	Amplification of Nid2 DNA (qPCR)
S-CAR LTR nested fwd 4	AGTAGAATATGGGTTAAATAGG	Amplification of bisulfite- converted DNA (1 st round)
S-CAR LTR nested rev 4	TGTATTAGTTGGTTAATTAGAT	Amplification of bisulfite- converted DNA (1 st round)
S-CAR LTR nested fwd 2	AAGGATTTGAAATGATTTTGTGTTT	Amplification of bisulfite- converted DNA (2 nd round)
S-CAR LTR nested rev 2	АТСТАААААААСССТСССАААААТ	Amplification of bisulfite- converted DNA (2 nd round)

4.1.13 Software

Software & Application	Supplier
Microsoft Office (data processing)	Microsoft
FlowJo (analysis of FACS data)	Tree Star Inc.
Serial Cloner (molecular cloning)	serialbasics
LightCycler480 (analysis of qPCR data)	Roche Diagnostics
Magellan Software (ELISA read-out)	Tecan
Methlab (primer design for methylation analysis)	Methlab
GraphPad Prism (graphic presentation and statistical analysis)	GraphPad Software
FCAP Array Software	BD Biosciences

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Cell culture methods

4.2.1.1 Cultivation and passaging of cell lines and primary cells

All cells were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ and 95% humidity. 293T and Plat-E cells were trypsinized and split 1:5 every 3 to 4 days. HepG2, HepG2.2.15 and HepG2H1.3 cells were kept in collagen-coated flasks (coating with collagen (1:10 in H_2O) for 1h at 37° C) and split 1:10 once a week. For differentiation, hepatoma cell lines were seeded into collagen-coated 96-well flat-bottom plates and grown until confluent; then the medium was changed to differentiation medium and replaced with fresh medium every 3 to 5 days. Cells were differentiated for at least 4 days to achieve appropriate virus production.

The suspension cells Jurkat, T2 and B3Z were divided 1:5 to 1:10 every 2 to 4 days.

Murine splenocytes and human lymphocytes were split to appropriate density according to the observed growth rate.

4.2.1.2 Counting of cells

 10μ I of the cell suspension were mixed with 10μ I Trypan blue and applied to the cell counting device. Either 2 or 4 quadrants were counted, and the cell count per mI was calculated (with the amount of counted cells in one quadrant multiplied by $1x10^4$).

4.2.1.3 Freezing and thawing of cells

For freezing, cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 4°C, resuspended in 1ml cold freezing medium and transferred into a 2ml cryo vial. Tubes were placed into a freezing device and immediately stored at -80°C. When cells were taken out from liquid nitrogen or -80°C, 1ml pre-warmed medium was directly added to the cells for quick thawing. The cells were resuspended by pipetting and transferred into a 15ml tube containing 9ml warm medium, spun down at 1200-1500rpm for 5min and resuspended in an appropriate amount of the respective culture medium.

4.2.1.4 Peptide loading

To exogenously load cells (T2/HepG2) with peptides, $2x10^6$ cells were resupended in 1ml AIM-V medium and transferred into a 48well plate. The respective peptide was added in a concentration of 1µg/ml and the cells were incubated at 37°C for 1h. After the peptide pulse, cells were transferred into 1.5ml tubes, spun down at 1200rpm for 2min and washed twice. They could subsequently be used for staining experiments.

4.2.1.5 Treatment with IFNγ

For upregulation of MHCI expression, hepatoma cell lines were treated with IFN γ in a concentration of 1000U/ml for 48h.

4.2.1.6 XTT Assay

To test if target cell killing had occurred in a co-culture, an XTT assay was carried out to measure target cell viability. The assay was conducted according to the manufacturer's instructions with some modifications. The target cell medium was replaced by 100µl DMEM without phenol red, 25µl XTT reagent and 0.5µl electron coupling reagent per 96well. The plate was incubated at 37°C for 2h or until an intensive color development could be detected and subsequently read with the Tecan plate reader at 450nm.

4.2.1.7 Transfection of cell lines and production of retroviral supernatants

293T or Plat-E cells were seeded into 6-well plates coated with poly-L-lysine (1:20 in PBS, 1h at 37°) to obtain a confluency of 95% at the day of transfection. Before transfection, the medium was changed to 2ml DMEM transfection medium. Cells were transfected with 4µg DNA per well using Lipofectamine2000 according to the manufacturer's instructions. For production of retroviral supernatants in 293T cells, 2µg of the expression plasmid were co-transfected with 1µg of each of the packaging plasmids.

For the production of retroviral supernatants used for NK cell transduction, 293T cells were seeded into 75cm^2 cell culture flasks and transfected using Lipofectamine2000 with 18µg DNA in total, combining 9µg of the expression vector pMSCV C8 with 9µg packaging plasmid pCL10A1.

Retroviral supernatants were harvested 48h post-transfection and filtered through a 0.45µm filter before transduction. If a second transduction was required, fresh medium was added to the transfected cell line and the harvest was repeated after 24h.

4.2.2 Preparation of primary cells for transduction

4.2.2.1 Isolation of primary human PBMC from peripheral blood

Peripheral blood was drawn from healthy individuals and collected in syringes containing heparin. After 1:1 dilution with RPMI medium or PBS, up to 30ml of blood were carefully pipetted on top of a layer of 15ml cell separation solution in a 50ml tube. Density centrifugation was performed for 20min at 1200xg with the brake switched off. The lymphocyte layer, which was visible as a white ring, was collected carefully, transferred into a new tube and washed twice with 20ml Medium and centrifuging for 300xg. Non-used PBMC were aliquoted and frozen for later applications.

4.2.2.2 Setup of primary human NK cells

Human PBMC (freshly isolated or thawed) were resuspended in RPMI ALL medium in a concentration of 1×10^{6} cells/ml. 20ml cell suspension (2×10^{7} cells) were seeded into a large (150 cm²) tissue flask and incubated 30' at 37°C to allow monocytes and dendritic cells to adhere. After incubation, the supernatant containing the PBMC was carefully collected by decanting and cells were counted again. For NK cell setup, 1.5×10^{6} PBMC per well were seeded together with 5×10^{5} T2 feeder cells/well in a total volume of 5ml RPMI ALL in 6-well plates. Feeder cells were obtained by irradiation of T2 cells in AIM-V medium with a dose of 35Gy. After irradiation in a 50ml tube, T2 cells were spun down, washed and counted. After 5 days of incubation, NK cells were harvested and used for transduction (see 3.2.3.3). To get rid of remaining T cells in the NK cell culture, CD3⁺ cells were depleted using human

CD3 Dynabeads according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.2.2.3 Isolation of primary murine splenocytes

Spleens were removed from sacrificed mice, immediately transferred into tubes containing RPMI wash medium and stored on ice. To isolate lymphocytes, single spleens were put on a 100 μ m cell strainer and meshed with the plunger of a 2ml syringe into a 50ml tube. This was repeated 3 times, adding 3ml of wash medium per step. Collected cells were transferred to a new tube through the same filter to get rid of large cell clumps. After centrifugation for 5min at 1500rpm, the supernatant was removed; cells were resuspended in 2ml TAC buffer and incubated for 2min at room temperature. To stop erythrocyte lysis, 30ml medium were added and the suspension was spun down again. The splenocytes were resuspended in mTCM, counted and stored on ice until further treatment. When whole splenocytes were required, the volume of cell suspension was adjusted to $3x10^6$ cells/ml and cells were incubated overnight in a cell culture flask in the presence of 300 IU/ml IL-2, 2µg/ml anti-mCD3 and 0.1 µg/ml anti-mCD28 antibodies.

4.2.2.4 CD8 purification with magnetic beads

For adoptive transfer experiments, $CD8^+$ T cells were isolated from splenocytes using CD8a magnetic beads and MACS separation columns according to the manufacturer's protocol. Purified $CD8^+$ T cells were counted and adapted to a concentration of $1 - 1.5 \times 10^6$ cells/ml in mTCM. Further steps are described in 4.2.3.5.

4.2.3 Retroviral transduction

4.2.3.1 Retronectin coating

Some transduction protocols required the pre-coating of the plate with Retronectin to allow virus adherence. Retronectin was diluted 1:50 in PBS to achieve a concentration of 20µg/ml, and wells of a non-tissue culture treated 24well plate were coated with 250µl Retronectin solution for 2h at RT. Before cells or virus were added, the coated wells were incubated with 500µl blocking buffer (PBS/2% BSA) for 30min at 37°C and washed twice with PBS.

4.2.3.2 Transduction of suspension cell lines

For transduction of B3Z cells, 24well plates were coated with Retronectin as described above. B3Z cells were seeded on coated plates in a density of 1×10^6 cells/well in 2ml of the respective retroviral supernatant containing 4µg/ml protaminsulfate. Spinoculation was performed for 90min at 800xg and 32°C. After centrifugation, cells were cultivated at 37°C. Jurkat cells were transduced as described in the NK cell transduction protocol (4.2.3.3).

4.2.3.3 NK cell transduction

Primary human NK cells were obtained by cultivation of complete PBMC with T2 feeder cells for 5 days (see 3.2.2.2). Cells were harvested, spun down and resuspended in RPMI ALL medium containing 16µg/ml freshly thawed polybrene and 400 IU/ml IL-2 in a cell density of $5x10^5$ cells/ml. 1ml cell suspension/well were seeded into a 24well plate and 1ml filtered retrovirus supernatant (see 3.2.1.7) was added per well. Transduction was performed via spinoculation for 1.5 - 2h at 2000rpm and 32°C. Cells were incubated at 32°C and 7.5% CO₂. 1 day later, approximately 1.5ml of supernatant were carefully removed from each well and replaced by 1.5ml fresh retrovirus supernatant mixed 1:1 with RPMI ALL medium and containing 12µg/ml polybrene and 400 IU/ml IL-2. Spinoculation was performed a second time and cells were kept for 1 day more at 32°C and 7.5% CO₂. Subsequently, 1.5ml of medium were discarded and the same amount of fresh RPMI ALL medium containing 200 IU IL2/ml was added to the cells. Cells in each well were resuspended with a 1ml pipette and further kept at 37°C and 7.5% CO₂. NK cells were analyzed for transduction efficiency earliest 2 days post transduction.

4.2.3.4 Transduction of human PBMC

For transduction of human PBMC, retroviral supernatants were coated onto Retronectincoated plates by centrifuging for 2h at 2000xg and 32°C. PBMC were added after complete or partial removal of viral supernatants in a density of 1x10⁶ cells/ml in human T cell medium supplemented with 300U/ml IL-2 and spun down for 10min at 1000xg and 32°C. The transduction was repeated after 24h.

4.2.3.5 Transduction of murine cells

Complete murine splenocytes for *in vitro* assays were transduced with the Retronectin protocol as described above for human T cells.

Isolated CD8⁺ murine T cells for adoptive transfer were seeded into 24well plates coated with anti-mCD3 and CD28 antibodies (10µg/ml in PBS; 250µl/well; 2h at 37°C followed by 2x wash) in a density of 1×10^6 cells/well in murine T cells medium containing 5ng/ml IL-12 one day before transduction. Before transduction, 1ml of IL-12 containing supernatant was removed and stored at 37°C. Retroviral supernatants were added with protamine sulfate (4µg/ml) and spinoculated onto CD8⁺ T cells for 2h at 2000rpm and 32°C. After centrifugation, 0.5ml of the supernatant were exchanged by 1ml IL-12 containing supernatant from before. Transduction was repeated 24h later. The cells were checked for transduction efficiency earliest 1d after the second transduction.

4.2.4 Adoptive transfer experiments

4.2.4.1 T cell transfer

For T cell transfer into mice, the cells were resuspended in cold PBS and stored on ice until injection. The cell count was adjusted to contain the right effector cell concentration per mouse $(1-4x10^6 \text{ CAR}^+ \text{ cells})$ in 200µl and injected i.p..

4.2.4.2 Bleeding of mice

To obtain blood from mice during an adoptive transfer experiment, the mice were either bled from the eye after anesthesia with Ketamin/Rompune (10µl per g mouse weight) or bled from the cheek. ~100µl blood were collected in 1.5ml tubes for serum recovery; around 30µl blood were transferred into 1.5ml tubes containing heparin.

4.2.4.3 Blood cell isolation and serum preparation

The blood was collected with a syringe after opening of the thorax and cutting the aorta. To isolate blood cells, approximately 50µl blood were immediately mixed with 10µl heparine to avoid coagulation. Red blood cells were lysed by addition of 10ml TAC buffer and incubation in a 15ml tube at 37°C in the water bath with occasional shaking. The cell suspension was spun down at 350xg for 10min and washed with 10ml PBS before cells were transferred into FACS plates for further analysis.

To obtain murine serum, blood without heparin was centrifuged at 5000xg for 10min at RT in a table-top centrifuge. Serum was transferred into fresh 1.5ml tubes and the centrifugation step was eventually repeated to get rid of remaining blood cells. The serum was used for direct measurement of ALT levels using the Reflotron system and further stored at -20°C.

4.2.4.4 Liver preparation and isolation of liver associated lymphocytes (LAL)

The livers were perfused with cold PBS via the portal vein before excision. Liver pieces for several analyses were cut off with a clean scalpel, and stored according to the different conditions required. The liver parts for LAL isolation were stored on ice in murine T cell medium. As the first step, the liver was put on a 100µm cell strainer in a 4cm cell culture dish and 3ml cold medium were added. The liver tissue was homogenized using the plunger of a 2ml syringe. The cell suspension that had passed the filter was transferred into a 50ml tube with a 20-gauge needle and the homogenization procedure was repeated two times. Collected cells were spun down at 350xg for 10 min and resuspended in sterile-filtered 50ml pre-warmed Williams E medium containing 0.1g collagenase and 70µl 2.5M CaCl₂ per liver. When parts of the liver were used for other analyses, only half of the amount of medium, collagenase and CaCl₂ were added. Collagenase digestion was done at 37°C in the water bath for 20min with occasional shaking. Cells were spun down again, resuspended in 4ml freshly prepared 40% Percoll solution and carefully pipetted onto a layer of 4 ml 80% Percoll solution in a 15ml tube. Density gradient centrifugation was performed at 1400xg for 20min at room temperature with the brakes shut off. The upper layer containing the hepatocytes was carefully removed with a 1ml pipette and discarded, before the white lymphocyte layer was transferred into a fresh tube. If erythrocytes were still present in the lymphocyte layer, 3ml of Ery lysis buffer were added and mixed with the cell suspension. After incubation at RT for 1min, the suspension was spun down for 10min at 1500rpm and RT, followed by resuspension of the cell pellet in 1-2ml mTCM according to the pellet size. LALs could then be counted and used for further analysis.

4.2.4.7 Cultivation of isolated splenocytes and liver associated lymphocytes

When splenocytes or LAL were stimulated or rested overnight, cell concentrations were adjusted to $1-2x10^6$ cells per ml for splenocytes and $5x10^5-1x10^6$ cells per ml for LAL with mTCM. Cells were seeded in 96well plates with 200µl per well.

4.2.4.8 Stimulation with plate-bound rHBsAg

Recombinant HBsAg was diluted in sterile PBS to obtain a concentration of 5µg/ml. 96well flat-bottom plates were coated with 100µl antigen solution for 2h at 37°C or overnight at 4°C. Before cells were added to the plate, the wells were washed two times with 200µl PBS.

4.2.4.9 Isolation of liver DNA

For isolation of liver DNA, a small piece of the fresh, perfused liver tissue was transferred into 180µl buffer T1 of the NucleoSpin Tissue Kit and immediately stored at -20°C. DNA isolation was carried out after the manufacturer's instructions.

4.2.4.10 Isolation of viral serum DNA

To purify viral DNA from the serum, serum samples were diluted 1:20 or 1:30 with PBS after thawing and further processed with the High Pure Nucleic Acid Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.2.4.11 Histopathology

Liver tissue was either embedded in Tissue-Tek and frozen or fixed with 4% PFA and embedded in paraffin. Paraffin sections (2 μ m) were either stained with haematoxylin / eosin or automated immunohistochemistry staining was performed using rabbit-anti-HBcAg (done by AG Heikenwalder). Image acquisition was performed on the DotSlide BX51 (Olympus).

4.2.5 Flow cytometry

4.2.5.1 General procedure

 $1-5x10^5$ cells per staining were resuspended in 50μ I FACS buffer containing the respective antibody/ies in a 96-well V-bottom polystyrene plate. After incubation for 30 min on ice, cells were washed three times with FACS buffer, transferred into FACS tubes in 150µI FACS buffer and analyzed with the FACS Canto II at the same day. To stain for dead cells, 10µI propidiumiodide (1µg/mI) were added directly before the measurement. The obtained FACS data were evaluated with FlowJo Software.

4.2.5.2 Intracellular cytokine staining

For intracellular staining, Brefeldin A was added to the cultured cells in a concentration of 1µg/ml for the last 4-5 hours of stimulation to inhibit cytokine release. Cells were stained for live-dead discrimination by resuspension in 100µl FACS Buffer with EMA (1µg/ml) and incubation for 20min on ice with exposure to light. Cells were washed subsequently 2 times by with FACS buffer before surface stainings were performed. Permeabilization and fixation was achieved by resuspending the cells in 100µl Cytofix/Cytoperm and incubating on ice for 15min. Cells were then washed again and intracellular stainings were performed. General staining procedure was the same, but the staining and all washings were performed using

Perm/Wash buffer. For flow cytometric analysis, the samples were resuspended in 150-200µl FACS buffer.

4.2.5.3 CD107a (LAMP-1) staining

When LAMP-1 staining was performed, the APC-labeled antibody was added directly to the cell culture (1:200) for the last 5 hours of stimulation time. If parallel cytokine staining was done in parallel, BFA was added 1 hour later. To avoid long exposure to light and resulting damage of the LAMP-1 antibody, EMA staining was done by incubation 20min in the dark and additional 10min with light exposure.

4.2.5.4 AnnexinV staining

Since the AnnexinV antibody binding requires the presence of calcium in the staining buffer, staining was performed following the regular staining according to the manufacturer's protocol. Staining was done with 2.5µl antibody and 10µl propidium iodide (50ng/ml) in 100µl AnnexinV-Binding Buffer at RT for 15min; afterwards 100µl binding buffer were added and cells were analyzed immediately.

4.2.5.5 Staining with hybridoma supernatants

To visualize peptide-MHC complexes, the cells were resuspended in 50µl of the respective hybridoma supernatant (C18A2/Env183A2) and incubated for 1h at 4°C. After washing 3 times with FACS buffer, staining with a labeled secondary antibody (anti-murine IgG-APC) was performed and cells were subsequently analyzed by flow cytometry.

4.2.5.6 Streptamer staining

Cells were stained with 0.4µg of the respective MHC:peptide complex mixed with 1µl Streptactin-PE in 50µl FACS buffer for 25min on ice. Staining with additional antibodies was performed subsequently (without a washing step in between).

4.2.5.7 Cytometric bead array

Serum cytokines were measured using the Cytometric Bead Array Mouse Inflammation Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Either undiluted or 1:4 diluted serum samples were incubated with 15µl mixed capture beads and 15µl PE detector for 2h at RT. 5000 beads were acquired; analysis was done with the FCAP Array Software 3.0 (BD Biosciences).

4.2.5.8 Staining cells of the lymphoid and myeloid lineage

To be able to distinguish different cell types belonging to the myeloid lineage, cells from different body compartments were stained against CD45.1, CD3, CD11b, CD11c, F4/80 and Ly6C/G. After the exclusion of CD3+ and CD45.1+ cells, the population was gated on CD11c_{high} cells representing dendritic cells (DCs). Subsequently, cells were gated on the CD11b positive population, and expression of Ly6C/G and F4/80 was used to discriminate between resident macrophages (Ly6C/G negative / F4/80 +), inflammatory monocytes (Ly6C/G intermediate / F4/80 +) and neutrophils (Ly6C/G high / F4/80 -). The panel for staining of the lymphoid lineage contained antibodies against CD45.1 CD3, CD4, CD8, CD19 (B cells), and NK1.1 (NK cells).

4.2.6 Molecular biology

4.2.6.1 Heat-shock transformation of competent bacteria

Chemical competent E.coli were thawed on ice and mixed with approximately 1ng of plasmid DNA by flipping the tube 2-3 times. Cells were incubated for 30min on ice before a heat shock (90sec, 42°C) was performed. The bacteria were put on ice again and either directly plated on LB agar plates containing the respective antibiotic.

For transformation of BL-21 (DE3) bacteria the protocol was modified as following: competent bacteria were added to a tube containing 60ng of plasmid DNA and mixed by pipetting up and down. After 30min incubation on ice, a heat shock was done for 2min at 42°C. Bacteria were then incubated with 900µl soc-medium for 30min at 300rpm. The bacterial suspension was centrifuged for 5min at 350xg and the pellet was resuspended in 100µl LB medium for plating.

Plates were incubated overnight at 37°C in the incubator. Clones were harvested the following day.

4.2.6.2 Isolation of plasmid DNA

For small scale DNA preparation, bacterial clones were grown over night in 5ml LB medium with antibiotic at 37°C and 200rpm in a shaker. 2ml of bacterial suspension were used for plasmid preparation with the GeneJet Plasmid Miniprep Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

To obtain larger amounts of plasmid DNA, a starting culture of the respective bacterial clone was diluted 1:2000 in 50 or 100ml fresh LB medium with antibiotics and cultivated overnight in the shaker. The OD_{260} was measured before preparation, and an appropriate amount of bacterial suspension was spun down and prepared with either a Midiprep or Maxiprep Kit for plasmid preparation.

4.2.6.3 Digestions with restriction enzymes

For analytic purposes, 200 to 500ng DNA were digested in a total reaction volume of 10μ l. Preparative digestions were performed with 1-10µg DNA or the complete PCR product in a total volume of 20 to 50 µl. The respective enzymes were added in concentrations not exceeding 10% (v/v) to samples supplemented with the recommended buffers. Digestion duration was 2 hours for normal enzymes and 30min for FastDigest enzymes. The resulting fragments were controlled via gel electrophoresis.

4.2.6.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

1% agarose gels were prepared with TEA buffer. The gels were run with a voltage between 60 and 110mV.

4.2.6.5 DNA extraction from agarose gels

Staining of the DNA with ethidium bromide (EtBr) allowed for detecting the gel bands with the Fusion system. Long exposure with mutagenic UV light was avoided by applying the safety mode. The relevant bands were excised with a clean scalpel and DNA was extracted using the gel extraction kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.2.6.6 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Approximately 1ng of plasmid DNA were assembled with each 1 μ l of forward and reverse primer (20 pmol/ μ l), 2-5 μ l Taq Reaction Buffer, 0.25-0.4 μ l dNTPs, 0.5 μ l Taq-Polymerase and H₂O in a total volume of 20 to 50 μ l. A PCR programme covered a denaturation phase (95°C, 10 s), primer annealing (55-65°C, according to the respective primers, 20 s) and elongation phase (72°C, duration according to fragment size). The cycle was repeated 35 times; PCR products were controlled by agarose gel electrophoresis.

High-Fidelity PCR reactions were performed with the Phusion PCR kit according to the manufacturers' instructions. If the requested PCR product could be verified via gel electrophoresis, the whole sample was either directly purified with a PCR extraction kit or extracted from a preparative agarose gel (see above).

4.2.6.7 Dephosphorylation and ligation

Vector dephosphorylation and ligation of two fragments in the course of a cloning were performed with the Rapid Dephosphorylation and Ligation Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The dephosphorylated vector was usually mixed with a 10 fold molar excess of the respective insert. Ligation reaction was stored on ice until transformation of competent bacteria was carried out.

4.2.6.8 RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

RNA from hybridoma cell lines was isolated from cell pellets using TRI-Reagent according to the manufacturer's instructions. To generate cDNA, 3μ I RNA were mixed with 1μ I H₂O, 5μ I Buffer and 1μ I Polymerase from the Superscript III Kit and subjected to the following protocol on the PCR cycler:

1) 10min 25°C
 2) 30min 50°C
 3) 5min 85°C
 4) 5min 4°C
 5) Addition of 0.5µl RNase H
 6) 20min 37°C
 7) 4°C

4.2.6.9 Amplification of variable domains using degenerated primers

To clone the variable domains of the antibodies produced by hybridoma cell lines, the generated cDNA was amplified using sets of degenerated primers (provided by Amgene, formerly Micromet) according to the following protocol:

1µl cDNA (diluted 1:3) 4µl 10x Taq buffer (+Mg²⁺) 0.6µl fwd primer 20µM 0.6µl rev primer 20µM 0.25µl dNTPs 25mM 0.2µl Taq polymerase (w/o proof-reading capacity) 33.28 µl H₂O

Programm PCR cycler: 1) 3min 94°C 2) 50sec 94°C 3) 50sec 52°C 4) 60sec 72°C → repeat from 2 (35x) 5) 10min 72°C 6) 4°C

4.2.6.10 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

For quantification of HBV DNA in the liver, purified DNA (see 3.2.4.9) was amplified with primers specific for rcDNA (provided by Ke Zhang/Christian Bach). DNA levels per cell were calculated relative to levels of the single-copy gene Nid2, which was amplified in parallel. A serial dilution of liver DNA served as internal calibrator. To obtain absolute concentrations of viral DNA in the serum, purified serum DNA (see 3.2.4.10) was amplified with the HBV-specific primers in parallel to a serial dilution of a virus standard with known concentration (provided by Christian Bach). The template DNA was amplified with the Light Cycler 480 according to the following protocol:

5μl SYBR Green Master Mix 2x
0.5μl fwd primer (20μM)
0.5μl rev primer (20μM)
2-4 μl template
H₂O to 10μl
Light Cycler Program (rcDNA selective qPCR for HOPE):

1) Initial denaturation 95°C, 300sec
 2) Cyclic denaturation 95°C, 15sec
 3) Annealing 60°C, 15sec
 4) Elongation 72°C, 20sec → repeat from 2) 45 times
 5) Melting curve 65°C – 95°C 0.1°C/sec
 6) Cooling

Data were analyzed with the LightCycler480 software from Roche.

4.2.6.11 Sequencing

For sequencing, DNA plasmids or PCR fragments were adjusted to a concentration of 50ng/µl and sent to GATC Biotech together with the respective sequencing primer (10µM). Obtained sequencing results could be downloaded from the company homepage and further analyzed.

4.2.7 ELISA

Supernatants tested in an ELISA were usually stored at -20°C and freshly diluted with Assay diluent (PBS, 1% BSA) if necessary. Murine IFN γ was detected using the Biolegend ELISA

kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plates were analyzed with the Tecan Plate reader.

4.2.8 Analysis of methylation patterns

4.2.8.1 Bisulfite conversion and bisulfite-specific PCR

Bisulfite conversion of purified DNA was performed with the EpiMark Bisulfite Conversion Kit according to the supplier's instructions. 6µl of converted DNA were used for PCR with the EpiMark Polymerase using primers specific for bisulfite-converted templates designed with the online available software from MethLab. The PCR protocol was designed in principal as described in 3.2.5.6, with some modifications:

1st round (primer pair S-CAR nested 4):

- Annealing temperature 53°C
- Elongation: 68°C, 33sec

1st round (primer pair S-CAR nested 2):

- Annealing temperature 59°C
- Elongation: 68°C, 14sec

4.2.8.2 Detection of methylation patterns

PCR products were cloned into the pJET1.2/blunt cloning vector using the sticky-end cloning protocol provided by the supplier. 1µl of non-purified PCR product allowed for efficient cloning. The resulting clones were tested for presence of the PCR fragments via digestion with Notl/Xbal and subsequently sequenced using a T7 primer.

6 References

- Abel, M., D. Sene, S. Pol, M. Bourliere, T. Poynard, F. Charlotte, P. Cacoub, and S. Caillat-Zucman. "Intrahepatic Virus-Specific II-10-Producing Cd8 T Cells Prevent Liver Damage During Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection." *Hepatology* 44, no. 6 (2006): 1607-16.
- Addison, W. R., K. A. Walters, W. W. Wong, J. S. Wilson, D. Madej, L. D. Jewell, and D. L. Tyrrell.
 "Half-Life of the Duck Hepatitis B Virus Covalently Closed Circular DNA Pool in Vivo Following Inhibition of Viral Replication." [In eng]. J Virol 76, no. 12 (Jun 2002): 6356-63.
- Agata, Y., A. Kawasaki, H. Nishimura, Y. Ishida, T. Tsubata, H. Yagita, and T. Honjo. "Expression of the Pd-1 Antigen on the Surface of Stimulated Mouse T and B Lymphocytes." [In eng]. Int Immunol 8, no. 5 (May 1996): 765-72.
- Ait-Goughoulte, M., J. Lucifora, F. Zoulim, and D. Durantel. "Innate Antiviral Immune Responses to Hepatitis B Virus." [In eng]. *Viruses* 2, no. 7 (Jul 2010): 1394-410.
- Arens, R., and S. P. Schoenberger. "Plasticity in Programming of Effector and Memory Cd8 T-Cell Formation." [In eng]. *Immunol Rev* 235, no. 1 (May 2010): 190-205.
- Bachmann, M. F., P. Wolint, K. Schwarz, P. Jager, and A. Oxenius. "Functional Properties and Lineage Relationship of Cd8+ T Cell Subsets Identified by Expression of II-7 Receptor Alpha and Cd62I." J Immunol 175, no. 7 (2005): 4686-96.
- Baeuerle, P. A., and C. Reinhardt. "Bispecific T-Cell Engaging Antibodies for Cancer Therapy." *Cancer Res* 69, no. 12 (Jun 15 2009): 4941-4.
- Barber, D. L., E. J. Wherry, D. Masopust, B. Zhu, J. P. Allison, A. H. Sharpe, G. J. Freeman, and R. Ahmed. "Restoring Function in Exhausted Cd8 T Cells During Chronic Viral Infection." [In eng]. *Nature* 439, no. 7077 (Feb 9 2006): 682-7.
- Bargou, R., E. Leo, G. Zugmaier, M. Klinger, M. Goebeler, S. Knop, R. Noppeney, et al. "Tumor Regression in Cancer Patients by Very Low Doses of a T Cell-Engaging Antibody." [In eng]. Science 321, no. 5891 (Aug 15 2008): 974-7.
- Baumert, T. F., R. Thimme, and F. von Weizsacker. "Pathogenesis of Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *World J Gastroenterol* 13, no. 1 (Jan 7 2007): 82-90.
- Beck, J., and M. Nassal. "Hepatitis B Virus Replication." [In eng]. *World J Gastroenterol* 13, no. 1 (Jan 7 2007): 48-64.
- Berger, C., M. C. Jensen, P. M. Lansdorp, M. Gough, C. Elliott, and S. R. Riddell. "Adoptive Transfer of Effector Cd8+ T Cells Derived from Central Memory Cells Establishes Persistent T Cell Memory in Primates." J Clin Invest 118, no. 1 (Jan 2008): 294-305.
- Berger, C., C. J. Turtle, M. C. Jensen, and S. R. Riddell. "Adoptive Transfer of Virus-Specific and Tumor-Specific T Cell Immunity." *Curr Opin Immunol* 21, no. 2 (Apr 2009): 224-32.
- Bertoletti, A., and C. Ferrari. "Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses in Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infections: Towards Restoration of Immune Control of Viral Infection." *Gut* 61, no. 12 (Dec 2012): 1754-64.
- Bertoletti, A., M. Maini, and R. Williams. "Role of Hepatitis B Virus Specific Cytotoxic T Cells in Liver Damage and Viral Control." *Antiviral Research* 60, no. 2 (2003): 61-66.
- Beynon, R. J., and J. M. Pratt. "Metabolic Labeling of Proteins for Proteomics." [In eng]. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 4, no. 7 (Jul 2005): 857-72.
- Biddison, W. E., R. V. Turner, S. J. Gagnon, A. Lev, C. J. Cohen, and Y. Reiter. "Tax and M1 Peptide/Hla-A2-Specific Fabs and T Cell Receptors Recognize Nonidentical Structural Features on Peptide/Hla-A2 Complexes." [In eng]. J Immunol 171, no. 6 (Sep 15 2003): 3064-74.
- Birkholz, K., A. Hombach, C. Krug, S. Reuter, M. Kershaw, E. Kampgen, G. Schuler, *et al.* "Transfer of Mrna Encoding Recombinant Immunoreceptors Reprograms Cd4+ and Cd8+ T Cells for Use

in the Adoptive Immunotherapy of Cancer." [In eng]. *Gene Ther* 16, no. 5 (May 2009): 596-604.

- Blackburn, S. D., H. Shin, W. N. Haining, T. Zou, C. J. Workman, A. Polley, M. R. Betts, et al. "Coregulation of Cd8+ T Cell Exhaustion by Multiple Inhibitory Receptors During Chronic Viral Infection." [In eng]. Nat Immunol 10, no. 1 (Jan 2009): 29-37.
- Boeckh, M., W. Leisenring, S. R. Riddell, R. A. Bowden, M. L. Huang, D. Myerson, T. Stevens-Ayers, *et al.* "Late Cytomegalovirus Disease and Mortality in Recipients of Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplants: Importance of Viral Load and T-Cell Immunity." [In eng]. *Blood* 101, no. 2 (Jan 15 2003): 407-14.
- Boettler, T., E. Panther, B. Bengsch, N. Nazarova, H. C. Spangenberg, H. E. Blum, and R. Thimme. "Expression of the Interleukin-7 Receptor Alpha Chain (Cd127) on Virus-Specific Cd8+ T Cells Identifies Functionally and Phenotypically Defined Memory T Cells During Acute Resolving Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *J Virol* 80, no. 7 (Apr 2006): 3532-40.
- Bohne, F., M. Chmielewski, G. Ebert, K. Wiegmann, T. Kurschner, A. Schulze, S. Urban, et al. "T Cells Redirected against Hepatitis B Virus Surface Proteins Eliminate Infected Hepatocytes." *Gastroenterology* 134, no. 1 (Jan 2008): 239-47.
- Bohne, F., and U. Protzer. "Adoptive T-Cell Therapy as a Therapeutic Option for Chronic Hepatitis B." *J Viral Hepat* 1 (2007): 45-50.
- Bondanza, A., V. Valtolina, Z. Magnani, M. Ponzoni, K. Fleischhauer, M. Bonyhadi, C. Traversari, *et al.* "Suicide Gene Therapy of Graft-Versus-Host Disease Induced by Central Memory Human T Lymphocytes." *Blood* 107, no. 5 (2006): 1828-36.
- Boni, C., P. Fisicaro, C. Valdatta, B. Amadei, P. Di Vincenzo, T. Giuberti, D. Laccabue, et al. "Characterization of Hepatitis B Virus (Hbv)-Specific T-Cell Dysfunction in Chronic Hbv Infection." [In eng]. J Virol 81, no. 8 (Apr 2007): 4215-25.
- Boni, C., A. Penna, A. Bertoletti, V. Lamonaca, I. Rapti, G. Missale, M. Pilli, et al. "Transient Restoration of Anti-Viral T Cell Responses Induced by Lamivudine Therapy in Chronic Hepatitis B." [In eng]. J Hepatol 39, no. 4 (Oct 2003): 595-605.
- Bottcher, B., N. Tsuji, H. Takahashi, M. R. Dyson, S. Zhao, R. A. Crowther, and K. Murray. "Peptides That Block Hepatitis B Virus Assembly: Analysis by Cryomicroscopy, Mutagenesis and Transfection." [In eng]. *EMBO J* 17, no. 23 (Dec 1 1998): 6839-45.
- Bowden, Scott, and Stephen Locarnini. "Molecular Diagnostics in Hepatitis B." Chap. 53 In *Principles* of *Molecular Medicine*, edited by MarschallS Runge and Cam Patterson, 554-66: Humana Press, 2006.
- Bowen, D. G., M. Zen, L. Holz, T. Davis, G. W. McCaughan, and P. Bertolino. "The Site of Primary T Cell Activation Is a Determinant of the Balance between Intrahepatic Tolerance and Immunity." [In eng]. *J Clin Invest* 114, no. 5 (Sep 2004): 701-12.
- Brentjens, R. J., I. Riviere, J. H. Park, M. L. Davila, X. Wang, J. Stefanski, C. Taylor, et al. "Safety and Persistence of Adoptively Transferred Autologous Cd19-Targeted T Cells in Patients with Relapsed or Chemotherapy Refractory B-Cell Leukemias." [In eng]. Blood 118, no. 18 (Nov 3 2011): 4817-28.
- Brischwein, K., B. Schlereth, B. Guller, C. Steiger, A. Wolf, R. Lutterbuese, S. Offner, et al. "Mt110: A Novel Bispecific Single-Chain Antibody Construct with High Efficacy in Eradicating Established Tumors." [In eng]. *Mol Immunol* 43, no. 8 (Mar 2006): 1129-43.
- Bruss, V., X. Lu, R. Thomssen, and W. H. Gerlich. "Post-Translational Alterations in Transmembrane Topology of the Hepatitis B Virus Large Envelope Protein." [In eng]. *EMBO J* 13, no. 10 (May 15 1994): 2273-9.
- Bruss, V., and K. Vieluf. "Functions of the Internal Pre-S Domain of the Large Surface Protein in Hepatitis B Virus Particle Morphogenesis." [In eng]. *J Virol* 69, no. 11 (Nov 1995): 6652-7.
- Cavanaugh, V. J., L. G. Guidotti, and F. V. Chisari. "Interleukin-12 Inhibits Hepatitis B Virus Replication in Transgenic Mice." [In eng]. *J Virol* 71, no. 4 (Apr 1997): 3236-43.

- Cerwenka, A., J. L. Baron, and L. L. Lanier. "Ectopic Expression of Retinoic Acid Early Inducible-1 Gene (Rae-1) Permits Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Rejection of a Mhc Class I-Bearing Tumor in Vivo." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, no. 20 (Sep 25 2001): 11521-6.
- Challita, P. M., and D. B. Kohn. "Lack of Expression from a Retroviral Vector after Transduction of Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cells Is Associated with Methylation in Vivo." *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 91, no. 7 (1994): 2567-71.
- Chames, P., S. E. Hufton, P. G. Coulie, B. Uchanska-Ziegler, and H. R. Hoogenboom. "Direct Selection of a Human Antibody Fragment Directed against the Tumor T-Cell Epitope Hla-A1-Mage-A1 from a Nonimmunized Phage-Fab Library." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, no. 14 (Jul 5 2000): 7969-74.
- Chang, J. J., A. J. Thompson, K. Visvanathan, S. J. Kent, P. U. Cameron, F. Wightman, P. Desmond, S. A. Locarnini, and S. R. Lewin. "The Phenotype of Hepatitis B Virus-Specific T Cells Differ in the Liver and Blood in Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 46, no. 5 (Nov 2007): 1332-40.
- Chen, G., W. Lin, F. Shen, U. H. Iloeje, W. T. London, and A. A. Evans. "Past Hbv Viral Load as Predictor of Mortality and Morbidity from Hcc and Chronic Liver Disease in a Prospective Study." [In eng]. *Am J Gastroenterol* 101, no. 8 (Aug 2006): 1797-803.
- Chen, M. T., J. N. Billaud, M. Sallberg, L. G. Guidotti, F. V. Chisari, J. Jones, J. Hughes, and D. R. Milich. "A Function of the Hepatitis B Virus Precore Protein Is to Regulate the Immune Response to the Core Antigen." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, no. 41 (Oct 12 2004): 14913-8.
- Cheng, J. C., M. C. Liu, S. Y. Tsai, W. T. Fang, J. Jer-Min Jian, and J. L. Sung. "Unexpectedly Frequent Hepatitis B Reactivation by Chemoradiation in Postgastrectomy Patients." [In eng]. *Cancer* 101, no. 9 (Nov 1 2004): 2126-33.
- Chisari, F. V., M. Isogawa, and S. F. Wieland. "Pathogenesis of Hepatitis B Virus Infection." *Pathol Biol* (*Paris*) 58, no. 4 (Aug 2010): 258-66.
- Chmielewski, M., and H. Abken. "Car T Cells Transform to Trucks: Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Redirected T Cells Engineered to Deliver Inducible II-12 Modulate the Tumour Stroma to Combat Cancer." [In eng]. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 61, no. 8 (Aug 2012): 1269-77.
- Chmielewski, M., A. Hombach, C. Heuser, G. P. Adams, and H. Abken. "T Cell Activation by Antibody-Like Immunoreceptors: Increase in Affinity of the Single-Chain Fragment Domain above Threshold Does Not Increase T Cell Activation against Antigen-Positive Target Cells but Decreases Selectivity." [In eng]. J Immunol 173, no. 12 (Dec 15 2004): 7647-53.
- Cieri, N., B. Camisa, F. Cocchiarella, M. Forcato, G. Oliveira, E. Provasi, A. Bondanza, *et al.* "II-7 and II-15 Instruct the Generation of Human Memory Stem T Cells from Naive Precursors." *Blood* 121, no. 4 (2013): 573-84.
- Clay, T. M., M. Morse, and H. K. Lyerly. "Redirecting Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Responses with T-Cell Receptor Transgenes." [In eng]. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 2, no. 4 (Apr 2002): 353-60.
- Cohen, C. J., G. Denkberg, A. Lev, M. Epel, and Y. Reiter. "Recombinant Antibodies with Mhc-Restricted, Peptide-Specific, T-Cell Receptor-Like Specificity: New Tools to Study Antigen Presentation and Tcr-Peptide-Mhc Interactions." [In eng]. *J Mol Recognit* 16, no. 5 (Sep-Oct 2003): 324-32.
- Curran, K. J., H. J. Pegram, and R. J. Brentjens. "Chimeric Antigen Receptors for T Cell Immunotherapy: Current Understanding and Future Directions." [In eng]. *J Gene Med* 14, no. 6 (Jun 2012): 405-15.
- D'Oro, U., I. Munitic, G. Chacko, T. Karpova, J. McNally, and J. D. Ashwell. "Regulation of Constitutive Tcr Internalization by the Zeta-Chain." *J Immunol* 169, no. 11 (2002): 6269-78.
- Dahan, R., and Y. Reiter. "T-Cell-Receptor-Like Antibodies Generation, Function and Applications." [In eng]. *Expert Rev Mol Med* 14 (2012): e6.
- Dandri, M., M. Lutgehetmann, and J. Petersen. "Experimental Models and Therapeutic Approaches for Hbv." *Semin Immunopathol* 35, no. 1 (Jan 2013): 7-21.

- Dane, D. S., C. H. Cameron, and M. Briggs. "Virus-Like Particles in Serum of Patients with Australia-Antigen-Associated Hepatitis." [In eng]. *Lancet* 1, no. 7649 (Apr 4 1970): 695-8.
- Dao, T., C. Liu, and D. A. Scheinberg. "Approaching Untargetable Tumor-Associated Antigens with Antibodies." [In Eng]. *Oncoimmunology* 2, no. 7 (Jul 1 2013): e24678.
- Das, A., M. Hoare, N. Davies, A. R. Lopes, C. Dunn, P. T. Kennedy, G. Alexander, et al. "Functional Skewing of the Global Cd8 T Cell Population in Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. J Exp Med 205, no. 9 (Sep 1 2008): 2111-24.
- Doherty, D. G., and C. O'Farrelly. "Innate and Adaptive Lymphoid Cells in the Human Liver." [In eng]. *Immunol Rev* 174 (Apr 2000): 5-20.
- Dubel, S., F. Breitling, P. Fuchs, M. Zewe, S. Gotter, M. Welschof, G. Moldenhauer, and M. Little. "Isolation of Igg Antibody Fv-DNA from Various Mouse and Rat Hybridoma Cell Lines Using the Polymerase Chain Reaction with a Simple Set of Primers." [In eng]. J Immunol Methods 175, no. 1 (Sep 30 1994): 89-95.
- Dudley, M. E., J. R. Wunderlich, P. F. Robbins, J. C. Yang, P. Hwu, D. J. Schwartzentruber, S. L. Topalian, et al. "Cancer Regression and Autoimmunity in Patients after Clonal Repopulation with Antitumor Lymphocytes." [In eng]. Science 298, no. 5594 (Oct 25 2002): 850-4.
- Dudley, M. E., J. C. Yang, R. Sherry, M. S. Hughes, R. Royal, U. Kammula, P. F. Robbins, et al. "Adoptive Cell Therapy for Patients with Metastatic Melanoma: Evaluation of Intensive Myeloablative Chemoradiation Preparative Regimens." [In eng]. J Clin Oncol 26, no. 32 (Nov 10 2008): 5233-9.
- Dumortier, J., K. Schonig, H. Oberwinkler, R. Low, T. Giese, H. Bujard, P. Schirmacher, and U. Protzer. "Liver-Specific Expression of Interferon Gamma Following Adenoviral Gene Transfer Controls Hepatitis B Virus Replication in Mice." *Gene Ther* 12, no. 8 (Apr 2005): 668-77.
- Dunn, C., M. Brunetto, G. Reynolds, T. Christophides, P. T. Kennedy, P. Lampertico, A. Das, et al.
 "Cytokines Induced During Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection Promote a Pathway for Nk Cell-Mediated Liver Damage." [In eng]. J Exp Med 204, no. 3 (Mar 19 2007): 667-80.
- Dunn, C., D. Peppa, P. Khanna, G. Nebbia, M. Jones, N. Brendish, R. M. Lascar, et al. "Temporal Analysis of Early Immune Responses in Patients with Acute Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. Gastroenterology 137, no. 4 (Oct 2009): 1289-300.
- Einsele, H. "Infusion of Cytomegalovirus (Cmv)-Specific T Cells for the Treatment of Cmv Infection Not Responding to Antiviral Chemotherapy." *Blood* 99, no. 11 (2002): 3916-22.
- Eshhar, Z., T. Waks, G. Gross, and D. G. Schindler. "Specific Activation and Targeting of Cytotoxic Lymphocytes through Chimeric Single Chains Consisting of Antibody-Binding Domains and the Gamma or Zeta Subunits of the Immunoglobulin and T-Cell Receptors." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, no. 2 (1993): 720-4.
- Fisicaro, P., C. Valdatta, C. Boni, M. Massari, C. Mori, A. Zerbini, A. Orlandini, *et al.* "Early Kinetics of Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses During Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Gut* 58, no. 7 (Jul 2009): 974-82.
- Fisicaro, P., C. Valdatta, M. Massari, E. Loggi, E. Biasini, L. Sacchelli, M. C. Cavallo, et al. "Antiviral Intrahepatic T-Cell Responses Can Be Restored by Blocking Programmed Death-1 Pathway in Chronic Hepatitis B." [In eng]. Gastroenterology 138, no. 2 (Feb 2010): 682-93, 93 e1-4.
- Ganem, D., and Schneider, R. (2001). Hepadnaviridae Ther viruses and their replication (Lipincott-Raven).
- Garrido, F., F. Ruiz-Cabello, T. Cabrera, J. J. Perez-Villar, M. Lopez-Botet, M. Duggan-Keen, and P. L. Stern. "Implications for Immunosurveillance of Altered Hla Class I Phenotypes in Human Tumours." [In eng]. *Immunol Today* 18, no. 2 (Feb 1997): 89-95.
- Gattinoni, L., S. E. Finkelstein, C. A. Klebanoff, P. A. Antony, D. C. Palmer, P. J. Spiess, L. N. Hwang, *et al.* "Removal of Homeostatic Cytokine Sinks by Lymphodepletion Enhances the Efficacy of Adoptively Transferred Tumor-Specific Cd8+ T Cells." [In eng]. *J Exp Med* 202, no. 7 (Oct 3 2005): 907-12.

- Gehring, A. J., D. Sun, P. T. Kennedy, E. Nolte-'t Hoen, S. G. Lim, S. Wasser, C. Selden, *et al.* "The Level of Viral Antigen Presented by Hepatocytes Influences Cd8 T-Cell Function." [In eng]. *J Virol* 81, no. 6 (Mar 2007): 2940-9.
- Gehring, A. J., S. A. Xue, Z. Z. Ho, D. Teoh, C. Ruedl, A. Chia, S. Koh, *et al.* "Engineering Virus-Specific T
 Cells That Target Hbv Infected Hepatocytes and Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell Lines." J
 Hepatol 55, no. 1 (Jul 2011): 103-10.
- Gerlich, W.H., and Glebe, D. (2010). Hepatitis B-Impfung: altbewährt, doch nicht perfekt. Hepatitis&more, 30-36.
- Gripon, P., I. Cannie, and S. Urban. "Efficient Inhibition of Hepatitis B Virus Infection by Acylated Peptides Derived from the Large Viral Surface Protein." [In eng]. *J Virol* 79, no. 3 (Feb 2005): 1613-22.
- Gripon, P., J. Le Seyec, S. Rumin, and C. Guguen-Guillouzo. "Myristylation of the Hepatitis B Virus Large Surface Protein Is Essential for Viral Infectivity." [In eng]. *Virology* 213, no. 2 (Nov 10 1995): 292-9.
- Gripon, P., S. Rumin, S. Urban, J. Le Seyec, D. Glaise, I. Cannie, C. Guyomard, et al. "Infection of a Human Hepatoma Cell Line by Hepatitis B Virus." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, no. 24 (Nov 26 2002): 15655-60.
- Gross, G., T. Waks, and Z. Eshhar. "Expression of Immunoglobulin-T-Cell Receptor Chimeric Molecules as Functional Receptors with Antibody-Type Specificity." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86, no. 24 (Dec 1989): 10024-8.
- Guidotti, L. G., and F. V. Chisari. "Immunobiology and Pathogenesis of Viral Hepatitis." [In eng]. Annu Rev Pathol 1 (2006): 23-61.
- Guidotti, L. G., T. Ishikawa, M. V. Hobbs, B. Matzke, R. Schreiber, and F. V. Chisari. "Intracellular Inactivation of the Hepatitis B Virus by Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes." *Immunity* 4, no. 1 (Jan 1996): 25-36.
- Guidotti, L. G., B. Matzke, H. Schaller, and F. V. Chisari. "High-Level Hepatitis B Virus Replication in Transgenic Mice." *J Virol* 69, no. 10 (Oct 1995): 6158-69.
- Guidotti, L. G., R. Rochford, J. Chung, M. Shapiro, R. Purcell, and F. V. Chisari. "Viral Clearance without Destruction of Infected Cells During Acute Hbv Infection." [In eng]. Science 284, no. 5415 (Apr 30 1999): 825-9.
- Gunther, S., B. C. Li, S. Miska, D. H. Kruger, H. Meisel, and H. Will. "A Novel Method for Efficient Amplification of Whole Hepatitis B Virus Genomes Permits Rapid Functional Analysis and Reveals Deletion Mutants in Immunosuppressed Patients." [In eng]. *J Virol* 69, no. 9 (Sep 1995): 5437-44.
- Guo, H., D. Jiang, D. Ma, J. Chang, A. M. Dougherty, A. Cuconati, T. M. Block, and J. T. Guo.
 "Activation of Pattern Recognition Receptor-Mediated Innate Immunity Inhibits the Replication of Hepatitis B Virus in Human Hepatocyte-Derived Cells." [In eng]. J Virol 83, no. 2 (Jan 2009): 847-58.
- Ha, S. J., E. E. West, K. Araki, K. A. Smith, and R. Ahmed. "Manipulating Both the Inhibitory and Stimulatory Immune System Towards the Success of Therapeutic Vaccination against Chronic Viral Infections." [In eng]. *Immunol Rev* 223 (Jun 2008): 317-33.
- Hadziyannis, S. J. "Milestones and Perspectives in Viral Hepatitis B." *Liver Int* 31 Suppl 1 (Jan 2011): 129-34.
- Haque, T., G. M. Wilkie, M. M. Jones, C. D. Higgins, G. Urquhart, P. Wingate, D. Burns, *et al.*"Allogeneic Cytotoxic T-Cell Therapy for Ebv-Positive Posttransplantation
 Lymphoproliferative Disease: Results of a Phase 2 Multicenter Clinical Trial." *Blood* 110, no. 4 (Aug 15 2007): 1123-31.
- Hoeben, R. C., A. A. Migchielsen, R. C. van der Jagt, H. van Ormondt, and A. J. van der Eb.
 "Inactivation of the Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus Long Terminal Repeat in Murine
 Fibroblast Cell Lines Is Associated with Methylation and Dependent on Its Chromosomal
 Position." J Virol 65, no. 2 (1991): 904-12.

- Hofmeyer, K. A., H. Jeon, and X. Zang. "The Pd-1/Pd-L1 (B7-H1) Pathway in Chronic Infection-Induced Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Exhaustion." [In eng]. *J Biomed Biotechnol* 2011 (2011): 451694.
- Hombach, A., C. Heuser, T. Marquardt, A. Wieczarkowiecz, V. Groneck, C. Pohl, and H. Abken. "Cd4+
 T Cells Engrafted with a Recombinant Immunoreceptor Efficiently Lyse Target Cells in a Mhc
 Antigen- and Fas-Independent Fashion." [In eng]. J Immunol 167, no. 2 (Jul 15 2001): 1090-6.
- Hosel, M., M. Quasdorff, K. Wiegmann, D. Webb, U. Zedler, M. Broxtermann, R. Tedjokusumo, *et al.* "Not Interferon, but Interleukin-6 Controls Early Gene Expression in Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 50, no. 6 (Dec 2009): 1773-82.
- Huang, L. R., Y. A. Gabel, S. Graf, S. Arzberger, C. Kurts, M. Heikenwalder, P. A. Knolle, and U. Protzer.
 "Transfer of Hbv Genomes Using Low Doses of Adenovirus Vectors Leads to Persistent Infection in Immune Competent Mice." *Gastroenterology* 142, no. 7 (Jun 2012): 1447-50 e3.
- Huang, L. R., H. L. Wu, P. J. Chen, and D. S. Chen. "An Immunocompetent Mouse Model for the Tolerance of Human Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, no. 47 (Nov 21 2006): 17862-7.
- Hui, C. K., A. Lie, W. Y. Au, Y. H. Leung, S. Y. Ma, W. W. Cheung, H. Y. Zhang, *et al.* "A Long-Term Follow-up Study on Hepatitis B Surface Antigen-Positive Patients Undergoing Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation." [In eng]. *Blood* 106, no. 2 (Jul 15 2005): 464-9.
- Ilan, Y., A. Nagler, R. Adler, R. Tur-Kaspa, S. Slavin, and D. Shouval. "Ablation of Persistent Hepatitis B by Bone Marrow Transplantation from a Hepatitis B-Immune Donor." [In eng]. *Gastroenterology* 104, no. 6 (Jun 1993): 1818-21.
- Imai, C., S. Iwamoto, and D. Campana. "Genetic Modification of Primary Natural Killer Cells Overcomes Inhibitory Signals and Induces Specific Killing of Leukemic Cells." [In eng]. Blood 106, no. 1 (Jul 1 2005): 376-83.
- Ishida, Y., Y. Agata, K. Shibahara, and T. Honjo. "Induced Expression of Pd-1, a Novel Member of the Immunoglobulin Gene Superfamily, Upon Programmed Cell Death." [In eng]. EMBO J 11, no. 11 (Nov 1992): 3887-95.
- Isogawa, M., J. Chung, Y. Murata, K. Kakimi, and F. V. Chisari. "Cd40 Activation Rescues Antiviral Cd8+ T Cells from Pd-1-Mediated Exhaustion." [In eng]. *PLoS Pathog* 9, no. 7 (Jul 2013): e1003490.
- Isogawa, M., M. D. Robek, Y. Furuichi, and F. V. Chisari. "Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Inhibits Hepatitis B Virus Replication in Vivo." [In eng]. *J Virol* 79, no. 11 (Jun 2005): 7269-72.
- Iwai, Y., S. Terawaki, M. Ikegawa, T. Okazaki, and T. Honjo. "Pd-1 Inhibits Antiviral Immunity at the Effector Phase in the Liver." [In eng]. *J Exp Med* 198, no. 1 (Jul 7 2003): 39-50.
- Jameson, S. C., and D. Masopust. "Diversity in T Cell Memory: An Embarrassment of Riches." [In eng]. Immunity 31, no. 6 (Dec 18 2009): 859-71.
- Janeway, Travers, Walport, and Shlomchik (2005). Immunobiology, 6 edn (Garland Science Publishing).
- Jaroszewicz, J., B. Calle Serrano, K. Wursthorn, K. Deterding, J. Schlue, R. Raupach, R. Flisiak, *et al.* "Hepatitis B Surface Antigen (Hbsag) Levels in the Natural History of Hepatitis B Virus (Hbv)-Infection: A European Perspective." *J Hepatol* 52, no. 4 (2010): 514-22.
- Jensen MC, Popplewell L, DiGiusto, et al. "A first-in-human clinical trial of adoptive therapy using CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor re-directed T-cells for recurrent/refractory follicular lymphoma". Blood. 2008;110:92a.
- Ji, C., K. S. Sastry, G. Tiefenthaler, J. Cano, T. Tang, Z. Z. Ho, D. Teoh, et al. "Targeted Delivery of Interferon-Alpha to Hepatitis B Virus-Infected Cells Using T-Cell Receptor-Like Antibodies." [In eng]. Hepatology 56, no. 6 (Dec 2012): 2027-38.
- Jin, H. T., A. C. Anderson, W. G. Tan, E. E. West, S. J. Ha, K. Araki, G. J. Freeman, V. K. Kuchroo, and R. Ahmed. "Cooperation of Tim-3 and Pd-1 in Cd8 T-Cell Exhaustion During Chronic Viral Infection." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107, no. 33 (Aug 17 2010): 14733-8.

- Johnson, L. A., R. A. Morgan, M. E. Dudley, L. Cassard, J. C. Yang, M. S. Hughes, U. S. Kammula, *et al.* "Gene Therapy with Human and Mouse T-Cell Receptors Mediates Cancer Regression and Targets Normal Tissues Expressing Cognate Antigen." *Blood* 114, no. 3 (Jul 16 2009): 535-46.
- Jost, S., P. Turelli, B. Mangeat, U. Protzer, and D. Trono. "Induction of Antiviral Cytidine Deaminases Does Not Explain the Inhibition of Hepatitis B Virus Replication by Interferons." [In eng]. J Virol 81, no. 19 (Oct 2007): 10588-96.
- Kalos, M., B. L. Levine, D. L. Porter, S. Katz, S. A. Grupp, A. Bagg, and C. H. June. "T Cells with Chimeric Antigen Receptors Have Potent Antitumor Effects and Can Establish Memory in Patients with Advanced Leukemia." [In eng]. *Sci Transl Med* 3, no. 95 (Aug 10 2011): 95ra73.
- Kann, M. and Gerlich, W.H. (2005). Hepatitis B. In Topley & Wilson's Microbiology and Microbial Infections: Virology (Hodder Arnold, London).
- Kao, J. H. "Role of Viral Factors in the Natural Course and Therapy of Chronic Hepatitis B." [In eng]. *Hepatol Int* 1, no. 4 (Dec 2007): 415-30.
- Karre, K., H. G. Ljunggren, G. Piontek, and R. Kiessling. "Selective Rejection of H-2-Deficient Lymphoma Variants Suggests Alternative Immune Defence Strategy." [In eng]. *Nature* 319, no. 6055 (Feb 20-26 1986): 675-8.
- Kassel, R., M. W. Cruise, J. C. Iezzoni, N. A. Taylor, T. L. Pruett, and Y. S. Hahn. "Chronically Inflamed Livers up-Regulate Expression of Inhibitory B7 Family Members." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 50, no. 5 (Nov 2009): 1625-37.
- Keir, M. E., M. J. Butte, G. J. Freeman, and A. H. Sharpe. "Pd-1 and Its Ligands in Tolerance and Immunity." [In eng]. *Annu Rev Immunol* 26 (2008): 677-704.
- Klebanoff, C. A., L. Gattinoni, P. Torabi-Parizi, K. Kerstann, A. R. Cardones, S. E. Finkelstein, D. C. Palmer, et al. "Central Memory Self/Tumor-Reactive Cd8+ T Cells Confer Superior Antitumor Immunity Compared with Effector Memory T Cells." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, no. 27 (Jul 5 2005): 9571-6.
- Knabel, M., T. J. Franz, M. Schiemann, A. Wulf, B. Villmow, B. Schmidt, H. Bernhard, H. Wagner, and D. H. Busch. "Reversible Mhc Multimer Staining for Functional Isolation of T-Cell Populations and Effective Adoptive Transfer." [In eng]. *Nat Med* 8, no. 6 (Jun 2002): 631-7.
- Knolle, P. A., E. Loser, U. Protzer, R. Duchmann, E. Schmitt, K. H. zum Buschenfelde, S. Rose-John, and G. Gerken. "Regulation of Endotoxin-Induced II-6 Production in Liver Sinusoidal Endothelial Cells and Kupffer Cells by II-10." *Clin Exp Immunol* 107, no. 3 (1997): 555-61.
- Koh, C. Y. "Augmentation of Antitumor Effects by Nk Cell Inhibitory Receptor Blockade in Vitro and in Vivo." *Blood* 97, no. 10 (2001): 3132-37.
- Kondo, Y., M. Ninomiya, E. Kakazu, O. Kimura, and T. Shimosegawa. "Hepatitis B Surface Antigen Could Contribute to the Immunopathogenesis of Hepatitis B Virus Infection." ISRN Gastroenterol 2013 (2013): 935295.
- Krebs, K., N. Bottinger, L. R. Huang, M. Chmielewski, S. Arzberger, G. Gasteiger, C. Jager, et al. "T Cells Expressing a Chimeric Antigen Receptor That Binds Hepatitis B Virus Envelope Proteins Control Virus Replication in Mice." [In eng]. Gastroenterology 145, no. 2 (Aug 2013): 456-65.
- Kruschinski, A., A. Moosmann, I. Poschke, H. Norell, M. Chmielewski, B. Seliger, R. Kiessling, *et al.* "Engineering Antigen-Specific Primary Human Nk Cells against Her-2 Positive Carcinomas."
 [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, no. 45 (Nov 11 2008): 17481-6.
- Kustikova, O. S., B. Schiedlmeier, M. H. Brugman, M. Stahlhut, S. Bartels, Z. Li, and C. Baum. "Cell-Intrinsic and Vector-Related Properties Cooperate to Determine the Incidence and Consequences of Insertional Mutagenesis." [In eng]. *Mol Ther* 17, no. 9 (Sep 2009): 1537-47.
- Lai, Ching Lung, Vlad Ratziu, Man-Fung Yuen, and Thierry Poynard. "Viral Hepatitis B." *The Lancet* 362, no. 9401 (2003): 2089-94.
- Lamers, C. H., S. Sleijfer, A. G. Vulto, W. H. Kruit, M. Kliffen, R. Debets, J. W. Gratama, G. Stoter, and E. Oosterwijk. *Treatment of Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma with Autologous T-Lymphocytes Genetically Retargeted against Carbonic Anhydrase Ix: First Clinical Experience*. J Clin Oncol. 2006 May 1;24(13):e20-2.

Lanier, L. L. "Nk Cell Recognition." [In eng]. Annu Rev Immunol 23 (2005): 225-74.

- Lau, G. K., A. S. Lok, R. H. Liang, C. L. Lai, E. K. Chiu, Y. L. Lau, and S. K. Lam. "Clearance of Hepatitis B Surface Antigen after Bone Marrow Transplantation: Role of Adoptive Immunity Transfer." *Hepatology* 25, no. 6 (1997): 1497-501.
- Lavanchy, D. "Hepatitis B Virus Epidemiology, Disease Burden, Treatment, and Current and Emerging Prevention and Control Measures." [In eng]. *J Viral Hepat* 11, no. 2 (Mar 2004): 97-107.
- Lee, J. B., K. A. Lee, and J. Chang. "Phenotypic Changes Induced by II-12 Priming Regulate Effector and Memory Cd8 T Cell Differentiation." [In eng]. *Int Immunol* 19, no. 9 (Sep 2007): 1039-48.
- Leistner, C. M., S. Gruen-Bernhard, and D. Glebe. "Role of Glycosaminoglycans for Binding and Infection of Hepatitis B Virus." *Cell Microbiol* 10, no. 1 (Jan 2008): 122-33.
- Li, J., W. Wu, G. Peng, F. Chen, M. Bai, M. Zheng, and Z. Chen. "Hbcag Induces Interleukin-10 Production, Inhibiting Hbcag-Specific Th17 Responses in Chronic Hepatitis B Patients." [In eng]. *Immunol Cell Biol* 88, no. 8 (Nov-Dec 2010): 834-41.
- Liang, T. J. "Hepatitis B: The Virus and Disease." *Hepatology* 49, no. 5 Suppl (May 2009): S13-21.
- Liaw, Y. F., and C. M. Chu. "Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Lancet* 373, no. 9663 (Feb 14 2009): 582-92.
- Liddy, N., G. Bossi, K. J. Adams, A. Lissina, T. M. Mahon, N. J. Hassan, J. Gavarret, *et al.* "Monoclonal Tcr-Redirected Tumor Cell Killing." [In eng]. *Nat Med* 18, no. 6 (Jun 2012): 980-7.
- Liu, H., M. Rhodes, D. L. Wiest, and D. A. Vignali. "On the Dynamics of Tcr:Cd3 Complex Cell Surface Expression and Downmodulation." *Immunity* 13, no. 5 (2000): 665-75.
- Lok, A. S., R. H. Liang, E. K. Chiu, K. L. Wong, T. K. Chan, and D. Todd. "Reactivation of Hepatitis B Virus Replication in Patients Receiving Cytotoxic Therapy. Report of a Prospective Study." [In eng]. *Gastroenterology* 100, no. 1 (Jan 1991): 182-8.
- Lopes, A. R., P. Kellam, A. Das, C. Dunn, A. Kwan, J. Turner, D. Peppa, *et al.* "Bim-Mediated Deletion of Antigen-Specific Cd8 T Cells in Patients Unable to Control Hbv Infection." [In eng]. *J Clin Invest* 118, no. 5 (May 2008): 1835-45.
- Lorincz, M. C., D. Schubeler, and M. Groudine. "Methylation-Mediated Proviral Silencing Is Associated with Mecp2 Recruitment and Localized Histone H3 Deacetylation." [In eng]. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, no. 23 (Dec 2001): 7913-22.
- Louis, C. U., B. Savoldo, G. Dotti, M. Pule, E. Yvon, G. D. Myers, C. Rossig, *et al.* "Antitumor Activity and Long-Term Fate of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Positive T Cells in Patients with Neuroblastoma." [In eng]. *Blood* 118, no. 23 (Dec 1 2011): 6050-6.
- Low, J. L., A. Naidoo, G. Yeo, A. J. Gehring, Z. Z. Ho, Y. H. Yau, S. G. Shochat, *et al.* "Binding of Tcr Multimers and a Tcr-Like Antibody with Distinct Fine-Specificities Is Dependent on the Surface Density of HIa Complexes." [In eng]. *PLoS One* 7, no. 12 (2012): e51397.
- Lowin, B., M. Hahne, C. Mattmann, and J. Tschopp. "Cytolytic T-Cell Cytotoxicity Is Mediated through Perforin and Fas Lytic Pathways." [In eng]. *Nature* 370, no. 6491 (Aug 25 1994): 650-2.
- Lucifora, J., S. Arzberger, D. Durantel, L. Belloni, M. Strubin, M. Levrero, F. Zoulim, O. Hantz, and U. Protzer. "Hepatitis B Virus X Protein Is Essential to Initiate and Maintain Virus Replication after Infection." [In eng]. J Hepatol 55, no. 5 (Nov 2011): 996-1003.
- Lucifora, J., D. Durantel, B. Testoni, O. Hantz, M. Levrero, and F. Zoulim. "Control of Hepatitis B Virus Replication by Innate Response of Heparg Cells." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 51, no. 1 (Jan 2010): 63-72.
- Maher, J., R. J. Brentjens, G. Gunset, I. Riviere, and M. Sadelain. "Human T-Lymphocyte Cytotoxicity and Proliferation Directed by a Single Chimeric Tcrzeta /Cd28 Receptor." [In eng]. *Nat Biotechnol* 20, no. 1 (Jan 2002): 70-5.
- Maini, M. K., C. Boni, C. K. Lee, J. R. Larrubia, S. Reignat, G. S. Ogg, A. S. King, *et al.* "The Role of Virus-Specific Cd8(+) Cells in Liver Damage and Viral Control During Persistent Hepatitis B Virus Infection." *J Exp Med* 191, no. 8 (Apr 17 2000): 1269-80.
- Maini, M. K., and A. Schurich. "The Molecular Basis of the Failed Immune Response in Chronic Hbv: Therapeutic Implications." *J Hepatol* 52, no. 4 (Apr 2010): 616-9.

- Makler, O., K. Oved, N. Netzer, D. Wolf, and Y. Reiter. "Direct Visualization of the Dynamics of Antigen Presentation in Human Cells Infected with Cytomegalovirus Revealed by Antibodies Mimicking Tcr Specificity." [In eng]. *Eur J Immunol* 40, no. 6 (Jun 2010): 1552-65.
- Masopust, D., S. M. Kaech, E. J. Wherry, and R. Ahmed. "The Role of Programming in Memory T-Cell Development." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Immunol* 16, no. 2 (Apr 2004): 217-25.
- McMahan, R. H., L. Golden-Mason, M. I. Nishimura, B. J. McMahon, M. Kemper, T. M. Allen, D. R. Gretch, and H. R. Rosen. "Tim-3 Expression on Pd-1+ Hcv-Specific Human Ctls Is Associated with Viral Persistence, and Its Blockade Restores Hepatocyte-Directed in Vitro Cytotoxicity." [In eng]. J Clin Invest 120, no. 12 (Dec 2010): 4546-57.
- McMahon, B. J., W. L. Alward, D. B. Hall, W. L. Heyward, T. R. Bender, D. P. Francis, and J. E. Maynard. "Acute Hepatitis B Virus Infection: Relation of Age to the Clinical Expression of Disease and Subsequent Development of the Carrier State." [In eng]. J Infect Dis 151, no. 4 (Apr 1985): 599-603.
- Michel, M. L. "Towards Immunotherapy for Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infections." *Vaccine* 20 Suppl 4 (Dec 19 2002): A83-8.
- Milich, D. R., J. E. Jones, J. L. Hughes, J. Price, A. K. Raney, and A. McLachlan. "Is a Function of the Secreted Hepatitis B E Antigen to Induce Immunologic Tolerance in Utero?" [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, no. 17 (Sep 1990): 6599-603.
- Milone, M. C., J. D. Fish, C. Carpenito, R. G. Carroll, G. K. Binder, D. Teachey, M. Samanta, et al. "Chimeric Receptors Containing Cd137 Signal Transduction Domains Mediate Enhanced Survival of T Cells and Increased Antileukemic Efficacy in Vivo." [In eng]. Mol Ther 17, no. 8 (Aug 2009): 1453-64.
- Minami, Y., L. E. Samelson, and R. D. Klausner. "Internalization and Cycling of the T Cell Antigen Receptor. Role of Protein Kinase C." *J Biol Chem* 262, no. 27 (1987): 13342-7.
- Momparler, R. L., and V. Bovenzi. "DNA Methylation and Cancer." *J Cell Physiol* 183, no. 2 (2000): 145-54.
- Mondelli, M. U., S. Varchetta, and B. Oliviero. "Natural Killer Cells in Viral Hepatitis: Facts and Controversies." [In eng]. *Eur J Clin Invest* 40, no. 9 (Sep 2010): 851-63.
- Monney, L., C. A. Sabatos, J. L. Gaglia, A. Ryu, H. Waldner, T. Chernova, S. Manning, *et al.* "Th1-Specific Cell Surface Protein Tim-3 Regulates Macrophage Activation and Severity of an Autoimmune Disease." [In eng]. *Nature* 415, no. 6871 (Jan 31 2002): 536-41.
- Morgan, R. A., M. E. Dudley, J. R. Wunderlich, M. S. Hughes, J. C. Yang, R. M. Sherry, R. E. Royal, *et al.* "Cancer Regression in Patients after Transfer of Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes." *Science* 314, no. 5796 (Oct 6 2006): 126-9.
- Morgan, R. A., J. C. Yang, M. Kitano, M. E. Dudley, C. M. Laurencot, and S. A. Rosenberg. "Case Report of a Serious Adverse Event Following the Administration of T Cells Transduced with a Chimeric Antigen Receptor Recognizing Erbb2." [In eng]. *Mol Ther* 18, no. 4 (Apr 2010): 843-51.
- Morita, S., T. Kojima, and T. Kitamura. "Plat-E: An Efficient and Stable System for Transient Packaging of Retroviruses." [In eng]. *Gene Ther* 7, no. 12 (Jun 2000): 1063-6.
- Mosser, D. M., and X. Zhang. "Interleukin-10: New Perspectives on an Old Cytokine." [In eng]. Immunol Rev 226 (Dec 2008): 205-18.
- Nakamura, Y., T. Motokura, A. Fujita, T. Yamashita, and E. Ogata. "Severe Hepatitis Related to Chemotherapy in Hepatitis B Virus Carriers with Hematologic Malignancies. Survey in Japan, 1987-1991." [In eng]. *Cancer* 78, no. 10 (Nov 15 1996): 2210-5.
- Nebbia, G., D. Peppa, A. Schurich, P. Khanna, H. D. Singh, Y. Cheng, W. Rosenberg, *et al.* "Upregulation of the Tim-3/Galectin-9 Pathway of T Cell Exhaustion in Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection." *PLoS One* 7, no. 10 (2012): e47648.
- Newrzela, S., K. Cornils, Z. Li, C. Baum, M. H. Brugman, M. Hartmann, J. Meyer, et al. "Resistance of Mature T Cells to Oncogene Transformation." [In eng]. Blood 112, no. 6 (Sep 15 2008): 2278-86.

- Nunoya, J., T. Nakashima, A. Kawana-Tachikawa, K. Kiyotani, Y. Ito, K. Sugimura, and A. Iwamoto. "Short Communication: Generation of Recombinant Monoclonal Antibodies against an Immunodominant Hla-a*2402-Restricted Hiv Type 1 Ctl Epitope." *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 25, no. 9 (2009): 897-904.
- Op den Brouw, M. L., R. S. Binda, M. H. van Roosmalen, U. Protzer, H. L. Janssen, R. G. van der Molen, and A. M. Woltman. "Hepatitis B Virus Surface Antigen Impairs Myeloid Dendritic Cell Function: A Possible Immune Escape Mechanism of Hepatitis B Virus." [In eng]. Immunology 126, no. 2 (Feb 2009): 280-9.
- Ott, J. J., G. A. Stevens, J. Groeger, and S. T. Wiersma. "Global Epidemiology of Hepatitis B Virus Infection: New Estimates of Age-Specific Hbsag Seroprevalence and Endemicity." [In eng]. *Vaccine* 30, no. 12 (Mar 9 2012): 2212-9.
- Papayannakos, C., and R. Daniel. "Understanding Lentiviral Vector Chromatin Targeting: Working to Reduce Insertional Mutagenic Potential for Gene Therapy." [In eng]. *Gene Ther* 20, no. 6 (Jun 2013): 581-8.
- Park, J. R., D. L. Digiusto, M. Slovak, C. Wright, A. Naranjo, J. Wagner, H. B. Meechoovet, *et al.* "Adoptive Transfer of Chimeric Antigen Receptor Re-Directed Cytolytic T Lymphocyte Clones in Patients with Neuroblastoma." *Mol Ther* 15, no. 4 (2007): 825-33.
- Park, T. S., S. A. Rosenberg, and R. A. Morgan. "Treating Cancer with Genetically Engineered T Cells." *Trends Biotechnol* 29, no. 11 (Nov 2011): 550-7.
- Parkhurst, M. R., J. C. Yang, R. C. Langan, M. E. Dudley, D. A. Nathan, S. A. Feldman, J. L. Davis, *et al.* "T Cells Targeting Carcinoembryonic Antigen Can Mediate Regression of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer but Induce Severe Transient Colitis." [In eng]. *Mol Ther* 19, no. 3 (Mar 2011): 620-6.
- Peggs, K. S., S. Verfuerth, A. Pizzey, N. Khan, M. Guiver, P. A. Moss, and S. Mackinnon. "Adoptive Cellular Therapy for Early Cytomegalovirus Infection after Allogeneic Stem-Cell Transplantation with Virus-Specific T-Cell Lines." [In eng]. *Lancet* 362, no. 9393 (Oct 25 2003): 1375-7.
- Petersen, J., and M. Buti. "Considerations for the Long-Term Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis B with Nucleos(T)Ide Analogs." [In eng]. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 6, no. 6 (Dec 2012): 683-93; quiz 94.
- Petersen, J., M. Dandri, W. Mier, M. Lutgehetmann, T. Volz, F. von Weizsacker, U. Haberkorn, *et al.* "Prevention of Hepatitis B Virus Infection in Vivo by Entry Inhibitors Derived from the Large Envelope Protein." [In eng]. *Nat Biotechnol* 26, no. 3 (Mar 2008): 335-41.
- Petrovas, C., J. P. Casazza, J. M. Brenchley, D. A. Price, E. Gostick, W. C. Adams, M. L. Precopio, *et al.*"Pd-1 Is a Regulator of Virus-Specific Cd8+ T Cell Survival in Hiv Infection." [In eng]. *J Exp Med* 203, no. 10 (Oct 2 2006): 2281-92.
- Porter, D. L., B. L. Levine, M. Kalos, A. Bagg, and C. H. June. "Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells in Chronic Lymphoid Leukemia." [In eng]. N Engl J Med 365, no. 8 (Aug 25 2011): 725-33.
- Prange, R. "Host Factors Involved in Hepatitis B Virus Maturation, Assembly, and Egress." *Med Microbiol Immunol* 201, no. 4 (Nov 2012): 449-61.
- Prlic, M., G. Hernandez-Hoyos, and M. J. Bevan. "Duration of the Initial Tcr Stimulus Controls the Magnitude but Not Functionality of the Cd8+ T Cell Response." [In eng]. J Exp Med 203, no. 9 (Sep 4 2006): 2135-43.
- Protzer, U., and H. Abken. "Can Engineered "Designer" T Cells Outsmart Chronic Hepatitis B?". *Hepat Res Treat* 2010 (2010): 901216.
- Protzer, U., M. K. Maini, and P. A. Knolle. "Living in the Liver: Hepatic Infections." [In eng]. *Nat Rev Immunol* 12, no. 3 (Mar 2012): 201-13.
- Pule, M. A., B. Savoldo, G. D. Myers, C. Rossig, H. V. Russell, G. Dotti, M. H. Huls, et al. "Virus-Specific T Cells Engineered to Coexpress Tumor-Specific Receptors: Persistence and Antitumor Activity in Individuals with Neuroblastoma." Nat Med 14, no. 11 (Nov 2008): 1264-70.

- Raziorrouh, B., W. Schraut, T. Gerlach, D. Nowack, N. H. Gruner, A. Ulsenheimer, R. Zachoval, *et al.* "The Immunoregulatory Role of Cd244 in Chronic Hepatitis B Infection and Its Inhibitory Potential on Virus-Specific Cd8+ T-Cell Function." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 52, no. 6 (Dec 2010): 1934-47.
- Recchia, A., C. Bonini, Z. Magnani, F. Urbinati, D. Sartori, S. Muraro, E. Tagliafico, *et al.* "Retroviral Vector Integration Deregulates Gene Expression but Has No Consequence on the Biology and Function of Transplanted T Cells." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, no. 5 (Jan 31 2006): 1457-62.
- Rehermann, B., and M. Nascimbeni. "Immunology of Hepatitis B Virus and Hepatitis C Virus Infection." *Nat Rev Immunol* 5, no. 3 (Mar 2005): 215-29.
- Riviere, I., C. E. Dunbar, and M. Sadelain. "Hematopoietic Stem Cell Engineering at a Crossroads." [In eng]. *Blood* 119, no. 5 (Feb 2 2012): 1107-16.
- Robbins, P. F., R. A. Morgan, S. A. Feldman, J. C. Yang, R. M. Sherry, M. E. Dudley, J. R. Wunderlich, *et al.* "Tumor Regression in Patients with Metastatic Synovial Cell Sarcoma and Melanoma Using Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes Reactive with Ny-Eso-1." [In eng]. *J Clin Oncol* 29, no. 7 (Mar 1 2011): 917-24.
- Rooney, C. M., C. A. Smith, C. Y. Ng, S. K. Loftin, J. W. Sixbey, Y. Gan, D. K. Srivastava, *et al.* "Infusion of Cytotoxic T Cells for the Prevention and Treatment of Epstein-Barr Virus-Induced Lymphoma in Allogeneic Transplant Recipients." [In eng]. *Blood* 92, no. 5 (Sep 1 1998): 1549-55.
- Rosenberg, S. A., J. C. Yang, R. M. Sherry, U. S. Kammula, M. S. Hughes, G. Q. Phan, D. E. Citrin, *et al.*"Durable Complete Responses in Heavily Pretreated Patients with Metastatic Melanoma Using T-Cell Transfer Immunotherapy." [In eng]. *Clin Cancer Res* 17, no. 13 (Jul 1 2011): 4550-7.
- Sadelain, M., R. Brentjens, and I. Riviere. "The Basic Principles of Chimeric Antigen Receptor Design." *Cancer Discov* 3, no. 4 (Apr 2013): 388-98.
- ———. "The Promise and Potential Pitfalls of Chimeric Antigen Receptors." *Curr Opin Immunol* 21, no. 2 (Apr 2009): 215-23.
- Sadler, A. J., and B. R. Williams. "Interferon-Inducible Antiviral Effectors." [In eng]. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, no. 7 (Jul 2008): 559-68.
- Sallusto, F., J. Geginat, and A. Lanzavecchia. "Central Memory and Effector Memory T Cell Subsets: Function, Generation, and Maintenance." *Annu Rev Immunol* 22 (2004): 745-63.
- Sallusto, F., D. Lenig, R. Forster, M. Lipp, and A. Lanzavecchia. "Two Subsets of Memory T Lymphocytes with Distinct Homing Potentials and Effector Functions." *Nature* 401, no. 6754 (1999): 708-12.
- Sastry, K. S., C. T. Too, K. Kaur, A. J. Gehring, L. Low, A. Javiad, T. Pollicino, *et al.* "Targeting Hepatitis B Virus-Infected Cells with a T-Cell Receptor-Like Antibody." *J Virol* 85, no. 5 (Mar 2011): 1935-42.
- Schaefer, S. "Hepatitis B Virus Taxonomy and Hepatitis B Virus Genotypes." *World J Gastroenterol* 13, no. 1 (Jan 7 2007): 14-21.
- Scholler, J., T. L. Brady, G. Binder-Scholl, W. T. Hwang, G. Plesa, K. M. Hege, A. N. Vogel, et al.
 "Decade-Long Safety and Function of Retroviral-Modified Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells." [In eng]. Sci Transl Med 4, no. 132 (May 2 2012): 132ra53.
- Schreiber, K., A. Arina, B. Engels, M. T. Spiotto, J. Sidney, A. Sette, T. G. Karrison, et al. "Spleen Cells from Young but Not Old Immunized Mice Eradicate Large Established Cancers." *Clin Cancer Res* 18, no. 9 (May 1 2012): 2526-33.
- Schulze, A., P. Gripon, and S. Urban. "Hepatitis B Virus Infection Initiates with a Large Surface Protein-Dependent Binding to Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans." *Hepatology* 46, no. 6 (Dec 2007): 1759-68.

- Schurich, A., P. Khanna, A. R. Lopes, K. J. Han, D. Peppa, L. Micco, G. Nebbia, et al. "Role of the Coinhibitory Receptor Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Antigen-4 on Apoptosis-Prone Cd8 T Cells in Persistent Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 53, no. 5 (May 2011): 1494-503.
- Sharpe, A. H., E. J. Wherry, R. Ahmed, and G. J. Freeman. "The Function of Programmed Cell Death 1 and Its Ligands in Regulating Autoimmunity and Infection." [In eng]. *Nat Immunol* 8, no. 3 (Mar 2007): 239-45.
- Shen, X., J. Zhou, K. S. Hathcock, P. Robbins, D. J. Powell, Jr., S. A. Rosenberg, and R. J. Hodes. "Persistence of Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Adoptive Immunotherapy Correlates with Telomere Length." J Immunother 30, no. 1 (2007): 123-9.
- Shimizu, Y. "T Cell Immunopathogenesis and Immunotherapeutic Strategies for Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection." *World J Gastroenterol* 18, no. 20 (May 28 2012): 2443-51.
- Shin, E. C., U. Seifert, T. Kato, C. M. Rice, S. M. Feinstone, P. M. Kloetzel, and B. Rehermann. "Virus-Induced Type I Ifn Stimulates Generation of Immunoproteasomes at the Site of Infection." [In eng]. J Clin Invest 116, no. 11 (Nov 2006): 3006-14.
- Shin, H., and E. J. Wherry. "Cd8 T Cell Dysfunction During Chronic Viral Infection." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Immunol* 19, no. 4 (Aug 2007): 408-15.
- Sprinzl, M. F., H. Oberwinkler, H. Schaller, and U. Protzer. "Transfer of Hepatitis B Virus Genome by Adenovirus Vectors into Cultured Cells and Mice: Crossing the Species Barrier." *J Virol* 75, no. 11 (Jun 2001): 5108-18.
- Stacey, A. R., P. J. Norris, L. Qin, E. A. Haygreen, E. Taylor, J. Heitman, M. Lebedeva, et al. "Induction of a Striking Systemic Cytokine Cascade Prior to Peak Viremia in Acute Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection, in Contrast to More Modest and Delayed Responses in Acute Hepatitis B and C Virus Infections." [In eng]. J Virol 83, no. 8 (Apr 2009): 3719-33.
- Stewart-Jones, G., A. Wadle, A. Hombach, E. Shenderov, G. Held, E. Fischer, S. Kleber, et al. "Rational Development of High-Affinity T-Cell Receptor-Like Antibodies." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106, no. 14 (Apr 7 2009): 5784-8.
- Stoop, J. N., M. A. Claassen, A. M. Woltman, R. S. Binda, E. J. Kuipers, H. L. Janssen, R. G. van der Molen, and A. Boonstra. "Intrahepatic Regulatory T Cells Are Phenotypically Distinct from Their Peripheral Counterparts in Chronic Hbv Patients." [In eng]. *Clin Immunol* 129, no. 3 (Dec 2008): 419-27.
- Stross, L., J. Gunther, G. Gasteiger, T. Asen, S. Graf, M. Aichler, I. Esposito, et al. "Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cells Protect the Liver from Immune Damage and Compromise Virus Control During Acute Experimental Hepatitis B Virus Infection in Mice." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 56, no. 3 (Sep 2012): 873-83.
- Swain, M. G., C. Appleyard, J. Wallace, H. Wong, and T. Le. "Endogenous Glucocorticoids Released During Acute Toxic Liver Injury Enhance Hepatic II-10 Synthesis and Release." *Am J Physiol* 276, no. 1 Pt 1 (1999): G199-205.
- Swindle, C. S., H. G. Kim, and C. A. Klug. "Mutation of Cpgs in the Murine Stem Cell Virus Retroviral Vector Long Terminal Repeat Represses Silencing in Embryonic Stem Cells." [In eng]. J Biol Chem 279, no. 1 (Jan 2 2004): 34-41.
- Takamura, S., S. Tsuji-Kawahara, H. Yagita, H. Akiba, M. Sakamoto, T. Chikaishi, M. Kato, and M. Miyazawa. "Premature Terminal Exhaustion of Friend Virus-Specific Effector Cd8+ T Cells by Rapid Induction of Multiple Inhibitory Receptors." [In eng]. J Immunol 184, no. 9 (May 1 2010): 4696-707.
- Tassev, D. V., M. Cheng, and N. K. Cheung. "Retargeting Nk92 Cells Using an Hla-A2-Restricted, Ebna3c-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor." [In eng]. *Cancer Gene Ther* 19, no. 2 (Feb 2012): 84-100.
- Thimme, R., S. Wieland, C. Steiger, J. Ghrayeb, K. A. Reimann, R. H. Purcell, and F. V. Chisari. "Cd8(+)
 T Cells Mediate Viral Clearance and Disease Pathogenesis During Acute Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. J Virol 77, no. 1 (Jan 2003): 68-76.

- Tinoco, R., V. Alcalde, Y. Yang, K. Sauer, and E. I. Zuniga. "Cell-Intrinsic Transforming Growth Factor-Beta Signaling Mediates Virus-Specific Cd8+ T Cell Deletion and Viral Persistence in Vivo." [In eng]. *Immunity* 31, no. 1 (Jul 17 2009): 145-57.
- Trinchieri, G. "Biology of Natural Killer Cells." [In eng]. Adv Immunol 47 (1989): 187-376.
- Turtle, C. J., M. Hudecek, M. C. Jensen, and S. R. Riddell. "Engineered T Cells for Anti-Cancer Therapy." *Curr Opin Immunol* 24, no. 5 (Oct 2012): 633-9.
- Urban, Stephan, Andreas Schulze, Maura Dandri, and Joerg Petersen. "The Replication Cycle of Hepatitis B Virus." *J Hepatol* 52, no. 2 (2010): 282-84.
- Urbani, S., B. Amadei, D. Tola, M. Massari, S. Schivazappa, G. Missale, and C. Ferrari. "Pd-1 Expression in Acute Hepatitis C Virus (Hcv) Infection Is Associated with Hcv-Specific Cd8 Exhaustion." [In eng]. *J Virol* 80, no. 22 (Nov 2006): 11398-403.
- Vales-Gomez, M., H. Reyburn, and J. Strominger. "Molecular Analyses of the Interactions between Human Nk Receptors and Their Hla Ligands." [In eng]. *Hum Immunol* 61, no. 1 (Jan 2000): 28-38.
- Valitutti, S., S. Muller, M. Salio, and A. Lanzavecchia. "Degradation of T Cell Receptor (Tcr)-Cd3-Zeta Complexes after Antigenic Stimulation." *J Exp Med* 185, no. 10 (1997): 1859-64.
- Vibhakar, R., G. Juan, F. Traganos, Z. Darzynkiewicz, and L. R. Finger. "Activation-Induced Expression of Human Programmed Death-1 Gene in T-Lymphocytes." [In eng]. *Exp Cell Res* 232, no. 1 (Apr 10 1997): 25-8.
- von Freyend, M. J., A. Untergasser, S. Arzberger, H. Oberwinkler, U. Drebber, P. Schirmacher, and U. Protzer. "Sequential Control of Hepatitis B Virus in a Mouse Model of Acute, Self-Resolving Hepatitis B." [In eng]. *J Viral Hepat* 18, no. 3 (Mar 2011): 216-26.
- Wang, F. S., L. H. Xing, M. X. Liu, C. L. Zhu, H. G. Liu, H. F. Wang, and Z. Y. Lei. "Dysfunction of Peripheral Blood Dendritic Cells from Patients with Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. World J Gastroenterol 7, no. 4 (Aug 2001): 537-41.
- Wang, X., W. C. Chang, C. W. Wong, D. Colcher, M. Sherman, J. R. Ostberg, S. J. Forman, S. R. Riddell, and M. C. Jensen. "A Transgene-Encoded Cell Surface Polypeptide for Selection, in Vivo Tracking, and Ablation of Engineered Cells." [In eng]. *Blood* 118, no. 5 (Aug 4 2011): 1255-63.
- Watanabe, T., E. M. Sorensen, A. Naito, M. Schott, S. Kim, and P. Ahlquist. "Involvement of Host Cellular Multivesicular Body Functions in Hepatitis B Virus Budding." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, no. 24 (Jun 12 2007): 10205-10.
- Webster, G. J., S. Reignat, M. K. Maini, S. A. Whalley, G. S. Ogg, A. King, D. Brown, et al. "Incubation Phase of Acute Hepatitis B in Man: Dynamic of Cellular Immune Mechanisms." [In eng]. *Hepatology* 32, no. 5 (Nov 2000): 1117-24.
- Weidanz, J. A., O. Hawkins, B. Verma, and W. H. Hildebrand. "Tcr-Like Biomolecules Target Peptide/Mhc Class I Complexes on the Surface of Infected and Cancerous Cells." [In eng]. Int Rev Immunol 30, no. 5-6 (Oct-Dec 2011): 328-40.
- Weng, N. P., B. L. Levine, C. H. June, and R. J. Hodes. "Regulated Expression of Telomerase Activity in Human T Lymphocyte Development and Activation." *J Exp Med* 183, no. 6 (1996): 2471-9.
- Wherry, E. J. "T Cell Exhaustion." [In eng]. Nat Immunol 12, no. 6 (Jun 2011): 492-9.
- Wherry, E. J., and R. Ahmed. "Memory Cd8 T-Cell Differentiation During Viral Infection." [In eng]. J Virol 78, no. 11 (Jun 2004): 5535-45.
- Wherry, E. J., S. J. Ha, S. M. Kaech, W. N. Haining, S. Sarkar, V. Kalia, S. Subramaniam, et al. "Molecular Signature of Cd8+ T Cell Exhaustion During Chronic Viral Infection." [In eng]. *Immunity* 27, no. 4 (Oct 2007): 670-84.
- Wieland, S. F., and F. V. Chisari. "Stealth and Cunning: Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C Viruses." [In eng]. J Virol 79, no. 15 (Aug 2005): 9369-80.
- Wieland, S., R. Thimme, R. H. Purcell, and F. V. Chisari. "Genomic Analysis of the Host Response to Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, no. 17 (Apr 27 2004): 6669-74.

- Willemsen, R. A., R. Debets, E. Hart, H. R. Hoogenboom, R. L. Bolhuis, and P. Chames. "A Phage Display Selected Fab Fragment with Mhc Class I-Restricted Specificity for Mage-A1 Allows for Retargeting of Primary Human T Lymphocytes." *Gene Ther* 8, no. 21 (2001): 1601-8.
- Willemsen, R., P. Chames, E. Schooten, J. W. Gratama, and R. Debets. "Selection of Human Antibody Fragments Directed against Tumor T-Cell Epitopes for Adoptive T-Cell Therapy." [In eng]. *Cytometry A* 73, no. 11 (Nov 2008): 1093-9.
- Williams, M. A., and M. J. Bevan. "Effector and Memory Ctl Differentiation." [In eng]. Annu Rev Immunol 25 (2007): 171-92.
- Yamano, Y., C. J. Cohen, N. Takenouchi, K. Yao, U. Tomaru, H. C. Li, Y. Reiter, and S. Jacobson.
 "Increased Expression of Human T Lymphocyte Virus Type I (Htlv-I) Tax11-19 Peptide-Human Histocompatibility Leukocyte Antigen a*201 Complexes on Cd4+ Cd25+ T Cells Detected by Peptide-Specific, Major Histocompatibility Complex-Restricted Antibodies in Patients with Htlv-I-Associated Neurologic Disease." [In eng]. J Exp Med 199, no. 10 (May 17 2004): 1367-77.
- Yan, H., G. Zhong, G. Xu, W. He, Z. Jing, Z. Gao, Y. Huang, et al. "Sodium Taurocholate Cotransporting Polypeptide Is a Functional Receptor for Human Hepatitis B and D Virus." *Elife* 1, no. 10 (2012): 13.
- Yang, P. L., A. Althage, J. Chung, and F. V. Chisari. "Hydrodynamic Injection of Viral DNA: A Mouse Model of Acute Hepatitis B Virus Infection." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, no. 21 (Oct 15 2002): 13825-30.
- Yang, P. L., A. Althage, J. Chung, H. Maier, S. Wieland, M. Isogawa, and F. V. Chisari. "Immune Effectors Required for Hepatitis B Virus Clearance." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, no. 2 (Jan 12 2010): 798-802.
- Yi, Y., S. H. Hahm, and K. H. Lee. "Retroviral Gene Therapy: Safety Issues and Possible Solutions." [In eng]. *Curr Gene Ther* 5, no. 1 (Feb 2005): 25-35.
- Yokoyama, W. M., and S. Kim. "Licensing of Natural Killer Cells by Self-Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I." [In eng]. *Immunol Rev* 214 (Dec 2006): 143-54.
- Zajac, A. J., J. N. Blattman, K. Murali-Krishna, D. J. Sourdive, M. Suresh, J. D. Altman, and R. Ahmed.
 "Viral Immune Evasion Due to Persistence of Activated T Cells without Effector Function." [In eng]. J Exp Med 188, no. 12 (Dec 21 1998): 2205-13.
- Zhao, Y., Z. Zheng, C. J. Cohen, L. Gattinoni, D. C. Palmer, N. P. Restifo, S. A. Rosenberg, and R. A. Morgan. "High-Efficiency Transfection of Primary Human and Mouse T Lymphocytes Using Rna Electroporation." *Mol Ther* 13, no. 1 (2006): 151-9.
- Zhou, F. "Molecular Mechanisms of Ifn-Gamma to up-Regulate Mhc Class I Antigen Processing and Presentation." [In eng]. *Int Rev Immunol* 28, no. 3-4 (2009): 239-60.
- Zhu, Y., T. Yamamoto, J. Cullen, J. Saputelli, C. E. Aldrich, D. S. Miller, S. Litwin, et al. "Kinetics of Hepadnavirus Loss from the Liver During Inhibition of Viral DNA Synthesis." [In eng]. J Virol 75, no. 1 (Jan 2001): 311-22.
- Zoulim, F., J. Saputelli, and C. Seeger. "Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus X Protein Is Required for Viral Infection in Vivo." [In eng]. *J Virol* 68, no. 3 (Mar 1994): 2026-30.

7 Publications and meetings

7.1 Publications

Krebs, K *., N. Böttinger *, L. R. Huang, M. Chmielewski, S. Arzberger, G. Gasteiger, C. Jager, et al. "T Cells Expressing a Chimeric Antigen Receptor That Binds Hepatitis B Virus Envelope Proteins Control Virus Replication in Mice." Gastroenterology 145, no. 2 (Aug 2013): 456-65. * shared first authorship

7.2 Meetings

2013 International Meeting on Molecular Biology of Hepatitis B Viruses October 20-23, 2013; Shanghai, China Oral presentation: "CAR-redirected T cells for treatment of chronic hepatitis B: analysis of Tcell function and fate"

2013 Workshop "Viral hepatitis: viral and host genomics at the omics era" October 17-20, 2013; Beijing, China Oral presentation: "CAR-redirected T cells for treatment of chronic hepatitis B: analysis of Tcell function and fate."

2013 Retreat of the Helmholtz Alliance of Immunotherapy July 7-9, 2013; Asselheim, Germany Poster presentation: "T cells redirected by a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing HBsAg efficiently control HBV in vivo in transgenic mice"

2012 International Meeting on Molecular Biology of Hepatitis B Viruses September 22-25, 2012; Oxford, England Oral presentation: "Cytotoxic T cells derived from an HBV+ background are fully functional when engrafted with a chimeric antigen receptor directed against HBV" Travel grant award

2012 Berlin Symposium on Adoptive T Cell Therapy May 3-4, 2012; Berlin, Germany

Poster presentation: "Cytotoxic T cells derived from an HBV+ background are fully functional when engrafted with a chimeric antigen receptor directed against HBV"

8 Acknowledgements

Hiermit möchte ich die Gelegenheit nutzen, mich bei all den Leuten zu bedanken, die mich während meiner Promotion begleitet und unterstützt haben.

Ein besonderer Dank geht an Ulla Protzer, die mir die Promotion in ihrer Arbeitsgruppe ermöglicht hat. Ich konnte an meinem Wunschprojekt arbeiten und hatte das Glück, an interessanten Veranstaltungen und Konferenzen teilnehmen zu können.

Ein weiteres Dankeschön geht an Markus Gerhard und Bettina Kempkes, die als Mitglieder meines Thesis Committees immer diskussions- und hilfsbereit waren.

Ich möchte zudem der gesamten AG Protzer für die tolle Arbeitsatmosphäre über die gesamte Zeit danken. Vom Beginn meiner Arbeit in der Virologie an habe ich mich sehr wohlgefühlt, und viele der (zum Teil ehemaligen) Kollegen und Kolleginnen sind mittlerweile zu Freunden geworden. Besonders erwähnen möchte ich hier gerne Karin Krebs, Julia Graf, Andrea Weicht, Kim Dietrich, Raindy Tedjokusumo, Theresa Asen, Mathias Broxtermann, Kerstin Ackermann, Stefanie Graf, Clemens Jäger, Knud Esser, Christina Dargel und Carolina Russo. Außerdem Andreas Heiseke, Martha Schneider, Julie Lucifora, Ke Zhang, Yuchen Xia, Xiaoming Cheng, Hanaa Gaber, Christian Bach, Katrin Singethan, Gregor Ebert und alle anderen, die ich nicht persönlich aufgeführt habe.

Der größte Dank geht an Karin Krebs, dir mir von Anfang an mit Rat und Tat geholfen hat – von Mauspräparationen bis tief in die Nacht, bis zu vielen Diskussionen und dem Korrekturlesen meiner Arbeit. Ich werde die Zusammenarbeit vermissen.

Außerdem möchte ich mich bei meinen Freunden und meiner Familie bedanken, auf die ich mich immer verlassen kann. Danke an Lena, Konny & Jürgen, meine Großeltern, Bini, Jana, Miri, Susi, Markus, André G., André M., Henning und Sonja.

Meinen Eltern, Sylvia und Manfred, widme ich diese Arbeit.

Zuletzt will ich mich auch noch bei Johan für seine uneingeschränkte Unterstützung und positive Einstellung bedanken, mit der er mich auch in schwierigen Situationen wieder aufmuntern konnte. Tack för att du stödjer!!